

UNIVERSIDAD NACIONAL AUTÓNOMA DE MÉXICO

POSGRADO EN CIENCIA E INGENIERÍA EN MATERIALES

INSTITUTO DE INVESTIGACIONES EN MATERIALES

FABRICATION AND STUDY OF ELECTROLUMINESCENT STRUCTURES BASED ON SILICON NANOCRYSTALS

TESIS QUE PARA OPTAR POR EL GRADO DE DOCTORA EN CIENCIA E INGENIERÍA EN MATERIALES

PRESENTA

ANA LUZ MUÑOZ ROSAS

TUTOR

DR. JUAN CARLOS ALONSO HUITRÓN INSTITUTO DE INVESTIGACIONES EN MATERIALES

COMITÉ TUTOR DRA. ANA MARÍA MARTÍNEZ VÁZQUEZ INSTITUTO DE INVESTIGACIONES EN MATERIALES DR. JUAN CARLOS CHEANG WONG INSTITUTO DE FÍSICA

CIUDAD DE MÉXICO, OCTUBRE DE 2016



Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México



UNAM – Dirección General de Bibliotecas Tesis Digitales Restricciones de uso

DERECHOS RESERVADOS © PROHIBIDA SU REPRODUCCIÓN TOTAL O PARCIAL

Todo el material contenido en esta tesis esta protegido por la Ley Federal del Derecho de Autor (LFDA) de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos (México).

El uso de imágenes, fragmentos de videos, y demás material que sea objeto de protección de los derechos de autor, será exclusivamente para fines educativos e informativos y deberá citar la fuente donde la obtuvo mencionando el autor o autores. Cualquier uso distinto como el lucro, reproducción, edición o modificación, será perseguido y sancionado por el respectivo titular de los Derechos de Autor. "Be less curious about people and more curious about ideas"

M. Curie-Sklodowska

To my nephew and nieces My shining stars

Acknowledgements

I feel fortunate for having studied in the National University Autonomous of Mexico; my gratitude to this institution for opening this door of opportunity.

I am also grateful of the financial funding I received through the CONACyT fellowship.

My thankfulness to my supervisor, Dr. Juan Carlos Alonso Huitrón for let me carry out all ideas that came to me during my PhD studies in his laboratory. From the successes and mistakes I learned a lot.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dra. Ana María Martínez Vázquez, and especially to Dr. Juan Carlos Cheang Wong for his observations and opinions about this thesis.

My gratitude to Dr. Arturo Rodríguez Gómez for his continuous support, collaboration and discussion throughout the course of this work. Likewise, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Manuel Corona Galindo for his guidance and encouragement through all my post-graduate studies.

I would like to express my acknowledgement to all people whose help has been essential for the developing of this work:

- M. A. Canseco Martínez, for his assistance in FTIR measurements.
- C. Flores Morales for the AFM measurements.
- L. Huerta Arcos for the XPS measurements.
- O. Novelo Peralta and J. E. Romero for the SEM images.
- J. A. Martínez and R. Hernández for the HRTEM images.

Additionally, I would want to thank and acknowledge my thesis examination committee, Dra. Alicia María Oliver y Gutiérrez, Dr. Augusto García Valenzuela, Dr. Arturo Rodríguez Gómez, and Dr. Mathieu Christian Anne Hautefeuille. All their observations and opinions have improved significantly this work.

My thanks to all the friends and coworkers whom I had the pleasure to meet and work with them during my researching work. From each one I have learned something.

Last but not least, my love and gratitude to all my family for their continual support and encouragement over the years.

Abstract

Since the discovering of light emission from nanostructured silicon, attributed to a quantum confinement effect, great efforts have been carried out to integrate the silicon as a light source compatible with complementary-metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) technology. Even though many types of electroluminescent devices based on silicon technology have been developed, its efficiency is still low. In this work, the experimental results of improved efficiency of silicon quantum dots (SiQDs)-based-light emitting devices are presented.

In order to fabricate these devices, the chemical and optical properties of the SiQDs active film under different thermal treatments were studied. Metal-insulating-metal (MIM) devices were fabricated using four different thicknesses of the active film to investigate the electroluminescence behavior through this configuration. From these devices, the sample with better optical and electrical properties was chosen to further investigation.

Moreover, the optical and morphological properties of gold nanoparticles were studied in order to properly achieve its coupling with the emission from SiQDs. A two-fold photoluminescence intensity enhancement was observed when the interdistance between the SiQDs film and gold nanoparticles (2.9 nm diameter) was 10±2 nm. This separation distance was achieved through a non-radiative silicon nitride layer. It was demonstrated that the metal-insulating-semiconductor (MIS) devices fabricated using these layered structures with noble metal nanostructures, exhibit also higher electroluminescence efficiency with regard to those reference devices without gold metal.

Contents

| INTRODUCTION | 1 |
|--|------|
| Thesis objectives | 4 |
| Outline of this thesis | 5 |
| | |
| CHAPTER I. BACKGROUND | 6 |
| 1.1 Silicon Photonics | 6 |
| 1.2 Silicon for photonics applications | 7 |
| 1.3 Photoluminescence from silicon quantum dots | |
| 1.2 Light emitting devices based in silicon | 10 |
| | |
| CHAPTER II. EXPERIMENTAL METHODOLOGY | 12 |
| 2.1 Deposition techniques | 12 |
| 2.1.1 Remote Plasma Chemical Vapor Deposition (RPECVD) system | 12 |
| 2.1.2 DC Sputtering | 14 |
| 2.1.3 Ultrasonic Spray Pyrolytic deposition | 15 |
| 2.2 Characterization techniques | |
| 2.2.1 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) | |
| 2.2.2 Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy (Uv-vis) | 19 |
| 2.2.3 Null ellipsometry | 19 |
| 2.2.4 X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS) | |
| 2.2.5 Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) | 22 |
| 2.2.6 High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HRTEM) | |
| 2.2.7 Scanning electron microscopy | |
| 2.2.8 Photoluminescence measurements | |
| 2.2.9 Electroluminescence measurements | |
| | |
| CHAPTER III. PHOTOLUMINESCENCE OF THE SILICON OUANTUM DOTS AC | TIVE |
| FILM | |
| 3.1 Quantum confined model | 29 |
| 3.2 Surface passivation | 31 |
| 3.3 Defect related luminescence | 33 |
| 3.4 SiODs embedded in a chlorinated silicon nitride matrix (SiNx:Cl) | 35 |
| 3.5 Deposition of SiODs thin films and thermal treatments | 35 |
| 3.5.1 Fabrication process steps | |
| 3.5.2 Chemical and optical characterization | |
| 3.6 Conclusions | 41 |
| | . – |
| CHAPTER IV. LIGHT EMISSION OF SILICON OUANTUM DOTS DEVICES | |
| 4.1 Current transport processes in metal-semiconductor contacts | |
| F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F | |

| 4.2 Basic conduction process in insulators | |
|---|------------------|
| 4.3 SiQDs-based electroluminescent devices on glass | |
| 4.3.1 Fabrication process steps | |
| 4.4 Thickness effect of the active film on the EL properties | |
| 4.4.1 Optical and electrical characterization | |
| 4.5 Conclusions | 62 |
| CHAPTER V. PHOTOLUMINESCENCE ENHANCEMENT | 63 |
| 5.1 Luminescent films in the vicinity of nanostructured noble metals | |
| 5.2 Gold nanostructures fabricated by sputtering | 64 |
| 5.2.1 Morphological and optical characterization | 64 |
| 5.3 Coupling of SiQDs and Au nanostructures fields | |
| 5.3.1 Fabrication process steps | |
| 5.3.2 Optical characterization | |
| 5.4 Conclusions | 75 |
| | |
| CHAPTER VI. METAL-INSULATOR-SEMICONDUCTOR DEVICES | |
| 6.1 Metal-insulator-semiconductor capacitors | |
| 6.2 First stage of fabrication of metal-insulator-semiconductor devices based | d on SiQDs 77 |
| 6.2.1 Fabrication process steps | |
| 6.2.2 Optical and electrical characterization | |
| 6.3 Second stage of fabrication of metal-insulating-semiconductor devices ba | ased on SiQDs 90 |
| 6.3.1 Optical and electrical characterization | |
| 6.4 Conclusions | |
| Bibliography | |
| Appendix A | |
| | 100 |

INTRODUCTION

Currently, it is technologically feasible to produce metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistors (MOSFETs) with gate lengths smaller than 50 nm (figure 1) and silicon dioxide thickness less than 1.3 nm [1]. The foregoing, due to some intrinsic qualities of thermal silicon dioxide like thickness control, uniformity, stable interface with silicon substrate and low density of defects at the interface, which has allowed the scale integration of devices and therefore better performance.

However, at very low scale the roughness plays a critical role on the increase of leakage current through the insulator and moreover when the thickness decreases to an atomic level the local electronic structure of bulk silicon dioxide is not reproduced [1]. Additionally, as the number of transistors in an integrated circuit increases, more interconnecting wires must be included in the chip to link those transistors together. When information is sent along these wires high power consumption appears in the circuit as well as problems related with speed-limiting circuit delay. Further scaling will increase parasitic capacitance effects in the wires controlling the performance of the integrated circuit (bottleneck of interconnect technology). In order to overcome these disadvantages temporarily, high conductive materials like copper and dielectrics of low k like infill materials have been employed.



Figure (1) International technology roadmap for semiconductors (ITRS) projections for gate lengths (nm) vs. expected manufacturing year for 2005, 2008, 2011 and 2013 editions [2].

Despite the fact the technological limit, the demand of functionality for on-chip circuits continues and have pushed the industry to recognize that electronics technology will progressively require integration with photonics to keep up scaling, either through monolithic or heterogeneous integration [3]. Moreover, the need of high speed data transmission (nowadays over a bit-rate of 10 Gb/s) makes photonic interconnects more suitable to implement than electrical interconnects in which losses are important. Therefore, high efficiency and low dimensionality of chips could be achieved if optical interconnects and electronic circuits perform like a system.

The essential photonics components of figure (2) convert an initially optical signal to an electrical signal to get data transmission on a common silicon platform. A high quantum efficiency laser implemented on-chip or off-chip can provide the optical power to an optical circuit [3].



Figure (2) Basic building blocks required to convert an optical signal to an electrical signal on a common silicon platform [3].

Some of the advantages to accomplish a scheme like the latter include elimination of delay, cross talk, and power dissipation in signal propagation, even though important new challenges will be introduced. The chip-scale integration of the very best photonic technologies available today, e.g., laser sources, interferometric modulators, dense wavelength division multiplexing (WDM), and low loss planar waveguides will be demanded by optical interconnects. These all will be necessary components of an optical interconnect system that can offer an acceptable per-wire information bandwidth-per-watt figure of merit [4].

Different approaches of integration based in silicon photonics have been developed successfully during years to obtain waveguides, modulators and detectors. However, until now an all-silicon source (light emission diode (LED) or laser) has still not been demonstrated because of its indirect band gap and consequently very long radiative lifetimes (ms range), which means that most of the excited carriers recombine non-radiatively [5].

Nowadays, the complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) devices in electronic circuits are fabricated basically of silicon. Likewise, the only viable technology for an on chip silicon-based light injection laser is a hybrid technology using III-V semiconductors. Despite this fact, researchers have tried to exploit different strategies to turn silicon into a light emission material like band structure engineering or quantum confinement effect in low dimensional silicon [5].

The discovery of bright visible light emission at room temperature in porous silicon (PS) which had been etched under carefully controlled conditions by Canham [6] in 1990, motivated investigation on quantum confinement of carriers in other silicon-based nanostructures including nanoclusters, quantum wells, wires, and dots. Furthermore, the possibility of electroluminescence (EL) was also explored to obtain silicon-based optoelectronic devices. To achieve efficient and stable emission from electrically excited silicon-based components is an important issue since this would lead to the integration of light sources such as light emission devices (LED) or lasers. However, until now electroluminescent structures fabricated with porous silicon exhibit some problems in stability and operation voltage [7].

An alternative to using porous silicon has been the fabrication of silicon-based light emitting devices (LEDs) built with silicon quantum dots (SiQDs) or silicon nanocrystals (Si-nc) embedded in a silica matrix. These films take advantage of the quality and stability of the SiX_x/Si interface and the improved emission properties of quantum confined silicon. Additionally, compatible techniques with CMOS technology are commonly used to form SiQDs like Plasma Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition (PECVD) [8-10], Low Pressure Chemical Vapor Deposition (LPCVD) [11] and silicon ion implantation into silicon-based dielectrics [12, 13]. These techniques are based on the deposition of sub-stoichiometric silica films, with a significant excess of silicon, sometimes followed by a high temperature annealing.

Moreover, in the past few years great effort has been directed towards the system silicon rich silicon nitride (SRN) to obtain silicon quantum dots due to its luminescence properties, as well as the better control of carrier injection for light emitting devices. Silicon nitride based structures offer, over oxide based active materials, a considerable reduction in the electron hole injection barriers at the silicon/silicon nitride interfaces, resulting in the fabrication of low-voltage electroluminescent devices with improved electrical stability.

However, external quantum efficiency reported in this type of light emission devices is still not enough to be competitive with the modern requirements of microelectronics. With the aim of improving efficiency of SiNx-based LEDs some methods have been developed as multilayers [14, 15], high doped thin films or metal nanostructures [16-18]. With respect to the last method, increasing the radiative recombination rate by coupling excitons to localized surface plasmons has been recently investigated, even though the role of this effect is unclear in photoluminescence and electroluminescence enhancement.

Thesis objectives

The aim of this thesis was the fabrication and study of efficient electroluminescent devices based on silicon quantum dots embedded in chlorinated silicon nitride thin films deposited by RPECVD (Remote Plasma Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition) system.

To obtain the chemical, physical and electrical properties of the luminescent structures the following specific goals were carried out:

- The chemical and optical characterization of the active film of SiQDs undergoing different thermal treatments in order to know how different temperatures in subsequent process stages could change properties of the layer.
- Fabrication of the simple electroluminescent MIM (metal-insulating-metal) devices: ZnO:Al/SiQDs/Al on glass, and investigation of their luminescent and electrical properties as a function of the thickness of the active film, in order to get the optimal thickness for further investigation.
- Additionally, the photoluminescence enhancement of these films was studied by means of gold nanostructures in their vicinity. In order to vary the interdistance between gold nanostructures and SiQDs, multilayered structures of chemically different silicon nitride were deposited.
- Furthermore, metal-insulator-semiconductor (MIS) light emission devices were fabricated using the more efficient configurations obtained in the previous points in order to investigate the optical and electrical response of these structures when they are electrically excited.

Outline of this thesis

The chapters in this thesis are organized as follows:

Chapter 1 and 2 are the background about silicon photonics and the experimental methodology employed in this work, respectively.

In chapter 3, a short introduction of some luminescence models developed to explain the emission in SiQDs films are presented. Additionally, in this chapter the chemical and optical properties of the silicon quantum dots films deposited in this work under different thermal treatments are studied.

Chapter 4 describes briefly the conduction mechanisms in insulators. Likewise, in this section of the thesis the fabrication and characterization of metal-insulator-metal (MIM) devices is carried out. In these devices the thickness of the insulating film (the active SiQDs film) was varied.

Chapter 5 presents the optical and morphological characterization of gold monolayers of different thicknesses deposited by sputtering. The coupling of the emission from SiQDs in the vicinity of the noble metal nanostructures was studied systematically through photoluminescence measurements.

Finally, in chapter 6 the more efficient structures obtained in chapter 5 were chosen to fabricate metal-insulating-semiconductor (MIS) electroluminescent devices in order to investigate, at least indirectly, the efficiency in these light emission devices in the vicinity of metal nanostructures.

CHAPTER I. BACKGROUND

1.1 Silicon Photonics

Photonics is the science associated with generation, processing, transmission and detection of light. Some of the principal photonic devices are lasers, waveguides, modulators, detectors, and optical fibers. In the last decade, optical communication technologies have required to develop low cost and efficient optical solutions to the continuous necessity of connection. At present, optical devices are large, bulky and mostly not fabricated from silicon. Most optical components are made from III–V-based compounds such as indium phosphide (InP), gallium arsenide (GaAs) or the electrooptic crystal lithium niobate (LiNbO3) [19]. These optical devices are often assembled from discrete components and typically with very little automation. The net result of all this is that these optical devices are relatively expensive. The future of optical networking rests on the ability to bring optical technology may be some day directly to the microprocessor.

The convergence of Si-based electronics with photonics has largely required the development of hybrid technologies for devices like light emitters and modulators which are often both expensive and complicated to produce. Even though, integrated photonic circuits where active III-V lasers and diodes are combined with passive silicon based optical components are commercially available, the principal focus in on combining III–V semiconductor laser diodes with Si integrated circuits for optical fiber communications or optical interconnects. However, this is not an easy task. For GaAs and Si the lattice mismatch of 4% between them, the different thermal expansion coefficients and the fact that Si is a fast diffusing impurity for III–V semiconductors generate severe difficulties in maintaining the required low defect density in GaAs for laser production. Moreover, dislocations produced by relaxation of the GaAs epitaxial layer are detrimental to device performance and life [20].

To overcome these disadvantages, the extensive experience in Si fabrication and processing could be put to best use to obtain optoelectronic and photonic devices created entirely from Si-based materials. The major failing in Si-based optoelectronic devices remains the need of suitable light emitters and lasers. Research in this field is rapidly progressing and to improve the low light emission in bulk Si (~ 10^{-6} quantum efficiency at 300K in standard electronic grade silicon, where the quantum efficiency is defined as the ratio of the number of photons generated over the number of excited electron–hole pairs), various approaches have been proposed and actively explored. Some of these are Si_{1-x}Ge_x quantum wells or Si/Ge superlattice structures, which depend on band structure engineering, while others rely on quantum confinement effects in low dimensional structures, as typified by silicon quantum dots or porous silicon (PS).

1.2 Silicon for photonics applications

The energy band structure in semiconductors is derived from the relationship between the energy and momentum of a charge carrier. The band structure is often quite complex because it depends not only on the crystal structure but also on the bonding between atoms, the respective bond lengths, and the chemical species. For example silicon has the space lattice of diamond which is face-centered cubic with tetrahedral bonding. The diamond structure is an example of the directional covalent bonding found in column IV of the periodic table. For silicon the lattice constant is a=5.43 Å [21]. In zinc-blende semiconductors such as GaAs, the Ga and As atoms lie on separate sublattices, and thus the inversion symmetry of Si is lost in polar III–V binary compounds. The difference in the crystal structures underlies the disparate electronic and optical properties of Si and GaAs .

The dispersion relations for the energy E(k) of an electron (positive energy) or hole (negative energy) for wave vectors k within the first Brillouin zone of Si and GaAs are shown in figure (3).



Figure (3). Band structures of Si and GaAs.

The notable difference between Si and GaAs is that the degeneracy in the Γ_{25} band maximum at k=0 is removed in the case of GaAs, because of the spin-orbit interaction, into Γ_7 and Γ_8 sub-bands. In the case of Si, the lowest point in the conduction band occurs away from high symmetry points near the X point at the Brillouin zone boundary (along $\langle 001 \rangle$), whereas in GaAs it occurs at the Γ point. The energy gap in a semiconductor is defined as the separation between this absolute conduction band minimum and the valence band maximum at the Γ point. For GaAs, the energy gap is classified as direct, because the maximum and minimum occur at the same k and an electronic transition can occur directly at k = 0 between initial and final states having the same wave vector.

Correspondingly, Si is termed an indirect gap semiconductor, because the initial and final states have different wave vectors [20].

Energy and momentum is conserved in optical transitions. Since silicon is an indirect semiconductor the electron-hole radiative recombination process can only occur in Si with the assistance of a further process to conserve the momentum. In pure silicon this occurs via the transfer of the electron momentum to a phonon that is created with equal and opposite wave vector to that of the initial state in the conduction band. Such a three-body process is quite inefficient compared with direct gap recombination. Thus, the probability of spontaneous emission is very low for Si and high for GaAs. The spontaneous emission or radiative lifetime in silicon is very long (millisecond range) while in direct gap III–V semiconductors it is short (nanosecond range).

The indirect band-gap of Si is 1.12 eV at room temperature (Fig. 3). The weak band-to-band emission at this energy in the near infrared was observed using visible light excitation or by forward-biasing Si diodes. Electron-hole pairs created either optically or electrically in Si may bind to each other to form excitons, which can be either free or tied to impurities or defects. Exciton recombination dominates the optical emission process at low temperatures and is characterized by very narrow emission lines. At high temperatures, however, excitons are thermally dissociated and emission is due to direct band-to-band recombination. Excitonic emission is under active investigation in quantum well, wire, and dot structures corresponding to carrier confinement in one, two and three dimensions, respectively.

1.3 Photoluminescence from silicon quantum dots

Investigation for light generation and amplification in silicon has found that the optical and electronic properties of silicon can be tuned by controlling its bandgap. This can be achieved with the reduction of silicon in the nanoregime to less than its Bohr's exciton radius (4.3 nm). Therefore, the properties of silicon at nanoscale behave totally different than bulk. This form of silicon is known as nanocrystals (Si-nc) or quantum dots (SiQDs). Moreover, the electronic properties also depend on the chemical environment near to SiQDs. Hence, SiQDs and its adjacent chemical environment play an important role in the performance of the modern photoelectronic devices [22]. When silicon is confined in a dielectric material having bandgap higher than Si (e.g. SiO₂, silicon nitride (Si₃N₄), and silicon carbide (SiC)), the electrons wavefunctions overlap and shift the energy level on higher side. Some of the parameters of SiQDs/dielectric matrices such as QD size, barrier height, QD spacing, etc. have an important role in determining its optical and electrical properties. High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HRTEM) image of SiQDs embedded in a dielectric matrix is shown in figure (4).



Figure (4) (a) HRTEM micrograph of silicon nanocrystals embedded in a dielectric matrix [23]. (b) Schematic set of SiQDs embedded in a dielectric with dot size d, inter-dot separation s, and energy barrier heigh h [22].

Thus, through the manipulation of the system dimension and shape at the nanometer scale it is possible to obtain some desirable properties. Investigation of phenomena such as the Stokes shift (difference between absorption and emission energies), the PL emission energy versus nanocrystals size, the doping properties, the radiative lifetimes, the nonlinear optical properties, the quantum-confined Stark effect (QCSE), and more can give a fundamental contribution to the understanding of how the optical response of such systems can be tuned.

Silicon nanocrystals have been produced through several techniques including annealing of Si-rich oxide, electrochemical etching, laser-assisted processing, solution synthesis, ion implantation, plasma chemical vapor deposition, sputtering and annealing of Si/dielectric superlattices. The annealing induces a precipitation transformation where the metastable Si-rich dielectric film decomposes into two phases: Si clusters and a matrix, which is closer in composition to the equilibrium (stoichiometric) composition. Once nucleation occurs with the formation of critically sized nuclei, cluster growth is governed by processes of coalescence or ripening, which minimizes the overall surface energy of the system by promoting the growth of large clusters at the expense of smaller clusters. Taking into account these principles of nucleation and growth, the parameters of Si content, annealing temperature, and annealing time can be used to fabricate nanocrystal ensembles with the desired size and density [24].

Moreover, single doping has been investigated both in spherical and in faceted-like Si-nc with the incorporation of group III (B and Al), group IV (C and Ge), and group V (N and P) impurities. Si-nc of spherical form are built with all the Si atoms contained within a sphere of a defined radius and terminating the surface dangling bonds with H, meanwhile the faceted Si-nc are built from a shell-by-shell construction process that starts from a central atom and adds shells of atoms continually. The substitutional impurity site is the one of the Si atom at the center of the silicon nanocrystal. Distortions occur in the neighborhood of the impurity sites and the bond lengths show dependence with respect to the size and shape of the silicon nanocrystals [25]. Additionally, another option to

overcome the physical limitation of silicon for optical applications has been embed rare-earth elements within silicon nanostructures to exploit quantum confined effect to change the electronic structure of semiconductor hosts in such a way as to enhance the radiative efficiency of the rare-earth dopant [24].

1.2 Light emitting devices based in silicon

Oleg Vladimirovich Losev discovered light emission from rectifier diodes made of zinc oxide and silicon carbide crystal around mid-1920s. Losev determined in his first paper on the light emission devices (LED), the current threshold for the start of light emission from the point contact between a metal wire and a silicon carbide crystal and he was able to record the spectrum of this light. The researcher realized the 'cold' (non-thermal) nature of the emission, measured its current threshold and understood that LED emission was related to diode action [26].

The electroluminescence (EL) is defined as the emission in excess of blackbody radiation excited by an electric field, and this effect can arise from a variety of systems under different conditions. Some examples are gas discharges and emission due to impact ionization in thin films. The most efficient kind of electroluminescence is that caused by carrier injection in semiconductors. Recently there has been a great commitment to obtain technologically viable and efficient light emission from silicon both in the visible and infrared regions of the spectrum. A wide range of combination of Si-based materials and fabrication methods have been used and demonstrated so far for electroluminescence [5].

In the visible region porous silicon (PS) has attracted much interest due to the property that it luminesces efficiently even at room temperature. PS has been applied in a wide variety of applications, such as insulating layer in the silicon-on-insulator (SOI), a sensing layer in chemical sensors, a sacrificial layer in micromachining, in optoelectronic, photovoltaic device and biomedical applications among others [27]. While in porous silicon liquid-contact devices exhibit EL with high external quantum efficiencies comparable to that of PL, the EL efficiency of industrially important solid-state-contact devices was quite low at the early stage. The efficiency has been improved up to about 0.01%-0.2% by using PS layers made by anodizing *pn* junctions [7]. However, there remain some problems related to the performance of the devices made of porous silicon as well as the need of wet processing, not compatible with CMOS technology.

With regard to optical gain materials based on silicon, Er-doping has been the expected choice, tracing the technical success of Er-doping into silica fiber. It was found in 1997, that the Er^{3+} emission is strongly enhanced by using crystalline Si-nc as sensitizers in silica when co-doped with Er. Er-doped Si-nc have been widely considered as one of the most promising Si based gain materials, independently of its aggregation phase. LEDs of SiO₂ doped with Er have been demonstrated to show 0.2% power efficiency [5]. In this system silicon nanoparticles are able to transfer its excitonic energy to Er ions, and LEDs emitting under this principle have been proved. Despite of promising results, insufficient results about the signal enhancement and little progress on the device development using Er doped Si-nc has been made until now. Some reasons for this fact

include strong carrier absorption, no increase of emission cross-section, and the low fraction of Er^{3+} ions coupled to Si-nc.

One of the main advantages of using Si-nc into silicon dioxide or silicon nitride as nonlinear optical material relies on their full process compatibility with ruling CMOS technology, which has allowed the attainment of practical, low cost, compact and low switching power all-silicon devices. It has also been reported that the self-organization of the nc-Si (nanocrystalline silicon) in the layer-grown direction could be promoted in nc-Si superlattice structures, through which resonant tunneling occurs and facilitates the carrier transport perpendicular to the layers [28, 29]. Improved carrier injection in superlattices is achieved by reducing the barrier thickness to a value where direct tunneling occurs. This fact decreases driving voltage making more reliable devices. Enhanced PL and EL by easy charge tunneling into the silicon nanocrystals, suggested higher power efficiency in multilayer LED.

Moreover, some groups have studied light emission enhancement of silicon quantum dots coupled to metal nanostructures of silver (Ag) and gold (Au) by means of light extraction efficiency or increased spontaneous emission.

F. Wang et al. [18] reported the enhanced local electric field from silver nanoparticles with different sizes on EL when the metal was deposited onto SiNx luminescence layers. They achieved to tailor the EL wavelength of SiNx-based LEDs by the tuning of dipolar resonance peaks of Ag nanoparticles. The EL modulation independent of the voltage was achieved by the adjustment of the sizes of Ag nanoparticles from 40 to 240 nm and the EL intensity variation by injected currents. They found that the increase of the dimension of Ag nanoparticles red-shifted the EL peaks. Likewise, in the same group D. Li et al [17] studied electroluminescence efficiency enhancement from silicon nitride-based light emitting devices (SiNx-based LEDs) by introducing a nanostructural silver layer underneath the matrix. They showed the improvement of the EL efficiency and the efficiency droop phenomenon in their devices by using elongated Ag nanostructures with the diameter of the longer axis ~400 nm and that of the shorter axis ~240 nm formed after a rapid thermal treatment. They attributed the higher current injection obtained to the enhanced local electromagnetic fields at the interface between the SiNx matrix and the substrate.

Also, luminescent emission has been reported in III-V quantum well light emitting diodes in [30] and [31] through the incorporation of metal nanoparticles (~15 nm) or nanostructures in the vicinity of the light emitter film, respectively. These works found increased spontaneous emission rate and an improvement of the internal quantum efficiency in the coupled samples with metal nanostructures.

All previous groups who have worked with the addition of noble metal structures in light emitting devices have attributed the significantly enhanced radiative recombination rates via the Purcell effect which takes place when energy of excitons from the active layer is close to the electron vibration energy of surface plasmons (SP).

CHAPTER II. Experimental methodology

In this chapter the main deposition techniques used for fabrication of the luminescent and nonluminescent thin films employed in this thesis will be reviewed. Additionally, the chemical, optical, and electrical characterization techniques utilized for analysis of the samples are also described.

2.1 Deposition techniques

2.1.1 Remote Plasma Chemical Vapor Deposition (RPECVD) system

Chemical vapor deposition (CVD) is a technique for synthesizing materials in which chemical precursors in vapor phase are thermally decomposed and react to form a solid film at some surface. The occurrence of a chemical reaction is central to this means of thin film growth, as is the requirement that the reactants must start out in the vapor phase. Ability to control the components of the gas phase, and the physical conditions of the gas phase, the solid surface, and the envelope that surrounds them determines our capability to control the properties of the thin films that are produced. The sequential process of deposition starts from the initial vapor phase and progresses through the next series of quasi steady-state sub-processes (figure (5)):

- a. Diffusion of gaseous reactants to the surface.
- b. Adsorption of the reacting species on to surface sites, often after some migration on the surface.
- c. Surface chemical reaction between the reactants, usually catalyzed by the surface.
- d. Desorption of the reaction by-products.
- e. Diffusion of the by-products away from the surface.
- f. Incorporation of the condensed solid product into the microstructure of the growing film.



Figure (5) Schematic of events that occur around the substrate surface. Summation of these events leads to deposition on the wafer [32].

Interactions involving charged particles produced in a plasma have been effectively utilized in various CVD processes to reduce reaction temperature, which is needed for lowering the

temperature in microelectronics processes. The lowering of the activation energy through the formation of excited species X* allows the forward reaction to proceed at lower substrate temperatures or at increased rates for the same temperature when compared with thermal CVD.

Thus, instead of depend on thermal energy to begin and sustain chemical reactions, plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) uses an rf-induced glow discharge to transfer energy into the reactant gases. The latter allows the substrate to remain at a lower temperature than in low pressure chemical vapor deposition process (LPCVD). An rf electric field applied to a low pressure gas generate the plasma, thereby accelerating free electrons from ionized atoms within the discharge region. After this process the electrons gain sufficient energy from the electric field so they collide with gas molecule, and then a gas-phase dissociation and ionization of the reactant gases (e.g. silane and nitrogen or oxygen-containing species) can occur. The energetic species (predominantly radicals) are adsorbed on the film surface. The radicals usually have high sticking coefficients, and also appear to migrate easily along the surface after adsorption. Upon being adsorbed on the substrate, they are subjected to ion and electron bombardment, rearrangements, reactions with other adsorbed species, new bond formations and film formation and growth. Adatom rearrangement includes the diffusion of the adsorbed atoms onto stable sites and concurrent desorption of reaction products. Desorption rates are dependent on substrate temperature, and higher temperatures produce films with fewer entrapped by-products [33].

A schematic of the deposition system used in this thesis is shown in figure (6). The entrance chamber for inward of samples and the main chamber of deposition were home designed and manufactured by the company MV-Systems Inc. The main vacuum-deposition chamber (26 500 cm³ total volume) contained a boron–nitride hot plate, coupled to a proportional and integral differential temperature controller which was able to rise substrate temperatures from ambient up to 700 °C. The top part of the chamber consists of a quartz tube 4 in. in diameter and 20 cm in height. This quartz tube was surrounded by a water-cooled copper coil that at the same time was responsible for the power transfer from the radio frequency (rf) source (13.56 MHz) to the plasma. An initial pressure of 10^{-6} Torr in the main chamber was settled by means of a turbomolecular-mechanical vacuum-pump system [34].

For depositing silicon nanocrystals embedded in a chlorinated silicon–nitride matrix the gases used in this work were SiH_2Cl_2 , NH_3 , Ar and H_2 . NH_3 and Ar gases were fed into the plasma zone of the chamber from the top end of the quartz tube. Meanwhile, the SiH_2Cl_2 and H_2 gases were introduced under the plasma by means of dispersal rings laid a few centimeters over the substrate holder. The flow rate of gases was controlled automatically by means of MKS electronic mass-flow meters.



Figure (6) Schematic diagram of the RPECVD system used in this work. The NH_3 and Ar gases were supplied from the top inlet line. The SiH_2Cl_2 and H_2 gases were fed downstream through one dispersal ring [34].

2.1.2 DC Sputtering

Sputtering is the mechanism in which atoms are dislodged from the surface of a material by collision with high energy particles. As can be seen in figure (7) a target of the material to be deposited is located inside a vacuum chamber where it is connected to the negative terminal of a DC power supply. Facing the cathode/target is the substrate, which may be electrically floating, grounded or biased. An inert working gas, typically Ar, is introduced and serves as the medium in which an electrical glow discharge is initiated and sustained. Imposed by the electric field, ions of the working gas, Ar+, accelerate at high energy towards the target material, causing sputtering of target atoms upon impact with the cathode. The sputtered atoms transit through the discharge and condense onto the substrate, thus providing film growth. When the DC voltage is first applied to the electrodes, a small number of charge carriers initially present in the working gas create a small current. Due to inelastic collisions in the gas more electron-ion pairs are created, and the current density increases. The Ar+ ions bombard the cathode surface, resulting in the generation of secondary electrons from the cathode surface (and sputtering of target atoms). The secondary electrons are accelerated away from the cathode and increase the ionization of the gas via inelastic collisions. This charge multiplication causes the current to increase rapidly. When the applied voltage is so high that the number of Ar+ ions produced by collisions with one secondary electron are sufficiently high to regenerate another secondary electron, the discharge becomes self-sustaining and starts to glow. The light emitted from the discharge is due to excitation of gas atoms. The degree of ionization in a typical self-sustaining DC glow discharge or plasma is $\sim 10^{-4}$ [35].

The secondary-electron emission coefficient, i.e. the number of secondary electrons emitted at the cathode per incident ion, is about 0.1 for most metals when bombarded with ~ 100 eV Ar+. Thus, in order to sustain the plasma the probability of collisions between electrons and neutral gas atoms has to be sufficiently high. If the gas pressure is too low, the collision probability is small due to a large



Figure (7) (a) Plot of a simple DC sputtering, (b) Schematic voltage distribution across a DC glow discharge [35].

electron mean free path, which causes loss of electrons to the chamber walls, and the number of ionized gas atoms to be inadequate. On the other hand, at too high pressures frequent collisions prevent the electrons from acquiring sufficient energy to ionize gas atoms, which will eventually quench the discharge. This means that at either extreme the ion-generation rates are low and very high voltages are required to sustain the plasma. An optimum pressure range, typically around 1-10 Pa, exists for simple DC sputtering systems, where a self-sustained glow discharge can be created at reasonable voltages, usually 200–1000 V [35].

In this work, very thin films of Au were deposited using a magnetron sputtering Cressington 108 Sputter Coater with Au target (99.9999% purity) in 0.8 mbar argon atmosphere. Quartz, glass and crystalline silicon were used as substrates.

2.1.3 Ultrasonic Spray Pyrolytic deposition

Spray pyrolysis has been applied to deposit a wide variety of thin films. These films were used in various devices such as solar cells, sensors, electrochromic devices and solid oxide fuel cells. Parameters that affect the quality of the deposited film include solution flow rate, substrate temperature, precursor solution and the size of droplets. The substrate surface temperature is the most critical parameter as it influences film roughness, cracking, crystallinity, etc. Typical spray pyrolysis equipment consists of an atomizer, precursor solution, substrate heater, and temperature controller. A variety of inexpensive metal salts can be used as precursors. Large scale production is possible due to simple equipment and mild operating conditions.

Two major disadvantages of conventional spray pyrolysis are related to particle morphology and phase homogeneity. However, this has largely been remedied by the introduction of ultrasonic nebulizers which produce a fine, homogeneous mist. Ultrasonic spray pyrolysis has the advantages of low cost, simple and continuous operation, high purity, uniform particle size distribution, controllable size from micrometer to submicrometer and excellent control of chemical uniformity and stoichiometry in a mixed oxide system. Many processes occur either sequentially or simultaneously during film formation by spray pyrolysis. These processes include precursor solution atomization, droplet transport and evaporation, spreading on the substrate, drying and decomposition of the precursor salt. Understanding these processes will help to improve film quality. Thin film deposition using spray pyrolysis can be divided into three main steps: atomization of the precursor solution, transportation of the resultant aerosol and decomposition of the precursor on the substrate. Four types of processes that may occur during deposition are shown in figure (8). During process 1, the droplet splashes on the substrate, vaporizes, and leaves a dry precipitate in which decomposition occurs. In process 2, the solvent evaporates before the droplet reaches the surface and the precipitate impinges upon the surface where decomposition occurs. In process 3, the solvent vaporizes as the droplet approaches the substrate, then the solid melts and vaporizes (or sublimes) and the vapor diffuses to the substrate to undergo a heterogeneous reaction there. This is true CVD. In process 4, at the highest temperatures, the metallic compound vaporizes before it reaches the substrate and the chemical reaction takes place in the vapor phase [36].



Figure (8) Schematic depicting different deposition processes that occur as the nozzle-to-substrate distance and deposition temperature change [37].

The type of spray technique used in this study was ultrasonic spray pyrolysis. In this method, the precursor solution was nebulized for depositing transparent conductive contacts (TCC) layers of ZnO:Al. The precursors utilized for depositing these TCC layers were zinc acetate and aluminum acetylacetonate. The TCC films were deposited on silicon and glass substrates at 450°C for ~20 minutes. Thickness of 1±0.2 μ m of ZnO:Al gave rise a sheet resistance of 70-150 Ω/\Box and transmittance of 70-80% from 450nm to 1100nm. A schematic of the deposition method is depicted in figure (9).



Figure (9) Schematic diagram of the ultrasonic method used to deposit TCC films.

2.2 Characterization techniques

2.2.1 Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR)

Fourier Transform Infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) is a powerful and widely applicable spectroscopy method implemented to identify chemical functional groups. An FTIR spectrometer is an analytical instrument used to study materials in the gas, liquid or solid phase. FTIR has broad application in many fields of science and engineering. Over the years, FTIR spectroscopy has become one of the most important tools for both qualitative and quantitative characterization of organic and inorganics materials, and in particular, polymers, and silicon compounds such as silicon nitrides and silicon oxides.

FTIR spectroscopy is based on the interaction of infrared light with molecules. The energy absorptivity of chemical bands creates their FTIR spectrum. Mid-infrared light is defined as light in the range of wavenumbers between 4000 and 400 cm⁻¹. All materials above absolute zero (-273.15 °C) emit infrared (IR) light. However, when molecules are radiated by infrared light, it can be absorbed and the absorbed energy causes vibration in the atomic bonds. Specific atomic groups tend to absorb infrared light at particular wavenumbers, regardless of the response of other chemical bonds in the rest of the molecule. The fact that different atomic groups absorb at different IR wavenumbers (cm⁻¹) can be used to identify the structure of molecules. The plot of measured infrared absorbance versus wavenumber is called the infrared spectrum. The intensity of the IR absorption band is proportional to the rate of change of the dipole moment in a molecule, with respect to the displacement of the atoms. However, molecules with inherent dipole moments demonstrate stronger responses than molecules with induced dipole moments. Therefore, groups such as -NH and -OH with strong dipole moments generally give strong absorption bands.



(a) (b) Figure 10 (a) Basic layout of a simple FTIR spectrometer, (b) IR spectra of different compositions of silicon nitride.

The FTIR spectrometer consists of an infrared light source and detector, a laser light source and detector, moving mirrors and several of fixed mirrors. A simple spectrometer layout is shown in figure (10a). The design of infrared spectrometers is based on the idea of the two-beam interferometer originally designed by Michelson in 1891. The Michelson interferometer is a device that can divide a beam of infrared light into two parts and then recombine them after they travel different paths. The difference between these paths is called the optical path difference. Therefore, the beam splitter is the centerpiece of the interferometer. The beam splitter is often made out of a thin germanium plate coated with potassium bromide (KBr). Potassium bromide does not split the IR light, but it is a substrate that protects the germanium layer from the environment. The germanium splitter reflects about 50% of the incident light and at the same time transmits the remaining 50%. One part of this split light travels to a moving interferometer mirror while the other part travels to the stationary interferometer mirror. The two mirrors reflect both beams back to the beam splitter where the light rays recombine. When the two light beams recombine at the beam splitter, an interference pattern is generated. As long as the path difference is equal to multiples of the wavelength, the beams are in phase, called zero path difference. When these beams add together, an intense wave will be produced. Recombining two beams that are out of phase will produce a weak wave. As the moving mirror travels back and forth, the beam brightness varies from intense to weak. The variation of light intensity versus optical path difference is called the interferogram. A Fourier transformation of the interferogram generates the FTIR spectrum (figure 10b). Every scan is the result of a complete back and forth movements of the moving mirror.

In this thesis a Nicolet 6700 equipment was used to get FTIR spectra in the energy range of 400cm⁻¹ to 4000cm⁻¹ with a resolution of 8cm⁻¹.

2.2.2 Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy (Uv-vis)

When radiation interacts with matter, a number of processes can occur, including reflection, scattering, absorbance, fluorescence/phosphorescence (absorption and reemission), and photochemical reaction (absorbance and bond breaking).

Because light is a form of energy, absorption of light by matter causes the energy content of the molecules (or atoms) to increase. The total potential energy of a molecule generally is represented as the sum of its electronic, vibrational, and rotational energies: $E_T = E_{electr} + E_{vibrat} + E_{rotat}$.

The amount of energy a molecule possesses in each form is not a continuum but a series of discrete levels or states. The differences in energy among the different states are in the order: $E_{electr} > E_{vibrat} > E_{rotat}$.

In some molecules and atoms, photons of UV and visible light have enough energy to cause transitions between the different electronic energy levels. The wavelength of light absorbed is that having the energy required to move an electron from a lower energy level to a higher energy level. For molecules, vibrational and rotational energy levels are superimposed on the electronic energy levels. Because many transitions with different energies can occur, the bands are broadened. The broadening is even greater in solutions owing to solvent-solute interactions.

When light passes through or is reflected from a sample, the amount of light absorbed is the difference between the incident radiation (I) and the transmitted radiation (I). The amount of light absorbed is expressed as either transmittance or absorbance. Transmittance is usually given in terms of a fraction of 1 or as a percentage and is defined as follows:

$$\%T = \left(\frac{I}{I_0}\right) X \ 100$$

Absorbance is defined as follow:

$$A = -logT$$

Ultraviolet- visible (UV-vis) spectroscopy is a useful technique for determining optical gap of crystalline and amorphous semiconductors. An amorphous or non-crystalline solid lacks the long range order characteristic of a crystal. Because of this amorphous materials have localized sates between the valence band (VB) and conduction band (CB), the calculation of the gap is more complex.

For this work a spectrometer UV-vis Perking Elmer Lambda 35 in a range of 190-1100 nm was used to obtain absorbance and transmittance spectra of the samples.

2.2.3 Null ellipsometry

An optical method used principally for characterization of thin films and surfaces is ellipsometry. The technique is based on analysis of changes in polarization of light upon its reflection from the sample. Incident beam has an arbitrary elliptical polarization and can be, therefore, described as a

superposition of two plane-polarized waves differing, in general, in phase and amplitude. One of the waves is polarized in the plane of incidence defined by the incident and reflected beam (denoted *p*-plane) and the other wave in the plane perpendicular to the plane of incidence (denoted *s*-plane) and, thus, in a plane parallel to the reflecting surface of the sample. Reflection of the two waves from the sample is described by reflection coefficients Rp and Rs respectively. The reflection coefficients are complex numbers; their absolute values give the ratio of the amplitudes of the reflected waves to those of the incident waves; their phases give the phase shifts experienced by the waves upon their reflection. Since Rp and Rs are in general not equal, reflection results in a change of the ratio of amplitudes and mutual phase shift between the waves polarized in *p*- and *s*-plane; therefore, the polarization of the reflected beam differs from the polarization of the incident beam. The change in polarization of light upon reflection can be described by two angles Ψ and Δ , which are the output of an ellipsometric measurement and are related to the complex reflection coefficients by the next equation:

$$\rho = \frac{R_p}{R_s} = \tan(\Psi) \exp(i\Delta)$$

The ratio ρ of reflection coefficients is determined from the experimentally obtained values of Ψ and Δ and, using an appropriate model, optical parameters of the sample can be inferred from the complex value of ρ . In the simplest case, the sample is homogeneous, consisting of a material characterized by complex refractive index n_3 and surrounded by a medium of complex refractive index n_1 . Therefore, only reflection on the single interface between the sample and the medium is considered. Reflection and refraction of electromagnetic waves (polarized in *p*- and *s* plane respectively) on an interface between two media of complex refractive indices nI and nJ is described by Fresnel reflection (*rpIJ*, *rsIJ*) and transmission (*tpIJ*, *tsIJ*) coefficients [38].

In the simplest case of a single reflecting interface, the reflection coefficients Rp and Rs are equal to Fresnel coefficients rp13 and rs13. Refractive index n_3 of the sample can be, then, calculated from the measured values of Ψ and Δ provided the refractive index n_1 of the medium is known. That is usually the case; the medium is typically air, vacuum or an aqueous solution (transparent in the spectral region used in the ellipsometric experiment) and its refractive index is either known or easily determined by refractometry.

$$n_3 = n_1 \tan(\phi_1) \left[1 - \frac{4\rho \sin^2(\phi_1)}{(\rho+1)^2} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

A typical sample investigated by ellipsometry consists of thin films deposited on a reflecting surface. In the basic case, when only a single layer covers the surface, a three-phase model is used. The sample is composed of a material with index of refraction n_3 and has a smooth surface on which a layer of thickness d2 and index of refraction n_2 is deposited. The sample is surrounded by a medium characterized by index of refraction n_1 . The angle of incidence ϕ_1 is determined by the arrangement of the ellipsometer and the angle of refraction ϕ_2 can be calculated from Snell's law (figure 11).



Figure (11) Three phase model of a sample consisting of a reflecting surface characterized by refractive index n_3 , a thin film of thickness d^2 and refractive index n_2 and a medium of refractive index $n_1[38]$.

Null ellipsometry, as its name suggests, searches for such values of adjustable parameters of the instrument, which minimize the intensity of light impinging on the detector, which would reach zero in the ideal case. The typical adjustable parameters in null ellipsometry are the azimuth angles P and A of the polarizer and the analyzer respectively and the azimuth angle C of the compensator fast axis. Adjustment of two parameters is sufficient for reaching the null intensity and one of the three azimuth angles is, therefore, usually fixed [39].

Ellipsometric measurements presented in this work were performed with a null ellipsometer Gaertner L117. A He-Ne laser (λ = 632.8 nm) was used as the incident light source. Data were analyzed through the software program AUTOST.

2.2.4 X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS)

X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) also called electron spectroscopy for chemical analysis (ESCA) falls in the category of analytical methods referred to as electron spectroscopies, so called because electrons are measured. Then, the surface to be analyzed is placed in a vacuum environment and then irradiated with photons. For ESCA, the photon source is in the X-ray energy range. The irradiated atoms emit electrons (photoelectrons) after direct transfer of energy from the photon to core-level electrons. Photoelectrons emitted from atoms near the surface can escape into the vacuum chamber and be separated according to energy and counted. The energy of the photoelectrons is related to the atomic and molecular environment from which they originated. The number of electrons emitted is related to the concentration of the emitting atom in the sample.

An understanding of the photoelectric effect and photoemission is essential to appreciate the surface analytical method, ESCA. When a photon impinges upon an atom, one of three events may occur: (1) the photon can pass through with no interaction, (2) the photon can be scattered by an atomic orbital electron leading to partial energy loss, and (3) the photon may interact with an atomic orbital electron with total transfer of the photon energy to the electron, leading to electron emission from the atom. In the first case, no interaction occurs and it is, therefore, not pertinent to this discussion. The second possibility is referred to as 'Compton scattering' and can be important in high-energy processes. The third process accurately describes the photoemission process that is the basis of ESCA. Total transfer of the photon energy to the electron is the essential element of photoemission (figure 12).



Figure (12) (a) The X-ray photon transfers its energy to a core-level electron leading to photoemission from the *n*-electron initial state. (b) The atom, now in an (n - 1)-electron state, can reorganize by dropping an electron from a higher energy level to the vacant core hole. (c) Since the electron in (b) dropped to a lower energy state, the atom can rid itself of excess energy by ejecting an electron from a higher energy level. This ejected electron is referred to as an Auger electron. The atom can also shed energy by emitting an X-ray photon, a process called X-ray fluorescence [40]

The most basic ESCA analysis of a surface will provide qualitative and quantitative information on all the elements present (except H and He). More sophisticated application of the method yields a wealth of detailed information about the chemistry, electronic structure, organization, and morphology of a surface. Thus, ESCA can be considered one of the most powerful analytical tools available [40].

The XPS analysis of the samples in this thesis was carried out with a VG Microtech Multilab ESCA 2000 equipment. The samples were eroded with argon ions at energy of 3 kV and 1 μ A.

2.2.5 Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM)

Atomic force microscopy (AFM) uses a force-sensing probe to track sample topography by rasterscanning the probe over the sample surface, thereby producing a topographic map. The probe used is a very sharp tip mounted at the end of a cantilever, which can be fabricated with spring constants as low as ~ 0.01 nN/nm. The tip and the cantilever are usually made of Si, SiO₂ or Si₃N₄. As the interaction force between the cantilever tip and the surface varies, deflections are produced in the cantilever. These deflections may be measured, and used to compile a topographic image of the surface. The process is illustrated schematically in Figure (13). Microscopes have been designed which can monitor interactions due to a range of forces, including electrostatic and magnetic forces. For example, the magnetic force microscope has a tip which possesses a magnetic moment and which therefore responds to the magnetic field of a magnetized sample, while the electrostatic force microscope senses surface charge; it is the electrostatic interaction between the charged tip and the sample which is measured. Scanning force microscopes (SFMs) generally measure forces in the range 10^{-9} – 10^{-6} N, although the measurement of forces as low as 3×10^{-13} N has been reported.



Figure (13) Schematic illustration of the operation of the AFM [40]

Clearly, because the AFM is based upon force measurement, there is no longer any need for the sample to be an electrical conductor. Effectively, it offers high resolution microscopy (with a resolution comparable to that of an electron microscope in many cases) for insulating samples under ambient and liquid conditions. This represents an enormous spread of new capability.

The measurement of forces between atoms and molecules can tell us much about their structures and the nature of their interactions. The forces between atoms may be described by the Lennard–Jones potential:

$$V(r) = 4E[(\frac{\sigma}{r})^{12} - (\frac{\sigma}{r})^6]$$

The energy of interaction has a minimum value E at an equilibrium separation r_0 , and the separation is σ at V(r) = 0. At separations greater than r_0 , the potential is dominated by long-range attractive interactions that decay as a function of $1/r^6$, while at shorter distances, the interaction becomes increasingly dominated by short-range repulsive interactions that vary with $1/r^{12}$. These are quantum-mechanical in nature and arise from the interpenetration of the electron shells of the interacting atoms at small separations [40]. AFM operation is usually described as one of three modes, according to the nature of the tip motion: contact mode, also called static mode (as opposed to the other two modes, which are called dynamic modes); tapping mode , also called intermittent contact, AC mode, or vibrating mode; non-contact mode, or after the detection mechanism, frequency modulation AFM.

In this thesis the morphological analysis of the samples was made with a JSPM-4210 scanning probe microscope in tipping mode.

2.2.6 High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy (HRTEM)

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) offers both a direct image and a diffraction pattern of the specimen. High-energy electrons are used as probe and imaging of the transmitted electrons reveal information on the sample morphology and structure. Furthermore, through energy analysis of the transmitted electrons or the emitted characteristic X-rays, information on the chemical composition can be obtained. The main disadvantage of TEM is the destructive approach necessary when preparing a sample for microscopy, which may influence the microstructure of the sample to be analyzed.

A schematic diagram of a simple TEM is depicted in figure (14). At the top of the microscope column electrons are emitted from an electron gun and accelerated to an energy typically in the range 100–300 keV, corresponding to a de Broglie wavelength of l = 0.037-0.020 Å, respectively. The electron beam passes through one or more condenser lenses that focus the beam onto the specimen, which is located inside the objective lens to minimize abberation effects. In order to have the electrons transmitted through the specimen, it has to be very thin to minimize energy absorption due to inelastic scattering events, i.e. specimen thicknesses are usually limited to be in the order of 100 nm. On their way through the specimen the electrons are diffracted, transmitted without diffraction or inelastically scattered. Due to the small de Broglie wavelength, the diffraction angles θ as deduced from 2d sin $\theta = \lambda$ are very small. Because of this, several diffracted rays will be almost parallel to the directly transmitted beam, causing the diffraction pattern formed in the back focal plane of the objective lens to contain more diffraction spots than typically obtained by X-ray diffraction techniques. An aperture placed in the back focal plane of the objective lens is used to select which parts of the diffraction pattern to be used to create an image of the specimen in the image plane of the objective lens. This image is magnified by the intermediate and projector lenses onto a fluorescent screen located at the bottom of the column. The final image shown on the viewing screen will be rotated with respect to the actual specimen orientation since the lenses are magnetic coils, the rotation depending on the magnification. In Bright-Field imaging (BF) only the central direct-transmitted beam is allowed to pass the aperture placed in the back focal plane of the objective lens. The resulting image of the specimen will contain bright regions where the electrons have not been diffracted and vice versa for dark regions. In Dark-Field imaging (DF) one or more diffracted beams are chosen by means of the objective aperture, which blocks the direct transmitted beam and the other diffracted beams. The resulting image shows bright regions from areas of the specimen giving rise to the chosen diffracted beams. DF imaging is especially useful when differentiating between two diffracting crystalline phases, both yielding similar contrast in BF mode. By selecting only the diffracted beam from one of the phases, this phase will show up as bright areas in the image whereby a phase map can be obtained. Grains with different compositions, structures and crystallographic orientations diffract differently, exhibiting contrast in both BF and DF imaging mode [35].

In *diffraction mode*, the diffraction pattern formed in the back focal plane of the objective lens is projected onto the viewing screen. Since the diffraction pattern depends on the lattice parameters of the crystalline phases and the crystallographic orientation of the diffracting domains, this mode is very useful in phase identification and in exhibiting textural information [35].



Figure (14) Layer scheme of a simple Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)

Depending on the information desired, the specimen for TEM can either be prepared as a plan-view or as a cross-section specimen. In plan-view TEM, the scattering vector lies approximately in the plane of the thin film thus yielding in-plane microstructural information. In cross-section TEM, the scattering vector is located in the plane of the cross section revealing microstructural information both in-plane and out-of-plane with respect to the film surface. This method is especially powerful when investigating for example the microstructure of multilayered samples.

The shape, size and distribution of the smallest gold particles studied in this thesis were observed by high resolution electron microscopy (HRTEM) and high angle annular dark field (HAADF) using a field emission gun (JEM-2010F) which operates at 200 kV, with a theoretical point to point resolution of 0.19 nm. The HRTEM images in planar view of the samples were recorded with a CCD camera and treated with a digital analysis program.

2.2.7 Scanning electron microscopy

A scanning electron microscope (SEM) uses electrons rather than light to generate images and the resolution of an SEM is therefore limited by the wavelength of electrons, which at the standard energy of 5keV is on the order of a few nanometers. Electrons from a thermionic cathode) or a field-emission are accelerated by a voltage of 1-50 kV between cathode and anode. The beam cross-section with a diameter of 10-50 μ m for thermionic and 10-100 nm for field-emission guns is then demagnified by a two- or three-stage electron lens system so that an electron probe of about 1-10 nm carrying an electron probe current between 1-100 pA is formed at the specimen surface. A detection coil system in front of the last lens scans the electron beam in a raster fashion. The main parts of a simple SEM are electron gun, condenser lenses, apertures, scanning system and specimen chamber.

Signal detection begins when a beam electron, known as the primary electron enters a specimen. When the primary electron enters a specimen it will probably travel some a distance into the specimen before hitting another particle. After hitting an electron or a nucleus, etc., the primary electron will continue on in a new trajectory. This is known as scattering. It is the scattering events that are most interesting, because it is the components of the scattering events (not all events involve electrons) that can be detected. The result of the primary beam hitting the specimen is the formation of a teardrop shaped reaction vessel. The reaction vessel by definition is where all the scattering events are taking place. Small reaction vessels tend to give better resolution, while large reaction vessels tend to give more signal. The volume of a reaction vessel depends upon the atomic density, topography of the specimen and the acceleration potential of the primary electron beam. For example low density material and higher voltages will result in larger reaction vessels since the electron beam can penetrate deeper into the sample. Topography will also change the amount of emissions from a reaction vessel. An increase in the topography will increase the surface area of the reaction vessel resulting in more signal. Some of the more important events occurring in the reaction vessel include (figure (15)):

Backscattered electrons: A primary beam electron may be scattered in such a way that it escapes back from the specimen but does not go through the specimen. Backscattered electrons are the original beam electrons and thus, have a high energy level, near that of the gun voltage. Operating in the backscattered imaging mode is useful when relative atomic density information in conjunction with topographical information is to be displayed.

Secondary electrons: Perhaps the most commonly used reaction event is the secondary electron. Secondary electrons are generated when a primary electron dislodges a specimen electron from the specimen surface. Secondary electrons can also be generated by other secondary electrons. Secondary electrons have a low energy level of only a few electron volts, thus, they can only be detected when they are dislodged near the surface of the reaction vessel. Therefore, secondary electrons cannot escape from deep within the reaction vessel. Secondary electrons that are generated but do not escape from the sample are absorbed by the sample. Two of the foremost reasons for operating in the secondary electron imaging mode are to obtain topographical information and high resolution. An excellent feature about imaging in the secondary mode is that the contrast and soft shadows of the image closely resemble that of a specimen illuminated with light. Thus, image interpretation is easier because the images appear more familiar.

Atomic density information also can also be obtained because some materials are better secondary emitters than others. The use of secondary electrons to determine atomic number is not as reliable as with the backscatter mode.

X-rays: When electrons are dislodged from specific orbits of an atom in the specimen, X-rays are omitted. Elemental information can be obtained in the X-ray mode, because the X-ray generated has a wavelength and energy characteristic of the elemental atom from which it originated. Problems arise when the X-rays hit other particles, they lose energy, this changes the wavelength. As the number of hits increases, the x-rays will not have the appropriate energy to be classified as coming from the originating element and detection of these X-rays will be known as background. X-ray spectrometer detectors measure wavelength (wavelength Dispersive Spectrometer or WDS) or energy level (Energy Dispersive Spectrometer or EDS).

Transmitted electrons: If the specimen is thin enough, primary electrons may pass through the specimen. These electrons are known as transmitted electrons and they provide some atomic density information. The atomic density information is displayed as a shadow. The higher the atomic number the darker the shadow until no electrons pass through the specimen [41].



Figure (15) Schematic diagram of the analytical modes of a SEM

A Field Emission-Scanning Electron Microscope (JEOL7600F FE-SEM) was used to observe shape and distribution of the gold films of different thicknesses. Additionally, cross section of the fabricated devices also was observed.

2.2.8 Photoluminescence measurements

Photoluminescence of the samples was acquired using a spectrofluorometer (Fluoromax-Spex) sensitive in the range 200–850 nm and a quartz optical fiber. A laser beam of He-Cd at 325 nm with power of 10 mW was impinged 45° on the film while the optical fiber remained perpendicular to the sample for recording the signal toward the spectrofluorometer. The schematic diagram of the system used to obtain photoluminescence spectra is depicted in figure (16).



Figure (16) Schematic diagram of the system used to obtain photoluminescence spectra.

2.2.9 Electroluminescence measurements

Electrical characterization of the luminescent samples was carried out using a voltage source PL-Lab 1 connected in serie with a multimeter Keithley 2000. A quartz optical fiber terminal was placed 2 mm from the light emission side of the sample. The other terminal of the fiber was directed to a Spex-Fluoromax spectrometer sensitive in the range 200–850 nm. Schematic diagram to measure electroluminescence emission of the devices is depicted in figure (17).



Figure (17) Measurement set up for light emission devices.

CHAPTER III. Photoluminescence of the silicon quantum dots active film

The absorption in a solid can be due primarily to the action of the following mechanism: 1) transition of electrons from the valence band to the conduction band, 2) transitions by means of excitonic states, 3) transitions of electrons or holes within the respective permitted bands, i.e., the transitions related to free charge carriers, 4) transitions through impurity states, 5) absorption for vibrations of the crystalline lattice or phonons, among others. It is just some of these mechanisms can produce radiative events; therefore, here lies the importance for understanding which of them could be responsible for the emission in SiQDs films.

In this section of the thesis are explained some of the main models used to account for the observed luminescence in silicon nanocrystals films; these include quantum confinement of excitons, surface passivation and defects states. In addition, the physical and chemical properties of the active films of SiQDs used in thesis under different thermal treatments were also studied in this chapter.

3.1 Quantum confined model

As mentioned previously, the interest in nanostructures of Si stems from the effects of confinement on carrier wave functions when the crystallite diameter is less than the size of the free exciton Bohr radius of 4.3 nm in bulk c-Si. In a semiconductor the most immediate consequence of the confinement effect is an increase in the band gap energy and an associated increased probability of radiative transfer. As the carrier are confined in real space, their associate wavefunctions spread out in momentum space. This increases the probability of radiative transitions as the electron-hole wave function overlap is greater [20]. In this model the statistical distribution of dark and bright dots determines the overall luminescence efficiency. Moreover, the fact that the Si dots are usually formed in a dielectric matrix having a lower refractive index than that of c-Si increases the extraction efficiency of the light generated in the active material itself.

The mechanism of quantum mechanical confinement is understood qualitatively by considering the particle in a box problem, which can be solve for the wave functions (eigenstates) and energies (eigenvalues) of an infinite potential well using Schrödinger's wave equation (figure 18). In order to satisfy boundary conditions the characteristic ground state energy scales inversely with the square of the width of the confining potential well [4].

According to P. F. Trwoga et al [42] there are three different categories of confinement considering the relative sizes of the Bohr radius and the potential well: strong, medium, and weak. The weak confinement regime is that in which R (potential well size) is greater than the bulk exciton Bohr radius $a_B = a_e + a_h (a_e \text{ and } a_h \text{ are the electron and the hole Bohr radio})$. Moderate confinement regimes exist where the excitonic Bohr radius and the size of the cluster are roughly equal and, $a_h < R < a_e$. the strong confinement regime is that in which $R < a_B$ and $R < a_h$, a_e . For silicon clusters the values for the Bohr radius for each particle are $a_e=3.19E-9$, $a_h=2.11E-9$, and $a_B=5.3E-9$ m.


Figure (18) The effective bandgap of a silicon nanocrystal with a diameter that is smaller than the exciton Bohr radius (~5 nm) increases by the quantum confinement effect (in this picture the silicon quantum dot (SiQD) is surrounded by Si_3N_4 matrix).

In 1982 Efros et al. proposed a theoretical model for explaining quantum confined effect in spherical microcrystallites with infinite potential barriers at the crystallite boundary. This model was based on the effective mass aproximation (EMA) with parabolic energy bands. Other models have been developed with various refinements since the original analysis of Efros et al., including those using experimentally obtained fitting parameters [42].

Brus and Kayanuma extended the Efros et al. model to include Coulomb and correlation energy terms which enables derivation of an expression that models energies and provides a reasonable guide to cluster size as a function of E_g :

$$E(R) = E_g + \frac{h^2 \pi^2}{2R^2} \left(\frac{1}{m_e^*} + \frac{1}{m_h^*} \right) - \frac{1.786e^2}{\epsilon_r R} + 0.284E_R$$

where E_R is the Rydberg energy for the bulk semiconductor:

$$E_R = \left(\frac{13.606m_0}{\epsilon_r^2 \left(\frac{1}{m_e^*} + \frac{1}{m_h^*}\right)}\right) eV$$

The Coulomb term is $1.786e^2/\epsilon_r R$, and 0.248ER gives the spatial correlation energy and is a minor correlation [42].

3.2 Surface passivation

Nanoparticles exhibit enormous surface area-to-volume ratios; according to one estimate, a 2 nm diameter icosahedral silicon particle possesses approximately 280 Si atoms with 120 (43%) residing at the surface of the particle. Then, tailoring the surface of such particles offers the attractive possibility of controlling their interactions with their surroundings.

The superficial reconstruction of a silicon nanodot is related to a process where dangling bonds on its surface are attached to a convenient atom or molecule. This process gives rise to an important distortion in atoms of superficial bonds than those atoms at the center of the nanodot. Then, states related to this change are introduced into the optical gap of the nanodot [43].

The surface modification has employed the more robust polar covalent bonding of silicon–carbon, silicon–nitrogen and silicon–oxygen linkages for example; although still, questions and challenges regarding the effectiveness of Si-nc surface passivation and the associated particle stability remain (figure 19). The bond strengths of various species present at particle surfaces are shown in table 1.

| Bond | Bond energy (kJ mol ⁻¹) |
|------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Si-H | 323 |
| Si-N | 469 |
| Si-C | 369 |
| Si-Cl | 391 |
| Si-O | 368 |
| Si-Si (bulk) | 210-250 |
| Si-Si (disilane) | 310-340 |
| Si-Si (disilene) | 105-126 |

Table 1. Selected bond energies of Si-X bonds.

Some of the methods for controlling silicon nanocrystals surfaces are in situ surface chemistry tailoring related. Holmes et al. prepared sterically stabilized Si-ncs by thermally decomposing diphenyl silane in supercritical octanol. The resulting particles ranged in diameter from 1.5 to 4.0 nm, and the FTIR analysis confirmed that a surface organic layer was indeed bonded through an alkoxide linkage (Si-O-C). These alcohol-soluble nanoparticles were highly photoluminescent. Moreover, SiQDs are readily prepared in nonthermal plasmas and further modified in situ to yield organic surface-stabilized materials. Liao et al. were the first to apply gas-phase reactions of this type to the surface modification of SiQDs [25]. Particles were prepared from silane in a nonthermal reactor and extracted into a reactor chamber containing organic reagents of choice (e.g., amines, alkenes, and alkynes). Heating of the gas-phase mixture led to surface modification that was spectroscopically confirmed.

Additionally, SiQDs surfaces bearing halogens may be directly obtained from the synthetic reaction, as is the case when particles are prepared from Zintl salt precursors, or it may be realized after postsynthetic modification upon reaction of Si-H-terminated particles with Cl₂. The Si-Cl

reactive surface opens the surface to modification using a wide variety of solution reagents. Clearly, the Si-Cl surface offers significant chemical breadth as evident by its electrophilic reactivity and the demonstration that it may be readily converted to Si-H and Si-Br with exposure to lithium aluminum hydride and bromine, respectively. In the light of the vast chemistry of Si-Cl bonds, this mode of surface modification holds significant untapped potential in controlling SiQDs chemistry.



Figure (19) Surface termination of SiQDs to yield amine surface functionality [25].

By using halogen precursors Si-nc deposited by PECVD can be embedded in chlorinated silicon nitride thin films. These films have shown to have efficient photoluminescence in the red (1.8 eV) to blue-violet (3.1 eV) region and this even improves with thermal annealing. Although in this case the Si-nc can be passivated with H, N, or Cl atoms, it has been previously speculated that their good photoluminescent properties are due to the passivation with N and/or Cl [44, 45]. Most of the theoretical studies used to explain the experimental results on the photoluminescent properties of silicon nanoclusters embedded in thin films or in porous silicon are based on the calculation of the electronic structure and optical properties of silicon nanoclusters in vacuum and with atomic hydrogen as the main surface passivated with hydrogen, the HOMO (Highest Occupied Molecular Orbital)-LUMO (Lowest Unoccupied Molecular Orbital) gap increases in conformity with the quantum confinement effect, and consequently, their photoluminescence can be tuned from near infrared to ultraviolet by decreasing the size of the nanoclusters.

Some calculations made for small (~1 nm), fully hydrogenated SiQDs, such as $Si_{35}H_{36}$, have indicated that the HOMO-LUMO gap decreases significantly when the H atoms of the SiQDs surface are partially replaced with double bonded O to form $Si_{35}H_{34}O_{20-22}$ or totally replaced with OH groups to form $Si_{35}(OH)_{36}$. These results were used to explain why hydrogen-passivated SiQDs luminesce in the blue, whereas oxide-passivated SiQDs luminesce in the red. Some of these studies have also found that single-bonded surface passivators such as Cl, F, or OH produce a small variation, of 0.1 to 0.2 eV, in the HOMO-LUMO band gap of these small SiQDs [46].

3.3 Defect related luminescence

Si nanocrystals completely embedded in amorphous SiO_2 is desired to realize a high potential barrier and hence good confinement. Incomplete crystallization causes a remaining amorphous shell, and the reduced potential barrier leads to problems with the quantum confinement. Such a remaining shell will have imperfections in the atomic bonds resulting in defects and disordered or broken bonds. The remaining incomplete SiOx shell has been proven by using photon-in photon-out soft X-ray spectroscopy, the electronic structure of silicon nanoclusters embedded in an electrically insulating SiO₂ host matrix was investigated as a function of nanocluster size. It was found the nanoclusters to be of a core–shell structure with a crystalline Si core and an ultrathin transition layer of a suboxide.

Electron spin resonance (ESR) is a technique sensing the whole volume of a sample with the ability to distinguish between different materials by using paramagnetic defects as a probe. ESR can identify these paramagnetic defects and infer their location within the sample structure. Various ESR studies have been performed on nano-Si entities in SiO_2 and generally five types of point defects are observed, that is, D (Si dangling bonds (DB) in disordered Si), P_{b(0)}, P_{b1}, E'_{\gamma}, and EX. All works report a generally featureless isotropic line commonly referred to as the Si DB signal with zero crossing g value (g_c) in the range of 2.005–2.006. A first series of ESR measurements investigated Si nanoparticles embedded in SiO₂ and phosphosilicate glass fabricated by Si⁺ ion implantation. A rather broad signal was observed at $g_c \sim 2.006$ with a peak to peak width of DB_{pp}=7.0-7.9 G, which was suggested to originate from P_b centers. The P_b centers are prototype interface defects that are characteristic of the Si/SiO₂ interface. Figure (20a-c) shows the DB, P_{b(0)}, and P_{b1} defects. The presence of P_{b} -type defects would be important, as these are deep nonradiative recombination centers, known to quench the PL from Si nanocrystals in the 1.4-2.2 eV range, irrespective of whether the source of the PL is quantum confinement or interface states. Thus, the analysis of whether such defects are observed in ESR for Si nanocrystals embedded in SiO_2 is quite an important question. To make sure that the signal really is related to the interface of the nanocrystals and not to the interface of the substrate, it is necessary to take into account the angle dependence of the signal. The absence of any angle dependence in the P_b ESR signal indicates that the defects stem from the interface between Si nanocrystals and surrounding SiO₂ and not from the Si substrate [25].



Figure (20) (a) DB model, (b) $Pb_{(0)}$ and (c) P_{b1} [25]

The presence of EX centers, has been related to the quality of the SiO₂ matrix, which may be linked to the kind of deposition or phase separation annealing procedures applied. The E'_{γ} center was

identified as an unpaired electron at a threefold coordinated Si (generic entity $O_3 \equiv Si^*$.). It may be taken as a measure for the presence of oxygen vacancies, or at least, oxygen deficiencies of the SiO₂ matrix, establishing a quality label in that sense. The upper limit of the activation for the E'_{γ} centers is reached after VUV irradiation, that is, related to substantial increase in *hv*, not the exposure time.

J. Robertson et al. [47] studied the local electronic structure of the principal defects in silicon nitride deposited by chemical vapor deposition (CVD) and plasma deposition (PD) calculated by the tightbinding recursion method. They constructed a gap state energy distribution for CVD and PD nitrides based in the calculated energy levels of the principal defects, namely, the Si and N dangling bonds (\equiv Si and =N), \equiv SiH, =NH, and the \equiv Si-Si \equiv unit. According to them, the \equiv Si centers produce a density of states peak near midgap. As \equiv Si centers outnumber =N centers, the latter are doubly occupied and negatively charged and the Fermi level lies within the \equiv Si states. The Si-Si centers and =N⁻ centers generate a valence band tail of about 1.5 eV. The schemes of these gap state spectra are depicted in figure (21).



Figure (21) Density of gap states for a CVD and PV silicon nitride [47].

3.4 SiQDs embedded in a chlorinated silicon nitride matrix (SiNx:Cl)

The silicon nanocrystal research group has been largely convinced by experimental and theoretical evidence about oxygen bond trap states that blue emission from quantum confined excitons is unlikely to be accomplished from nanocrystals embedded in silicon oxide environments. For this reason, the attention has been shifted more recently to silicon nanocrystals into silicon nitride materials.

Stoichiometric silicon nitride (Si₃N₄) has a density of 3.1 g/cm³, optical gap of 5 eV and refractive index of 2.05 at 632.8 nm. From an electric point of view this is an insulating material with resistivity of $10^{14} \Omega$ cm. In the bond structure of Si₃N₄ each silicon atom is located in the center of a tetrahedral connected to four nitrogen atoms, and at the same time each nitrogen atom is found in the center of an equilateral triangle connected to three atoms of silicon.

Silano gas (SiH₄) is commonly the source of silicon used to produce silicon nitride and silicon nanocrystals films. However, there is not good stability of the physical and chemical properties of the samples because of the incorporated hydrogen in the matrix. In order to overcome these problems some halogenated gas sources have been studied such as SiCl and SiH₂Cl₂. Chlorine atoms play a role in the promotion of the chemical reactivities of SiCl and SiHCl complexes with the aid of atomic hydrogen from diluted H_2 . The disorder-induced stress and the enhanced chemical reactivity of SiCl and SiH₂Cl₂ complexes created by the impinging atomic hydrogen are in combination some possible causes of the preferential phase transition from amorphous state to nanocrystaline silicon, i.e nucleation at low temperature [48, 49].

3.5 Deposition of SiQDs thin films and thermal treatments

At the present time, different processes in the production of microelectronics devices require to use high temperatures. Consequently, it is necessary to know the physical and chemical properties of the active films under different thermal treatments after being deposited. In this chapter it is presented the study of SiQDs films deposited by RPECVD undergoing different post-deposition thermal treatments in N_2 ambient with the aim of understanding the above mentioned properties. The parameters used for deposition of the SiQDs films embedded in a silicon nitride matrix were:

| NH ₃ | SiH_2Cl_2 | H_2 Flow | Ar Flow | Substrate | Plasma | Chamber |
|-----------------|-------------|------------|---------|-------------|---------|----------|
| Flow | Flow rate | rate | rate | temperature | power | pressure |
| rate | (sccm) | (sccm) | (sccm) | (°C) | (Watts) | (mTorr) |
| (sccm) | | | | | | |
| 200 | 5 | 20 | 75 | 300 | 150 | 300 |

By using these flow rates it was achieved a well distribution of particles throughout the film. From previous works handling these parameters, it was found that the density of particles per unit area was 6.04E12 particles/cm², and their average size 3.1 nm [23].

3.5.1 Fabrication process steps

The SiQDs films were deposited on type n crystalline silicon of low resistivity (0.1-2 Ω cm) and quartz. A thickness of ~2000Å was determined by F. Reizman's color table [50] for these set of samples during deposition. The surface preparation of the substrates prior to the deposition of the active films was:

- 1. Dive in trichloroethylene (TCE) for 10 min using ultrasonic bath.
- 2. Dive in acetone for 10 min using ultrasonic bath.
- 3. Dive in P solution for 5 min to etch native oxide.
- 4. Rinse in DI water and blow in high purity nitrogen.

The quartz samples were cleaned using steps one and two.

As soon as SiQDs were deposited on silicon and quartz substrates, different thermal treatments were carried out under 400°C, 500°C, 600°C, 800°C and 1000°C in a conventional furnace in N_2 (99.999% purity) atmosphere for one hour each.

3.5.2 Chemical and optical characterization

Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) spectra of the thermally treated films are depicted in figure (22). Attached numbers to the as-grown sample correspond to the band positions and their chemical bonds are defined in table (2). It can be observed that the band due to Si-N asymmetric stretching bond (840cm⁻¹) is more intense and broader as the cured temperatures are higher than 400°C.The latter is probably due to progressive oxidation of the samples when treatment temperatures were raised and therefore, a major number of Si-O-Si stretching vibration bonds (1072 cm⁻¹).

On the other hand, the intensity of the N-H (1180, 3350 cm⁻¹) and Si-H (2180 cm⁻¹) bonds decreased for temperatures greater than 500°C, due to the exo diffusion of hydrogen from N-H and Si-H broken bonds [51, 52]. The exo diffusion process could also explain the increase of the Si-N asymmetric stretching bands at these annealing temperatures as broken bonds of Si and N were able to join together. Moreover, B. S. Sahu et al. [52] explain breaking of Si-H and N-H bonds favors enrichment of N₂ atoms in the silicon nitride phase approximating it to stoichiometry.



Figure (22) FTIR of the SiQDs films annealed in N_2 atmosphere.

| Peak | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
|-------------|------------|---------|------------|---------|------------|------------|
| Wavenumber | 3350 | 2346 | 2180 | 1180 | 840 | 470 |
| (cm^{-l}) | | | | | | |
| Functional | N-H | CO_2 | Si-H | N-H | Si-N | Si-N |
| group | Stretching | Dioxide | Stretching | Bending | Asymmetric | Symmetric |
| | | carbide | | | stretching | stretching |

Table (2) Chemical bonds related to the observed absorption peaks.

Figure (23) is a close view of the asymmetric stretching Si-N band of the as-grown and all the cured samples. From this figure it can be observed the N-H bending bond (1180 cm⁻¹) clearly reduced from 600°C and above, at the same time Si-O stretching bonds widened the Si-N band. A little elbow belonging to the SiO₂ functional group is seen at 1000°C (~1070 cm⁻¹).





The superficial chemical composition was analyzed by X Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS). The atomic percent of the main elements found in the films is described in table (3). The percentage of the as-grown sample can be considered as the reference value. The percentage of nitrogen and chlorine diminished more consistently from 500°C. At this temperature the loss of nitrogen and chlorine atomic percentage could be related to broken N-H and H-Cl bonds expulsed outside the main chamber. The silicon content decreased from 400°C when dehydrogenation generally starts due to broken Si-H bonds. The higher content of silicon percent in sample cured at 1000°C with regard to sample annealed at 800°C could be duo to the rate of chemical reactions taking place at higher temperature, which could promote fast bonding of the Si dangling bonds. Since chlorine bonds are stronger, the atomic percent of this element diminished slowly up to 800°C.

| Curing temperatures (°C) | %Si | %N | %Cl | %O | N/Si ratio |
|--------------------------------|------|------|-----|------|------------|
| As-grown | 47.8 | 39.4 | 4.6 | 8.2 | 0.82 |
| 400 | 46.7 | 40.5 | 4.6 | 8.2 | 0.87 |
| 500 | 46.7 | 37.9 | 4.3 | 11.2 | 0.81 |
| 600 | 46 | 35.7 | 3.8 | 14.4 | 0.77 |
| 800 | 43.2 | 34.9 | 1.7 | 20.2 | 0.8 |
| 1000 | 44.1 | 29.1 | 1 | 25.7 | 0.65 |

Table (3) Percentage of the surface chemical composition of each annealed sample.

With regard to the important change of the silicon atomic content at 800°C and 1000°C, L. Jiang et al. [51] proposed that when annealing temperature increases, and Si-H and N-H bonds decrease in

the films more silicon dangling bonds are formed acting as nucleation sites. Additionally, oxygen is the only element constantly growing from 500°C to 1000°C, which is consistent with the results obtained by FTIR showing progressive oxidation of the silicon nitride matrix. However, it is important to observe that samples suffered some grade of oxidation when they were exposed to atmosphere out of the chamber because the as-grown sample showed the same oxygen content that sample cured at 400°C. These types of bonds (Si-O, N-O) were not clearly observed in as-grown samples by FTIR spectra due to the prevailing Si-N (840cm⁻¹) band. Moreover, the most important change observed in the chlorine and oxygen concentrations was at 800°C.

PL intensity spectra of the cured samples are shown in figure (24). PL peak intensity of the sample annealed at 400°C increased 19% compared with that of as-grown sample. On the other hand, at 500°C the PL intensity is reduced without peak shift. The latter could be related to the diminished XPS atomic content obtained for nitrogen and silicon, which is probably due to the first Si-H and N-H broken bonds. Since 600°C to 1000°C the PL intensity peak decreased and also a blue-shifted was observed. Santana et al. [53] observed a similar behavior using the same precursors when the oxygen content in the surrounding host of nanocrystals increased. This fact is consistent with the increment of oxygen shown by FTIR spectra and XPS percentages at these temperatures. According to L. Jiang et al. [51] SiQDs could grow up during annealing, however, this growth is limited by low silicon diffusion at low temperatures. Thus, the silicon diffusion can be also related to the decreased Si percent observed by XPS at cured temperatures of 800°C and 1000°C as more silicon dangling bonds are formed which can act as nucleation sites or being bonded to oxygen atoms.

Therefore, the decrease of PL intensity at 500°C should be related to the rupture of the hydrogencontent bonds in the films. This process let not well passivated bonds and some of these are viable as non-radiative recombination centers [54]. Moreover, at higher temperatures oxidation of the matrix has an essential role in the formation of defects, which as was mentioned at the beginning of this chapter are known to quench the PL from Si nanocrystals.



Figure (24) Photoluminescence spectra of the cured samples at as-grown, 400°C, 500°C, 600°C, 800°C and 1000°C.

The Tauc plots of as-grown sample and those cured at 400°C, 600°C, 800°C and 1000°C are depicted in figure (25). The optical band gap of these films was obtained from the absorbance data as a function of photon energy, according to the Tauc's model for amorphous semiconductors:

$$(\alpha h\nu)^{1/2} = B(h\nu - E_q)$$

where α is the absorption coefficient, B is a constant, hv is the photon energy and E_g is the optical band gap [55]. All the samples showed two small absorption bands with peaks at 2 and 3.2 eV. Additionally, two absorption edges named E_{edge1} and E_{edge2} were observed in each sample and whose energy was obtained through a linear fitting (table 4). According to the Tauc analysis of as-grown SiQDs films by A. Rodríguez et al. [23], the E_{edge1} can be associated to absorption of photons which produce transitions of electrons from the valence band energy tail to the conduction band energy tail of the SiNx:Cl matrix due to localized states. Furthermore the energy E_{edge2} is related to the band gap energy of the silicon nitride (SiNx:Cl) matrix (E_g of stoichiometric silicon nitride is ~5eV). It can be seen from table (4) that energies of the absorption edge values E_{edge1} and E_{edge2} increased their first decimal number up to 800°C. This change can be associated to the structural modification of the matrix when oxygen atoms are incorporated into it due to desorption of hydrogen, or by the formation of new Si-N bonds at these temperatures which give rise to more dense films.



Figure (25) Tauc plots of the samples as-grown, and cured at 400°C, 600°C, 800°C and 1000°C. The energies E_{edge1} and E_{edge2} were obtained extrapolating the fitted straight lines 1 and 2.

| Thermal treatment | PL peak position (nm) | PL energy (eV) | E _{edge1} (eV) | E _{edge2} (eV) |
|----------------------|--------------------------|----------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|
| As-grown | 505 | 2.45 | 3.4 | 4.04 |
| 400°C | 504 | 2.46 | 3.44 | 4.08 |
| 600°C | 494 | 2.51 | 3.48 | 4.08 |
| 800°C | 449 | 2.76 | 3.6 | 4.15 |
| 1000°C | 550 | 2.25 | 3.66 | 4.25 |

Table (4) Energy values found from Tauc plots of the as-grown and cured samples.

3.6 Conclusions

On the basis of the research work performed it can be concluded that:

It was observed increased photoluminescence of the sample cured at 400°C may be due to a rearrangement of the hydrogen atoms which could passivate radiative sites like dangling bonds or interfacial states which generally exist in non-stoichiometric silicon nitride layers obtained by CVD process. However, when the temperature increased to 500°C and above the energy was enough to break Si-H (2180cm⁻¹) and N-H (1180cm⁻¹) bonds as could be observed in FTIR spectra. The shift of the luminescent peak from 600°C to 1000°C may suggest a structural change of bonds in the host matrix of silicon nanocrystals and its interface added to a possible diffusion of silicon. The former could influence the size distribution of SiQDs in the films and therefore the location of the luminescent peak.

It is difficult to define without TEM images how the crystalline structure and morphology of silicon nanoclusters could change; however, a reduction of their size under high temperatures is possible.

CHAPTER IV. Light emission of silicon quantum dots devices

To manufacture a LED in the visible range a number of basic material properties must be understood, and technical challenges must be overcome. Critical material properties include electron and hole transport, recombination mechanisms, and the role of defects in these structures. Unlike photoluminescence, electroluminescence presents an additional challenge: efficient injection of the charge carriers into silicon quantum dots. Electron–hole pairs are usually generated either by bipolar injection from both electrodes of the diode or by impact excitation. In the latter case, only electrons flow through the device and holes are generated by impact processes. The main problem of these structures is their difficulty for carrier injection since the host matrix is usually an insulator.

Structures type metal-insulator-metal and metal-insulator-semiconductor are commonly used to measure electrical properties like capacitance, resistivity, dielectric breakdown and charge transfer mechanisms. The considered issue in MIM capacitors is the possible asymmetry of the electrical properties when the top and bottom electrodes are made of different metals. Different metals generally lead to different work functions, and therefore result in different metal-dielectric interface barriers. The MIS structure is inherently asymmetric [56]. Moreover, recently it has been possible to obtain electroluminescent emission from silicon-based dielectric films using these structures.

In this section of the thesis were fabricated the first electroluminescent devices of silicon nanocrystals embedded in a chlorinated silicon nitride matrix by using the basic structure metal/insulator/metal (MIM). The optical and electrical properties of these samples with different thicknesses of the active film were obtained.

4.1 Current transport processes in metal-semiconductor contacts

The current transport in metal-semiconductor contacts is due mainly to five basic transport processes (figure 26): (1) emission of electrons from the semiconductor over the potential barrier $(q\Phi_B)$ into the metal (the dominant process for Schottky diodes with moderately doped semiconductors operated at moderate temperatures (e.g., 300 K), (2) quantum mechanical tunneling of electrons through the barrier (important for heavily doped semiconductors and responsible for most ohmic contacts), (3) recombination in the space-charge region, (4) diffusion of electrons in the depletion region, and (5) holes injected from the metal that diffuse into the semiconductor (equivalent to recombination in the neutral region). In addition, it is possible to have edge leakage current due to a high electric field at the metal-contact periphery or interface current due to traps at the metal-semiconductor interface. Several methods have been used to improve the interface quality, and many device structures have been proposed to reduce or eliminate the edge leakage current [57].



Figure (26) Basic transport processes under forward bias. (1) Thermionic emission. (2) Tunneling. (3) Recombination. (4) Difussion of electrons. (5) Difussion of holes [57].

4.2 Basic conduction process in insulators

The main function of a non-crystalline insulating material of a metal-insulating-metal (MIM) device is to avoid current flow between the two electrodes. However, different carrier transport mechanisms through an insulator are possible and determined fundamentally by the properties of the dielectric, the quality of the interfaces and electrodes. The charge transport in non-crystalline insulating materials is determined basically for the following:

- Low mobility of charges because carrier dispersion.
- Localized states during the transport process.

Likewise, in a real MIM or MIS capacitor the insulating film show some degree of carrier conduction when the electric field or temperature is sufficiently high. Some conduction mechanisms depend on the electrical properties at the electrode-dielectric contact. These conduction mechanisms are called electrode-limited conduction mechanisms or injection-limited conduction mechanisms. Also, other conduction mechanisms depend only on the properties of the dielectric itself. These conduction mechanisms are called bulk-limited conduction mechanisms or transport-limited conduction mechanisms, moreover, some of them may all contribute to the conduction current through the dielectric film at the same time [56]. A scheme of the main conduction mechanisms in dielectrics films is shown in figure (27).



Figure (27) Classification of conduction mechanisms in dielectric films [56].

The equations modeling the conduction processes in insulators are summarized in table 1A (Appendix A). These equations also emphasize the voltage and temperature dependence of each process that is used often to identify the exact conduction mechanism experimentally.

At low voltages and room temperature, the principal conduction mechanism in silicon nitride films is that where current is carried by thermally excited electrons hopping from one isolated state to the next. This mechanism yields an ohmic characteristic exponentially dependent on temperature [57]. The space-charge-limited current gives rise carriers injected into a lightly doped semiconductor or a dielectric, where no compensating charge is present. The current for the unipolar trap-free case is proportional to the square of the applied voltage. The mobility regime is relevant here since mobility is typically very low in insulators. Tunneling increases for ultra-thin insulators such that the conductor surface instead of the insulator and the thermionic-emission current is multiplied by a tunneling factor.

Under high fields, tunneling is the most-common conduction mechanism through insulators. The tunnel emission has strong dependence on the applied voltage but is essentially independent of the temperature. This mechanism can be divided into direct tunneling and Fowler-Nordheim tunneling where carriers tunnel through only a partial width of the barrier. In the Schottky emission process thermionic emission over the metal-insulator barrier or the insulator-semiconductor barrier is responsible for carrier transport. In table (1A), the term subtracting from Φ_B is due to image-force lowering.

The Poole-Frenkel mechanism models the emission of trapped electrons into the conduction band. The supply of electrons from the traps is through thermal excitation, where the barrier height is the depth of the trap potential well. For trap states with Coulomb potentials, the expression is similar to that of the Schottky emission. The barrier reduction is larger than in the case of Schottky emission by a factor of 2, since the barrier lowering is twice as large due to the immobility of the positive charge.

With regard to ionic conduction, this is similar to a diffusion process. Generally, the dc ionic conductivity decreases during the time the electric field is applied because ions cannot be promptly injected into or extracted from the insulator. Positive and negative space charges will build up near the metal-insulator and the semiconductor-insulator interfaces after an initial current flow, causing a distortion of the potential distribution. Large internal fields remain when the applied field is removed which cause some, but not all, ions to flow back toward their equilibrium position. Because of this, hysteresis results in I-V traces.

Each conduction process may dominate in certain temperature and voltage range for a particular insulator. The processes are also not exactly independent of one another and should be carefully examined [57].

4.3 SiQDs-based electroluminescent devices on glass

From the results about thermal treatments obtained in chapter III, an important change on optical and chemical properties of active films as-grown and annealed at 400°C was not observed. On the other hand, the PL of films cured at temperatures ≥ 500 °C diminished as non-radiative processes became more important. Thus, post-deposition thermal treatments at relatively low temperatures in a conventional furnace demonstrated no advantages of the active film properties and it was decided to use the as-grown films for fabricating light emission diodes based in silicon nanocrystals.

4.3.1 Fabrication process steps

The first electroluminescent structures were fabricated on glass as substrates to allow radiative emission in a capacitor configuration. This type of structure was chosen because of its easy manufacturing process. As transparent conductive contact (TCC) aluminum doped zinc oxide (ZnO:Al) was used and whose properties have been mentioned before. After deposition of the TCC, two depositions of SiQDs were made in order to take out the sample after the first deposition and clean it with nitrogen gas before the second. This procedure demonstrated to avoid pin holes in the samples and improve electrical performance of the device. Finally, it was deposited aluminum as a contact electrode on the top of the structure by vacuum evaporation. The scheme of the fabricated devices can be seen in the figure (28).



Figure (28) Scheme of light emission devices on glass for positive bias.

The thickness of the SiQDs films deposited on n type low resistivity silicon (0.1-2 Ω cm) was measured by null ellipsometry and color table. Transparent conductive contact was deposited on glass and quartz. Fabrication process consisted of the following stages:

Cleaning of glass and quartz substrates for deposition of the transparent conductive contact (ZnO:Al):

- a) Dive in trichloroethylene (TCE) for 10 min using ultrasonic bath.
- b) Dive in acetone for 10 min using ultrasonic bath.
- c) Dive in methanol for 10 min using ultrasonic bath.
- d) Blow with high purity nitrogen.
- e) Deposition of ZnO:Al by ultrasonic spray pyrolysis (see section 2.1.3) as the TCC. Thickness (Th): 1±0.2 μm

Steps for deposition of the active film and metallization:

- a) The cleaning of the silicon substrates was the same used in chapter three.
- b) Deposition of SiQDs embedded in SiNx:Cl on TCC and silicon substrates by RPECVD system. The gas flow rates and parameters of deposition were those employed in chapter three.

| NH ₃ | SiH_2Cl_2 | H_2 Flow | Ar Flow | Substrate | Power of | Chamber |
|-----------------|-------------|------------|---------|-------------|---------------|----------|
| Flow | Flow rate | rate | rate | temperature | plasma(Watts) | pressure |
| rate | (sccm) | (sccm) | (sccm) | (°C) | | (mTorrs) |
| (sccm) | | | | | | |
| 200 | 5 | 20 | 75 | 300 | 150 | 300 |

c) Metallic layer deposition. Aluminum metal was deposited by thermal evaporation. This equipment employed mechanical and diffusion pumps to get pressures of the order of 10⁻⁶ Torrs. High purity aluminum is placed on a crucible which by Joule effect is evaporated and

deposited on the active film through a mask used to define circular patterns of 1mm diameter. The thickness of these aluminum layers was ~ 100 nm.

4.4 Thickness effect of the active film on the EL properties

Since the thickness of the films could be estimated through deposition time and the photoluminescence of the samples is related to the number of SiQDs in the volume [23], different thicknesses of SiQDs films were deposited in order to understand the behavior of the injected current in these films and its relation with the luminescence emitted. Four light emission devices were built with active layers from 44 nm to ~200 nm thickness. As can be observed from table (5), the refractive index of the four samples at 632 nm differed just for hundredth parts as the films were thinner which indicates repetitive deposition and homogeneity of the active layers. These values were consistent with those observed for silicon rich nitride, and very close to the stoichiometric silicon nitride value (n=2).

| Device | Thickness (nm) | Characterization method | Refractive index (n) |
|--------|----------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|
| M4 | ≈200 | Color table | |
| M3 | 132.5 | Null ellipsometry | 1.847 |
| M2 | 91.6 | Null ellipsometry | 1.839 |
| M1 | 44.1 | Null ellipsometry | 1.823 |

Table (5) Thickness and refractive index of the active films of the fabricated LEDs.

4.4.1 Optical and electrical characterization

In order to know the flux of light through the deposited layers the transmittance percent of ZnO:Al $(1\pm0.2\mu m)$ on glass and the layered structure SiQDs(~90nm)/ZnO:Al(~1 μ m) on quartz was measured (figure 29). ZnO:Al had a transmittance of 70-80% in a range of ~ 400-1100 nm. Transmittance of the layered sample decreased between ~349-700 nm (3.55-1.77 eV) due to absorbance of the SiQDs film (this absorbance was found at the same range of the SiQDs as-grown sample in chapter III). The difference in the percentage of transmittance in this range was ~10% with regard to only ZnO:Al on glass.



Figure (29) Transmittance spectra of ZnO:Al(~1µm) and SiQDs(~90nm)/ZnO:Al(~1µm).

Photoluminescence spectra of the four samples are presented in figure (30). As can be seen in table (6) PL peak position did not change in samples M2, M3 and M4. However, the peak of the sample M1 was blue-shifted. The sample M4 is ~4.5 times thicker than sample M1.

| Device | Thickness (nm) | PL peak (nm) | Integrated PL (counts/sec) |
|--------|----------------|--------------|-------------------------------|
| M4 | ≈200 | 493 | 25.96E7 |
| M3 | 132.5 | 494 | 14.58E7 |
| M2 | 91.6 | 494 | 5.38E7 |
| M1 | 44.1 | 472 | 1.36E7 |

Table (6) PL peak and integrated PL intensity of the SiQDs films.



Figure (30) PL intensity of the samples M1, M2, M3 and M4 as-grown.

A complete scheme of the experimental set-up for measuring the fabricated electroluminescent structures is depicted in figure (18) in chapter II. The transparent conductive contact (ZnO:Al) is a n-type semiconductor. Therefore, the junction ZnO:Al/SiQDs(SiNx:Cl) can be considered as a Schottky junction [58]. The forward bias is that shown in figure (28) with positive terminal on the active film. All the samples were placed at the same distance from the optical fiber; meanwhile the voltage was applied by time-defined short steps. These short voltage steps in forward and reverse bias (known as "electrical burning") were realized in order to stabilize electrically the structure.

Electroluminescent (EL) spectra of the four samples (figure 31) were obtained in positive and negative bias which indicated negligible resistance regardless of the polarity of the applied voltage in all the devices. However, in most cases higher EL intensities were observed in forward bias than in reverse bias despite the fact that the same electric field was applied. The EL turn on voltages (determined when light emission is detected by the measurement setup in a dark room) increased when thicker SiQDs films were deposited because of the lower electric fields (V/cm) through these samples. Voltage steps of 1 Volt were required to obtain increased EL intensity in M1, M2 and M3 samples, meanwhile, for M4 sample (~200 nm thickness) a slightly change of EL intensity was observed at voltage steps of 2 Volts. EL intensity increased as more current density was injected on each sample indicating a direct relation between injected carriers and activated luminescent centers. The shape of the EL spectra and peak location did not change after a determined applied voltage for all the samples.



Figure (31) Electroluminescence spectra of samples M1, M2, M3 and M4 in forward and reverse bias.

The carrier injection induced electrically is more difficult than the one induced optically since electrically injected carriers have to travel through the dielectric matrix by preferential conductive paths to arrive at silicon quantum dots which may promote connection of the top and bottom electrodes [59]. Thus, it is understandable the much lower EL light emission achieved compared with PL emission (~40 times lower).

The relation between electric field and the integrated electroluminescence intensity in forward bias is depicted in figure (32). The electric field (E) was higher as the thickness of the samples decreased since E=Volts/thickness. Samples M3 and M4 presented lower electric fields and lower integrated EL intensities probably duo to inefficient current injected on thicker active films. Moreover, it is worth to highlight that applied voltages greater than 20V led to breakdown of these structures even though a major film thickness probably by tunneling of hot electrons. Higher electric fields are shown in samples M1 and M2 and also considerably higher integrated EL intensities. However, in spite of the active film of sample M1 is thinner than M2 and had the highest electric field on it, sample M2 showed the highest integrated EL intensities.



Figure (32) Integrated EL intensity against electric field of the light emission devices.



Figure (33) Integrated EL intensity against injected current of the light emission devices.

The latter can be explained by means of the injected current vs EL intensity plot in forward bias (figure 33). From this plot is observed that the raise of EL intensity was related to the increment of leakage current through each device which indicates that EL intensity depends on increment of carriers injected. Almost constant EL intensity was observed in sample M4 revealing inefficient conducting paths in the bulk of the dielectric and therefore very low excited emission centers. Even tough in sample M2 lower electric fields were seen compared to sample M1, its current injection diverged from a straight line from 16 Volts (~12 mA) which gave rise to higher EL intensities. As the EL emission spectra of this sample grew up abruptly under applied voltages it is probable that a higher quantity of interfacial defects in the ZnO:Al/SiQDs interface introduced during fabrication could help to promote carrier injection and consequently conductive paths. Moreover, it has been studied that the roughness at the bottom interface of MIM capacitors promotes higher electric fields and higher currents [60].

As mentioned previously, some of the mechanisms used to explain optical emission in nonstoichiometric amorphous silicon nitride films are: a) the radiative recombination through a quasidirect energy level in silicon quantum dots by quantum confinement effect and, b) defect states in the host matrix or defects in the SiQDs band gap by interface states.

With regard to the optical emission of the devices on glass, the EL spectra in forward bias of samples M1 and M2 showed three well defined peaks, of which only the second one was observed in samples M3 and M4 (Table 7). The latter may be an effect of lower electric fields through these samples and as a result, lower amount of carriers injected to the luminescent centers. It could be possible that in thicker active layers there are less conductive paths than in thinner layers and therefore, less radiative and non-radiative processes take place. Very close EL peaks have been seen before by Pei et al. [61] from highly silicon-rich a-SiN_X:H based light emitting structures in 2.48,

2.21, 2.1 and 1.90 eV. This work correlated these peaks to those energies of defects found theoretically by J. Robertson et al. [47] in amorphous silicon nitride. Pei et al. [61] proposed that emissions between 2.4-2.5, 2.2-2.3 and 1.9-2 eV were originated from different transitions between the Ec (conduction band), \equiv Si⁻, \equiv Si⁰ and =N⁻ defect states in the gap of the matrix which acted as luminescent centers in the hydrogenated a-SiNx.

| Sample | Peak 1 | Peak 2 | Peak 3 |
|-------------------|------------------|----------------------|-----------------|
| M1 (44.1 nm)/15V | ~505 nm/ 2.46 eV | ~559 nm/2.22 eV | ~617 nm/2 eV |
| M2 (91.6 nm)/15V | ~482 nm/2.57 eV | ~560 nm/2.21 eV | ~655 nm/1.89 eV |
| M3 (132.5 nm)/20V | | ~546 nm/2.27 eV | |
| M4 (~200 nm)/20V | | ~544 nm/2.28 eV | |
| T 11 (7) E1 (1 ' | 1 0 1 1 | 1 1 (1) (2) (2 1) | 64.2 0 11.2 |

Table (7) Electroluminescence peaks found in the samples M1, M2, M3 and M4 in forward bias.

Moreover, R. Huang et al. [62] observed two components of EL at 1.75 and 2.25 eV in silicon nanodots embedded in silicon nitride. They found that the emission peaks of the PL bands at different excitation wavelengths were very close to those EL peaks, and explained light emission of these luminescent layers through two mechanisms: a) radiative recombination at silicon dangling bonds in the a-SiNx host matrix (2.25 eV) and b) band to band radiative recombination in the silicon nanodots (1.75 eV). They considered that the dangling bond (K0) center was related to the excitation process and thus, a possible PL mechanism proposed was photogeneration of carriers taking place in these centers, meanwhile radiative recombination occurred in the quantum confined Si nanodots.

Figure (34) depicts the normalized PL and EL spectra of the sample M2 at 15V in which was found the maximum EL emission. From previous works, A. Rodriguez et al. [23] proved that the chemical composition of the films, the morphology, average size and size distribution of the silicon quantum dots did not change in a thickness range of ~30 nm to 4500 nm. They accounted the major contribution of the photoluminescence of these chlorinated Si rich silicon nitride films to the radiative recombination of electron hole-pairs in the silicon nanoparticles, according to the quantum confined model. However, in order to explain the excitation-emission mechanisms in these films it was needed to introduce the concept of band tails by localized states below the conduction band and above the valence band of the silicon nitride matrix (as mentioned in chapter 3). Thus, the energies of absorption Eg1 and Eg2 were related to the energy absorption in band tails and in the silicon nitride matrix, respectively. Additionally, a small absorption band with peak at ~2.5 eV was related to interband optical transitions in the SiQDs which was the origin of PL emission. Moreover, considering that the density of Si nanoparticles in the films is relatively high (about 6E12 particles/cm²) and the average size of the particles is ~3.1 nm [23], it could be reasonable to think about a critical influence on the carrier transport and also electroluminescence from interface states related bonds created between the SiQDs and the host matrix and/or from states originated in the host matrix.

As could be seen in chapter III from the Tauc plot of as-grown SiQDs film (~200 nm), E_{g1} and E_{g2} were 3.4 and 4.04, respectively. Likewise, two absorption peaks were found at 2 and 3.2 eV, respectively. However, distortions in the spectra due to interference effects by the presence of nanodots and not to intrinsic changes are present when the thicknesses of the films are a few hundred nanometers [63]. Therefore, it is more exact to take the peak value of this little absorption

band from that obtained in [23] at 2.5 eV (from 2 to 3 eV). Considering the latter, the observed EL peaks 1 and 2 (\sim 2.57 eV and \sim 2.21 eV for sample M2) at higher energies may be due to radiative recombination in SiQDs, meanwhile the peak 3 at lower energy (1.89 eV) may be originated by defect states in the silicon nitride matrix.



Figure (34) Normalized PL and EL spectra of the sample M2.

The current-voltage curves of the four samples are shown in figure (35). By using these data it is possible to understand the possible conduction mechanisms in the samples, although it is expected a complex behavior of the SiQDs film embedded in a chlorinated matrix due to the presence of silicon nanodots. From the figure, it can be observed samples M3 and M4 presented low current in forward and reverse bias as well as similar trend. Samples M2, M3 and M4 showed slightly higher current in forward bias probably due lower tunneling barrier height. Conversely, the sample M1 showed asymmetry behavior breaking at \sim -12V. This may be due to previous "electric burning" in forward bias and therefore more important damage in the thinnest insulating film by leakage current. Furthermore, it is worth mentioning that the current of all samples in forward and reverse bias were stable just after a few minutes the voltage was applied.



Figure (35) Current-Voltage plot of the electroluminescent devices in forward and reverse bias.

With the aim to discriminate different behavior regions in these curves, the current density-electric field plots in logarithmic scale of the samples with highest luminescence (M1 and M2) in forward bias are depicted in figure (36). Both samples presented two main slopes defining the regions I and II (the red vertical line is the crossing point of both slopes). These regions exhibit different behaviors that can be considered as follows:

1. Low electric field:

For sample 1 0.45< *E* <1.58 MV/cm For sample 2 0.11< *E* <0.65 MV/cm

 High electric field: For sample 1 1.81<*E*<2.94 MV/cm For sample 2 0.87<*E*<1.85 MV/cm

As mentioned previously, at low electric fields and at room temperature an Ohmic mechanism dominates. In this mechanism the current density is related to the electric field by the equation:

$$J = \sigma \boldsymbol{E} = \frac{q n \mu}{d} \, \boldsymbol{V} = const \boldsymbol{V}^{\gamma}$$

where:

σ=conductivity μ=mobility n= carrier concentration q=electric charge d=thickness of the insulating film V=Voltage





Figure (36) Current density vs electric field of the samples M1 and M2.

The fitting of the region I (low field) for samples M1 and M2 is depicted in figure (37). The slope value γ for sample M1 (Th=44.1 nm) was 2.43 which indicated a transport mechanism more complex possibly involving traps states. Moreover, the sample M2 (Th=91.6 nm) had a value of γ =1.28 corresponding to a conduction mechanism limited by spatial charge whose effect limits the injection of carriers to the conduction band of the insulating.



Figure (37) Low field fitting of the transport mechanisms for samples M1 and M2.

Likewise, the Fowler-Nordheim (F-N) Tunneling and Poole-Frenkel (P-F) emission models have been widely used to explain charge transport in silicon quantum dots embedded in an insulating matrix at high fields [14, 62, 64, 65]. F-N tunneling occurs when the applied electric field is large enough so that the electron wave function may penetrate through the triangular potential barrier into the conduction band of the dielectric [56]. Thus, the expression for this mechanism is:

$$J = \frac{AE^2}{\phi_B} \exp[-B\frac{\phi_B^2}{E}]$$

where:

 $A = q^{3}/8\pi hq$ $B = 8\pi (2qm_{T}^{*})^{1/2}/3h$ $\Phi_{B} = \text{barrier high}$ q = electronic charge k = Boltzmann's constant h = Planck's constant $m_{T}^{*} = \text{tunneling effective mass in dielectric}$ E = electric field

Moreover, the Poole-Frenkel emission implicates a mechanism which is very similar to Schottky emission; that is, the thermal excitation of electrons may emit from traps into the conduction band of the dielectric [56]. For a Coulombic attraction potential between electrons and traps, the current density due to the P-F emission is:

$$J = q\mu N_{C} Eexp[-\frac{q(\phi_{T} - \sqrt{(qE/\pi\epsilon_{i}\epsilon_{0})})}{kT}]$$

where:

$$\begin{split} N_{C} &= \text{density of states in the conduction band} \\ q \varphi_{T} (= \Phi_{T}) &= \text{trap energy level} \\ \epsilon_{0} &= \text{permittivity in vacuum} \\ \epsilon_{i} &= \text{dynamic dielectric constant} \\ T &= \text{absolute temperature} \end{split}$$

Additionally, the trap-assisted tunneling (TAT) transport process was also explored. This mechanism is ascribed to defect states into the films which arise in silicon nitride when deposited by RPECVD. The equation for the TAT model is [66]:

$$J = \exp\left[\frac{8\pi\sqrt{2qm^*}}{3hE}\phi_T^2\right]$$

where:

 $m^* =$ effective mass in dielectric $\Phi_T =$ trap energy below the conduction band

The results of the fitting of these models to the current density-electric field data of samples M1 and M2 are summarized in table (8). Considering the standard error like a factor of selection, for the sample M1the trap assisted tunneling mechanism (TAT) fitted better a straight line, followed for P-F and F-N models. In the case of the sample M2, the Fowler-Nordheim (F-N) mechanism was the best fitting followed for the P-F and TAT models.

The prevalence of the TAT mechanism observed in sample M1 (Th=44 nm) can be explained as carriers in localized states traps in the band gap of the silicon nitride are more easily excited out of these traps to the anode or other traps into the dielectric under an electric field. Additionally, interface states in the ZnO:Al/SiQDs junction at the bottom of the MIM structure due to higher roughness of the ZnO:Al film when deposited on glass are an important factor for leakage current. Likewise, the F-N tunneling could be a principal carrier transport process in the sample M2 since higher thicknesses promotes the tunneling of hot carriers which was confirmed by highest current seen through this device. The plots of the F-N, P-F and TAT fittings of each sample are shown in figure (38).

| Sample M1 | Fitting range | Slope | Sample M2 | Fitting range | Slope |
|--------------|---------------|------------------|--------------|---------------|-----------------|
| | (MV/cm) | | | (MV/cm) | |
| Pool-Frenkel | 1.81-2.94 | 3.44 ± 0.28 | F- N | 0.87-1.85 | -1.2 ± 0.134 |
| TAT | 1.81-2.94 | -8.35 ± 0.19 | TAT | 0.87-1.85 | -3.76 ± 0.2 |
| F-N | 1.81-2.94 | $-3.78 \pm .28$ | Pool-Frenkel | 0.87-1.85 | 3.55 ± 0.15 |

Table (8) Data of the fitting mechanisms of the devices M1 and M2.

An image illustrating the connection between silicon nanodots through wide band regions (silicon nitride) is shown in figure (39a). An electric field will be strong in the silicon nitride regions of the microscopic structure because of their higher resistivity and lower dielectric constant [67]. Compared with silicon dioxide, silicon nitride has a lower band gap (~5 eV) and then, higher probability of carriers tunneling from silicon nanodots. Since the electroluminescence from the fabricated samples was observable at relatively high voltages (≥ 10 Volts), it is expected a large bending of the conduction and valence bands of the silicon nanodots and the insulating.



Figure (38) F-N, P-F and TAT fitting mechanisms of samples M1 and M2.

A band diagram of the MIM structure under high electric field in forward bias is depicted in figure (39b). ϕ_M is the work function of the metal, ϕ_{B1} is the barrier height formed at the interface ZnO:Al/SiQDs and ϕ_{B2} is the barrier height of the interface Al/SiQDs.

From the last figure, carriers are injected in forward bias from the cathode to the anode. As mentioned earlier at the beginning of this chapter, the carrier transport in insulating films can be due to thermal excitation of electrons above the barrier (1), tunneling of carriers from the cathode to the conduction band through the barrier (2), tunneling of carriers from localized states to the conduction band of the dielectric (3), tunneling from the valence band of the dielectric to the anode (4) or tunneling between localized states (5) among others.

In the transport processes of the SiQDs-based devices must be considered that the silicon nanodots are uniformly distributed in the volume inside the insulator which allows direct tunneling between them. Thus, at higher electric fields energetic electrons from the cathode may tunneling to the conduction band of a nanodot, where they are accelerated to the conduction band of the neighboring one creating an electron-hole pair by impact ionization; likewise, the incoming hot electrons may originate holes in the valence band of the silicon nanodots by the same process. Additionally, an energetic electron from the valence band of the silicon nanodot may tunnel to the conduction band of the neighboring one giving rise to electrons-holes pairs which are able to recombine radiatively [67]. Additionally, localized states could act as luminescent centers since a peak emission attributed to them was observed previously in the EL spectrum of samples M1 and M2. From moderate to high electric fields, electrons in traps can be excited to the conduction band of the dielectric where thermalizes and then becomes re-trapped at another localized state until eventually it can be captured by a radiative or non-radiative center. Also, it is possible that an electron in a trap state in the insulator recombines with a hole in the dielectric valence band.





Figure (39a) Scheme of silicon nanocrystals attach to a wide-gap dielectric and (39b) Band diagram of the MIM structure of the fabricated devices.

4.5 Conclusions

Four samples based on SiQDs were fabricated using different thicknesses. As expected, electric field increased when the thickness of the active film decreased finding higher radiative intensities in samples M1 and M2. However, it was observed that electroluminescent emission intensity did not depend completely on thickness since EL intensity was higher in sample M2 than M1. Highest current injection was found in sample M2 probably due to interface states generated during fabrication in the ZnO:Al/SiQDs interface since the integrated EL intensity vs. Current injected plot was not lineal. Likewise, samples M1 and M2 presented three peaks which were very close to those found for some authors in silicon nitride matrixes. These authors related these peaks to different transitions between the conduction band and defect states like $\equiv Si^{-}$, $\equiv Si^{0}$ and $=N^{-}$ in the gap of the matrix. The latter can be possible since it is well known that silicon nitride deposited by PECVD system incorporates a great amount of defects in the matrix. Nevertheless, the origin of peaks 1 and 2 was attributed to emission in silicon nanodots. Therefore, quantum confinement and interface states in the silicon nitride matrix should be considered to explain radiative processes. The samples M1 and M2 showed the highest current densities and integrated EL intensity, as well as the lowest EL turn-on voltage. The trap assisted tunneling (TAT) conduction mechanism fitted well the sample M1. This might be due to higher electric fields through this device activating more easily the traps into the thin dielectric. Moreover, the Fowler-Nordheim tunneling fitted better sample M2. It was found that the thickness of this sample (Th=91.6 nm) had the better electrical properties at low and high electric fields to be implemented in subsequent processes.

CHAPTER V. Photoluminescence enhancement

Materials engineering is now being actively applied to Si in an attempt to overcome the low efficient emission from silicon based structures. Some explored alternatives include doping of impurity centers (for example rare earth impurities, carbon complexes and sulfur-oxygen complexes) to induce recombination at them, to use hybrid methods for integrating direct gap materials with silicon, multilayers structures and more recently to employ the coupling of metal nanostructures in the vicinity of SiQDs films to enhance light emission. In this chapter the optical properties of gold nanostructures deposited by sputtering in the vicinity of SiQDs are studied for the purpose of improving radiative emission from the active film.

5.1 Luminescent films in the vicinity of nanostructured noble metals

Biteen et al. [16] showed the first evidence of PL enhancement from SiQDs coupled to gold nanostructures and reported on a separation distance resolved study of radiative decay rate. Moreover, the enhancement or quenching of PL of silicon nanocrystals in the vicinity of silver nanoparticles (NP) has been reported [68]. These groups are characterized by using expensive sample preparation methods like ion implantation to form SiQDs. Additionally, electroluminescent enhancement has also been proved in light emission diodes by coupling of the silicon nanoparticles to silver nanostructures [17, 18, 69].

One possible cause proposed to explain the increased luminescence is that small metal particles (\leq 20nm) or even metal nanostructures strongly concentrate electric fields, so an enhanced local field is presented about the metal through a kind of plasmonic effect. Thus, a silicon nanocrystal in this enhanced field will have an altered optical density of states which will enhance the decay rate of the SiQDs emission [16]. Also, the roughness effect on the surface of metal nanostructures has been considered a factor that helps its coupling with active films of silicon nanocrystals [16, 70, 71]. However, a plasmonic effect in systems like these has been challenged because of the required metal nanoparticle size and the required distance to them to obtain the enhanced fields.

Considering the foregoing it was proposed to build multilayered structures by coupling silicon nanocrystals to gold nanostructures. For its fabrication, Remote Plasma Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition (RPECVD) and Sputtering techniques were combined into a method which had a very strong rapport with those used in the microelectronics industry, i.e. dry, low temperature, economical and fast depositions.

5.2 Gold nanostructures fabricated by sputtering

In order to get coupling between Au nanostructures and silicon nanocrystals embedded in a silicon nitride matrix, three different deposition conditions for gold were studied. Gold monolayers were deposited by DC sputtering technique in Argon ambient on glass. The dimensions of the nanostructures were well controlled through the reader display screen of the equipment instead of time. The repeatability of the depositions was verified throughout different optical absorption spectra of the samples using the same conditions and SEM images. Silicon, glass and quartz substrates were cleaned following the cleaning steps of section 3.4.2 (big change on the morphology of these structures deposited on silicon or glass was not found). The gold thicknesses studied were:

| Sample | Thickness (nm) |
|--------|----------------|
| Au-A | 1 |
| Au-B | 5 |
| Au-C | 10 |

Table (9) Thicknesses of the very thin films of gold deposited by sputtering.

It is worth mentioning that the thickness value was considered just a control parameter since the real morphology of these gold layers was unknown at this point.

Because silicon nanodots are deposited by the RPECVD technique at 300°C, it was necessary to study the morphological and optical properties of the metal structures undergoing this thermal treatment. In order to do this, the samples were cured in a conventional furnace for one hour in N_2 ambient.

5.2.1 Morphological and optical characterization

SEM images of the Au-B and Au-C samples deposited on glass, both as-grown and cured are shown in figures 40c, d and 40e, f respectively. Additionally, the figures 40a,b show the HRTEM and SEM images of the Au-A sample both deposited on silicon as-grown and after thermal treatment, respectively.

The samples with thickness of 5 nm and 10 nm (Au-B, Au-C) presented a high coalescence after thermal treatment. The 5 nm sample gave rise to particles of circular and ellipsoidal shapes surrounded by other smaller ones of the same shape. Moreover, the 10 nm gold deposition produced long worm-like shapes with increased distance between them (~15-70 nm) compared with the asgrown sample. HRTEM micrograph of the 1 nm thickness sample (Au-A) depicts particles of well-defined semispherical shapes and well distributed. It can be observed from the SEM image of this sample (figure 40b), that the size and distribution of these nanoparticles did not change considerably after thermal annealing.



Figure (40) As-grown sample- Au-A deposited on silicon (40a) and SEM image of this sample after thermal treatment (40b). SEM images of the samples Au-B and Au-C deposited on glass both as-grown and cured are 40(c, d) and 40(e, f), respectively.

AFM images in topographic mode of the Au-B (left) and Au-C (right) samples after thermal treatments are shown in figure (41). The image of the Au-B sample (5 nm thickness) confirmed the coalescence of gold after thermal annealing to form particles. In addition, the morphology of the Au-C sample (10 nm thickness) showed long and broad islands. The average roughness of these
samples was 1.62 nm and 8.73 nm, respectively. Particles of the Au-A sample (1 nm thickness) could not be detected by this technique.



Figure (41) AFM images in topographic mode of the samples Au-B (left) and Au-C (right) after thermal treatment at 300° C in N₂ atmosphere.

Electrons in metals are quasi-free in the ground state. They can freely move through the crystalline structure of the metal since are not bound to a single atom. High conductivity and high optical reflectivity are two of the main properties of metals. When an electromagnetic wave with electric field E(r, w) interact with a metal, a dynamical polarization P(r, w) is created because of the electron cloud oscillates. P(r, w) expresses how far the electric field succeeds in displacing the electrons relative to the core atoms. Qualitatively, the electron cloud of the particle is entirely probed by the electric field if metal nanoparticles have sizes much smaller than the wavelength of light and the penetration depth of the field (i. e. particle size around 20 nm or less). Polarization of the whole assembly of electrons creates surface charges that accumulate alternately on opposite ends of the particle like a dipole. An electric field opposed to the excitation field is created by oscillating polarization of the particles and gives rise in a restoring force. Then, oscillation is partially damped. The damping occurs through two channels: creation of heat and light scattering. The whole system can be explained as a dipolar oscillator characterized by a resonance frequency $\omega_{plasmon}$ called Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance (LSPR). The plasmon resonance appears in the visible or near-infrared range for gold or silver nanoparticles. If a light beam travels through an assembly of homogeneous nanoparticles, this can be partially absorbed at the plasmon resonance frequency. The emerging beam will display a spectrum with a sharp absorption at ω_{plasmon} , and at the same time the nanoparticles exhibit light scattering with a cross section much larger than conventional dye. Moreover, LSPR strongly depends on the environment surrounded the particle surface [72]. The physical properties of metallic small nanoparticles and nanostructures are relevant to this work since some groups have studied the influence of LSPR in PL and EL enhancement [16-18, 73, 74].

In order to know the wavelength of optical absorption of the samples Au-A, Au-B and Au-C, their UV-vis spectra after cured at 300°C in air were obtained (figure 42). Surface plasmon resonance of Au-A sample was located at 525 nm. The Au-B sample showed red-shift absorption as well as a

more intense and broader peak at 551 nm. Finally, a wide absorption band was observed for the Au-C sample with a peak at 594 nm.



Figure (42) Absorbance spectra of samples Au-A, Au-B and Au-C cured at 300°C surrounded by air.

The statistical analysis of gold nanoparticles of sample Au-A was carried out through the counting of more than 1000 particles from HRTEM micrographs. The results obtained for this sample were: density (ρ) = 2.52E12 particles/cm² and diameter (d) = 2.9 nm (figure 43).



Figure (43) Histogram of the size distribution of nanoparticles in the sample Au-A.

The measurement of the particles of the Au-B sample was done from a SEM imagen. For the particles of semispherical shape the average diameter was d = 12.63 nm, and for the particles of elongated shape the average major axis was l=21.12 nm and the average minor axis was s=13.28 nm.

Moreover, the covered surface of gold nanoparticles was 18.12% for Au-A sample. For Au-B sample were considered circular and ellipsoidal areas resulting in a covered surface of ~65%

5.3 Coupling of SiQDs and Au nanostructures fields

Although at moment it is not well understood the kind of optical interaction that gives rise light enhancement from structures fabricated with silicon quantum dots in the vicinity of metal nanostructures, it has been observed that the distance achieved between these materials plays an essential role in the interaction of their electric fields and consequently in light emission. Taking this into account, it was proposed to use a non-radiative silicon nitride film (SiNx) between the metal nanostructures and silicon quantum dots in order to get a well-defined and variable separation between them. In order to do this, the same RPECVD system could be used with different parameters to get chemically different thin films sequentially. The physical and chemical characteristics of these non-radiative layers have been studied in previous works [75], where it was proved that high ammonia flow rates (\geq 300 sccm) decrease the size and density of SiQDs in the films and consequently the integrated PL intensity. The parameters used to get this non-emissive silicon nitride film (SiNx) by RPECVD system were:

| NH ₃ Flow rate (sccm) | SiH ₂ Cl ₂ Flow rate (sccm) | H ₂ Flow rate (sccm) | Ar Flow rate (sccm) | Substrate temperature (°C) | Power of plasma (Watts) | Chamber pressure (mTorrs) |
|---|---|---------------------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| 600 | 5 | 20 | 75 | 300 | 150 | 300 |

To compare the optical characteristics of the layers grown with these parameters with those of SiQDs, two films of similar thickness were deposited using ammonia flow rates of 600 and 200 sccm. Silicon substrates underwent the conventional cleaning mentioned before. From Tauc plots the band gap of these samples were obtained. The SiNx layer showed a gap close to the stoichiometric value of Si_3N_4 of 5. As expected, the band gap of the SiQDs layer was lower than that of SiNx as it contains a higher content of silicon. Moreover, it has been studied that lower N/Si ratio result in increased number of silicon dangling bonds while high N/Si ratio will make the film more insulating [76] which is consistent with the band gap values obtained for these films. Also, because of refractive index of silicon is ~4, the SiQDs film presented slightly higher refractive index than that of the SiNx layer.

| NH ₃ Flow | Sample | Thickness (nm) | Refractive index | Band gap (eV) |
|----------------------|----------------------|----------------|-------------------------|---------------|
| 200 sccm | SiQDs (silicon rich) | 97.9 | 1.84 | 4.04 |
| 600 sccm | SiNx (nitride rich) | 96.5 | 1.78 | 4.68 |

Table (10) Thickness, refractive index and optical band gap of the samples with 200 and 600 sccm NH₃ flow rate.

Fourier transform infrared spectra of these films are depicted in figure (44). The SiQDs film showed the typical Si-N (840cm⁻¹), N-H (1180 cm⁻¹), N-H (3350 cm⁻¹) and Si-H (2193 cm⁻¹) peaks. However, the Si-H bond was not observed in the SiNx sample. This bond found in SiQDs layers can be ascribed to higher silicon concentration, then, additional silicon atoms can combine with hydrogen atoms to form Si-H bonds in the films. In this way two different types of silicon nitride layers could be deposited by RPECVD system: one silicon rich and another one nitride rich.



Figure (44) FTIR spectra of the SiQDs and SiNx films.

Photoluminescence spectra of these two chemically different films are shown in figure (45). The integrated PL intensity of the SiQDs film is 22 times higher than that of SiNx dielectric layer due to high density of silicon nanodots. Therefore, it could be proved that a flow rate of 600 sccm of ammonia gas as precursor produced non-radiative silicon nitride films.



Figure (45) Comparison between emission spectra of SiQDs film (200 sccm of NH_3) and non-radiative film (600 sccm NH_3). Both films are about the same thickness.

According to [30, 31] a surface plasmon (SP) coupling should be within the exponentially decayed SP evanescent field. Since the SP is an evanescent wave that exponentially decays with distance from the metal surface, only electron-hole pairs located within the near-field of the surface can couple to the SP mode.

The penetration depth (ζ) of the SP NPs field into the insulating can be defined as:

$$\zeta = \frac{\lambda}{2\pi} \left[\frac{\left(\varepsilon_{d}^{'} - \varepsilon_{m}^{'} \right)}{(\varepsilon_{d}^{'})^{2}} \right]$$

where ε'_{d} and ε'_{m} are the real parts of the dielectric and metal, respectively and λ is the wavelength of light [30]. Obtaining the real part of the dielectric constant of SiQDs film from its refractive index ($n=\sqrt{(\varepsilon_R)}$) $\varepsilon_R=3.38$, and considering the real part of the dielectric constant of gold as -7.6; by using the emission wavelength of SiQDs film at 505 nm, the penetration depth is 78.8 nm.

However, metallic behavior becomes size dependent and very thin layers fragment into clusters which have different optical properties than the bulk. Gold with effective thickness below 10 nm is usually not a continuous medium but has the topology of heterogeneous clusters with a connectivity that goes through a percolation transition [77]

Furthermore, Biteen et al. [16] obtained maximum PL enhancement from coupling of nanoporous gold and silicon nanocrystals implanted in a SiO_2 matrix when the interdistance between these materials varied. The distance between gold nanostructures and silicon nanoparticles for achieving maximum PL enhancement was ~10 nm.

Becoming acquainted with the aforementioned, SiNx films of varying thickness sandwiched between Au nanostructures and SiQDs were deposited systematically. Deposits of 1 nm and 5 nm thickness of Au were chosen because of semispherical and bean like-shapes obtained.

5.3.1 Fabrication process steps

For each deposition condition was prepared a sample with gold and another one without it as a reference. Thickness of the chemically different silicon nitride films were controlled by time and supported by color table when possible. The cleaning procedure for silicon and quartz substrates was the same employed in section 3.4.2.

The processing steps used to fabricate the structures were:

- 1. Gold deposition by sputtering technique on one of the samples. Thickness (Th): 1 or 5 nm
- 2. Deposition of the SiNx film by RPECVD system. Deposition time: 0, 30, 60, 90, 120 or 150 seconds.
- Deposition of the silicon quantum dots embedded in a SiNx:Cl matrix by RPECVD system. Deposition time: 8 min 30 sec. Th: 90±5 nm

Sketches of the layered structures fabricated to investigate enhancement or quenching of photoluminescence are shown in figure (46).



Figure (46) Layered structures (a) c-Si/SiNx/SiQDs and (b) c-Si/Au/SiNx/SiQDs.

A summary defining each sample and the corresponding deposition time for the different layers is presented in table (11).

| Sample | Au thickness (nm) | Deposition time of SiNx layer | Deposition time of embedded SiQDs |
|-------------|-------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| | | | layer |
| D0 | | 0 | 8 min 30seg |
| D0Au | 1 | 0 | 8 min 30seg |
| D30 | | 30 | 8 min 30seg |
| D30Au | 1 | 30 | 8 min 30seg |
| D60 | | 60 | 8 min 30seg |
| D60Au | 1 | 60 | 8 min 30seg |
| D90 | | 90 | 8 min 30seg |
| D90Au | 1 | 90 | 8 min 30seg |
| D120 | | 120 | 8 min 30seg |
| D120Au | 1 | 120 | 8 min 30seg |
| D150 | | 150 | 8 min 30seg |
| D150Au | 1 | 150 | 8 min 30seg |
| EO | | 0 | 8 min 30seg |
| E0Au | 5 | 0 | 8 min 30seg |
| E30 | | 30 | 8 min 30seg |
| E30Au | 5 | 30 | 8 min 30seg |
| E60 | | 60 | 8 min 30seg |
| E60Au | 5 | 60 | 8 min 30seg |
| E90 | | 90 | 8 min 30seg |
| E90Au | 5 | 90 | 8 min 30seg |
| E120 | | 120 | 8 min 30seg |
| E120Au | 5 | 120 | 8 min 30seg |

Table (11) The samples prepared at different conditions.

5.3.2 Optical characterization

Absorbance spectra of the SiNx dielectric layer on quartz, AuNPs(1nm)/SiQDs and AuNPs(5nm)/ SiQDs layered structures on glass are shown in figure (47). The SiNx dielectric is transparent for all SiQDs emission spectrum. Surface plasmon resonance of the layered structures with 1 nm and 5 nm thickness of AuNPs were red-shifted to 547 nm and 594 nm, respectively. The latter is in accordance with the fact that the surrounded medium plays a role in the plasmon resonance through its optical index n linked to the dielectric permittivity (the higher the optical index, the higher the plasmon resonance).



Figure (47) Absorbance spectra of the SiNx dielectric layer, AuNPs(1nm)/SiQDs and AuNPs(5nm)/SiQDs layered structures.

Photoluminescence measurements were obtained with a He-Cd laser of 325 nm at room temperature. PL spectra of samples with 1 nm thickness of gold nanoparticles and SiNx dielectric layer using deposition times of 0, 30, 60 and 90 sec before deposition of the active film are shown in figure (48). As can be observed from the figure, at 0 sec of the SiNx layer, the sample with AuNPs and its reference did not show any change in PL intensity and peak shift. The sample D30Au (deposition time of 30 sec for the SiNx layer between AuNPs and SiQDs) showed slightly PL enhancement and red shift with regard to its reference. When the SiNx layer was grown 60 sec (corresponding to a thickness of ~10 nm) it was found an almost 2-fold PL intensity enhancement from the coupled structure with respect to its reference one and also slight red shift. Samples with 90 sec of the SiNx layer (figure 48d) showed very close PL intensity and no red shift was observed from the sample with AuNPs. Finally, the samples D120Au and D150Au had similar behavior as they did not present significant enhancement, quenching or peak shift with regard to their references.

As it was mentioned before, other research groups have studied luminescence of metal-SiQDs structures as their separation distance get closer. They showed a Gaussian type PL enhancement

ratio relative to their reference. This latter is not just an effect of bringing closer different material nanoparticles, but probably an effect of different particle density distribution through determined distances. Consequently, it was difficult to define a maximum PL enhancement for a defined density concentration and separation distance among metal nanoparticles and silicon nanocrystals. In our experiment the homogeneous distribution achieved of the metallic monolayer and SiQDs radiative film let us to identify clearly that there is a well specific separation distance between the AuNPs/SiQDs to attain maximum light enhancement from the system. It is worth mentioning that methodical reproduction of the experiment confirmed 10±2 nm of SiNx thickness in our structures in order to achieve maximum light enhancement.



Figure (48) Four different configurations of the proposed structures using SiNx layers of 0, 30, 60 and 90 seconds. Deposition time was adjusted to obtain thickness of the SiQDs films of ~90 nm. For each configuration there was one sample used as reference without AuNPs deposited on the silicon substrate for comparative purposes.

Furthermore, the same structure was proved with AuNPs of 5 nm thickness using deposition times of 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 sec for growing the SiNx film before the SiQDs layer. No enhancement or quenching of PL intensity was observed for each deposition time of the SiNx dielectric layer from the samples with AuNPs with respect to their references, although in all cases was found slight red shift. The PL spectra of four of these structures are shown in figure (49).



Figure (49) Comparative spectra of samples prepared for 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 sec of SiNx dielectric layer sandwiched between the AuNPs of 5 nm thickness and SiQDs.

Integrated PL intensity ratio of the samples with 1 and 5 nm gold thicknesses with respect to their references is depicted in figure (50). As can be seen, for 60 sec of the SiNx layer (10 ± 2 nm) between AuNPs of 1 nm thickness (2.9 nm diameter) and the SiQDs film was found the highest integrated PL intensity ratio of 2.1. On the other hand, integrated PL intensity ratio of the samples with AuNPs of 5 nm thickness was practically constant for any deposition time of the SiNx dielectric layer.



Figure (50) Integrated PL intensity ratio of the samples with 1 and 5 nm gold thicknesses with respect to their references.

5.4 Conclusions

In this chapter the dependence of the emission efficiency was studied systematically in multilayered structures as a function of the size of gold AuNPs and the distance between gold nanostructures and silicon quantum dots.

Maximum enhancement of photoluminescence was observed in the structure with gold nanoparticles of average size of 2.9 nm (1 nm thickness) separated from the active film about 10 nm. These particles could not be detected with a high resolution cantilever by AFM. The efficiency found could be originated by a change of the scattering mechanisms of the primary light or the emission from luminescent centers by the presence of gold nanoparticles. Another possible explanation of this enhancement is by coupling of the emission from SiQDs and the absorption of small metal nanoparticles (localized surface plasmon resonance). The latter reason may be possible as emission of SiQDs (505 nm) was found close to the absorption peak of gold nanoparticles of 2.9 nm size (547 nm).

Moreover, it was not observed any enhancement or quenching in the layered structures with 5 nm thickness AuNPs using different interdistances of the SiNx film but slight red-shift.

CHAPTER VI. Metal-insulator-semiconductor devices

Until now, the power efficiency of SiQDs light emitting diodes (LEDs) is very low and therefore it is difficult for them to fulfil the demands of optical interconnections. In order to overcome this deficiency some groups have studied increased radiative recombination rate by coupling excitons to localized surface plasmons in metal nanostructures. Other groups have sought to improve the EL extraction efficiency increasing the flow of light emitted from the active layer by the modification of the surface morphology.

Considering the above, it was proposed to manufacture light emission devices using some of these configurations. Thus, in this section the electrical and optical properties of metal-insulating-semiconductor (MIS) based devices were studied to investigate the behavior of the most efficient multilayered structures previously fabricated in chapter V when they were electrically excited.

6.1 Metal-insulator-semiconductor capacitors

For the study of semiconductor surfaces the metal-insulator-semiconductor (MIS) capacitor is the most useful device since most practical problems in the reliability and stability of all semiconductor devices are deeply related to their surface conditions. Likewise, metal-oxide-semiconductor (MOS) capacitor case is directly related to most silicon planar devices and integrated circuits. The MOS capacitor (fig. 51) is made of a semiconductor body or substrate, an insulator film, and a metal electrode entitled a gate. The silicon dioxide as insulator can be as thin as 1.5 nm. The metal-oxide-structure is part of the MOS transistor which is the most widely used semiconductor device. An MOS capacitor with two PN junctions flanking the capacitor is the MOS transistor.



In an apparently simple MOS structure the surface effects that arise are actually quite complicated. Those effects which control typical MOS transistor operation are accumulation, depletion and inversion depending on the gate voltage applied to the device (see Appendix A).

Additionally, the equilibrium MOS structure is affected by charges in the insulator and at the semiconductor-oxide interface. Alkali metal ions (particularly Na⁺) can be incorporated inadvertently in the oxide during growth or subsequent processing steps. Sodium ions introduce

positive charges (Q_m) in the oxide, which in turn induce negative charges in the semiconductor. The number of ions involved and their distance from the semiconductor surface determine the effect of such positive ionic charges in the oxide. As expected, the negative charge induced in the semiconductor is greater if the Na⁺ ions are near the interface than if they are farther away. In the case of SiO₂, trapped charges (Q₀) also exist due to imperfections. In addition to oxide charges, a set of positive charges arises from *interface states* at the Si-SiO₂ interface. These charges called Q_{it} result from the sudden termination of the semiconductor crystal lattice at the oxide interface. There is a transition layer (SiO_x) containing fixed charges (Q_f) near the interface. This charge depends on issues as oxidation rate, subsequent heat treatment, and also on crystal orientation. These type of charges can affect some important parameters in a device as current injection, threshold and breakdown voltage. Then, in order to build an efficient MOS device it is desirable to keep as low as possible the number of these charges [78].

6.2 First stage of fabrication of metal-insulator-semiconductor devices based on SiQDs

The fabrication of metal insulating semiconductor devices (MIS) in this chapter had the aim of studying the electroluminescence of the most important configurations engineered in the previous section. Two main issues were worth noting to try to understand:

- a) The effect on injected current and electroluminescence of a very thin film of silicon nitride (SiNx) dielectric layer (10 nm thickness) grown by using 600 sccm flow rate of ammonia.
- b) The effect on injected current and electroluminescence of AuNPs (2.9 nm diameter) compared with reference samples without gold, with the aim to observe enhancement or quenching of light emission.

In order to accomplish this task, two different processes named P1 and P2 were carried out. Each process used a reference sample to compare the electrical properties. The layered structures are summarized as follows:

Process 1:

PR1) c-Si/SiQDs/ZnO:Al

P1) c-Si/AuNPs(1nm thickness)/SiQDs/ZnO:Al

Process 2:

PR2) c-Si/SiNx dielectric(10nm)/SiQDs/ZnO:Al

P2) c-Si/AuNPs(1nm thickness)/SiNx dielectric(10nm)/SiQDs/ZnO:Al

6.2.1 Fabrication process steps

Quartz and p-type crystalline silicon of $1 \times 1 \text{cm}^2$ were used as substrates. Some authors have reported the use of p-type silicon substrates since the Si/SiNx valence band offset (1.9 eV) is smaller than the conduction band offset (2.1 eV) [66]. Then, the hole conduction is regarded as the main conducting mechanism in silicon nitride. For these devices, the ZnO:Al metal oxide was used as the top transparent conductive contact deposited using the same parameters of section 2.1.3. Therefore, the fabrication process steps were:

- Standard silicon wafer cleaning (Solvent clean, RCA I and RCA II). Cleaning of quartz was the same employed in section 3.4.2.
- Gold deposition by sputtering technique.
 - Thickness (Th): 1 nm
- Deposition of the silicon nitride (SiNx) dielectric film by RPECVD system.
 - Deposition time: 60 sec. Thickness: 10±2 nm
- Deposition of SiQDs embedded in a SiNx:Cl matrix by RPECVD system.
 - Thickness (Th): 80±5 nm
- Deposition of ZnO:Al by ultrasonic spray pyrolysis as the TCC.
 - Thickness (Th): $1\pm0.2 \ \mu m$
- Deposition of aluminum on the back of the sample by thermal evaporation.
 - Thickness: 100±10 nm

After the process was completed, the samples were cleaved into pieces of 2x2 mm by means of a pattern. It is worth mentioning that just ~30% of the devices in each sample had a diode like behavior. The rest of the devices presented high leakage current, which were those probably located on the edge of the samples where higher amount of defects are found. Despite the above it can be said that the reproducibility of the functional structures was proved as the electrical and optical properties of some of the samples fabricated afterwards were very similar. The schemes of the four layered structures are depicted in figure (52). Additionally, the SEM images of the cross section of the PR2 and P2 samples are shown in figure (53); a line separating the SiNx and SiQDs layers was not observed by this technique.



Figure (52) Electroluminescent structures used to prove the effect of AuNPs (2.9 nm) and the 10 nm thickness SiNx dielectric layer (images are not in scale).



Figure (53) SEM images of the PR2 (a) and P2 (b) samples. The thin SiNx layer in these samples was not detected by this technique.

6.2.2 Optical and electrical characterization

The optical and electrical measurements of the light emission devices were carried out using the measurement set up of section 2.2.9. Forward bias was considered when the cathode electrode was on the ZnO:Al (Fig. 54). These structures also undergo an electrical annealing in forward and reverse bias in order to create conductive paths through the dielectric.



Figure (54) Forward bias connection of the MIS structures and EL emission imagen of the P2 sample.

From each sample (PR1, P1, PR2, and P2) the three devices with best performance were chosen, i.e. those possessing the highest intensity during the bias voltage ramping. Afterwards, another selection was made in order to get only one device from each sample. The electroluminescence spectra measured in a dark room at room temperature of the four chosen devices at different voltages are shown in the figure (55).

All the samples showed broad electroluminescent emission only in forward bias at room temperature with the maximum intensity peak centered at around 600 nm. The peak position for samples PR1, PR2 and P2 remained at the same wavelength when different voltages were applied; on the other hand the peak position of the sample P1 had a slight red-shift. As can be seen for samples PR1 and P1 without the SiNx layer, the EL turn on voltages were 18V and 14V, respectively, lower for the sample with AuNPs. In these samples voltage steps of 2V were required to observe increased intensity in the emission curves. For the samples PR2 and P2 with the thin SiNx layer, the EL turn on voltages were 14V and 11V, respectively. The EL spectra of the PR2 sample were obtained using voltage steps of 2V, whereas for the P2 sample (also with gold nanoparticles) a well-defined growth in intensity was observed when applied 1V steps. Therefore, the samples P1and P2 with gold nanoparticles showed lower EL turn on voltages.



Figure (55) Electroluminescence spectra of samples P1, P2, PR1, and PR2 in forward bias.

In order to investigate the origin of the observed EL spectra and EL turn on voltages, a plot of the integrated electroluminescence intensity against injected current of each sample is shown in figure (56). At first glance the PR1 and P1 samples without the SiNx layer showed very similar trend for the integrated EL intensity. However, it can be observed that the plotted points of the P1 sample with AuNPs corresponding to applied voltages from 14V to 26V indicated higher current injection as well as higher integrated EL intensity compared with the corresponding points from 18V to 26V of the PR1 sample. Gold nanoparticles could enhance luminescence intensity in the P1 sample due to increased injection of electrons and holes to the conduction and valence bands in the silicon nitride matrix, respectively. Even though the morphology of gold nanoparticles deposited on silicon was not distinguished by AFM and the roughness of this monolayer was very low (see appendix B), the electric field could increase at AuNPs location and influence a conduction mechanism of carriers as tunneling [60, 69].

Likewise, for the PR2 and P2 samples also with the very thin SiNx layer the behavior of the integrated electroluminescence vs. current injected was lineal being the slope of the P2 sample (with AuNPs) higher than that of PR2. Although the current was about the same in both samples at 14V, the integrated EL intensity in sample P2 was 4.6 times higher than in sample PR2 which denoted improved carrier injection to the luminescent centers. From this applied voltage, the growth of EL intensity as well as current injected in the P2 sample was greater.

The EL enhancement observed for these devices with and without gold nanoparticles as a function of the electric field is plotted in figure (57). The EL enhancement is defined as the ratio of integrated EL intensities of samples with AuNPs (P1 and P2) and reference samples (PR1 and PR2) when the same electric field is applied. A maximum EL enhancement of 1.79 was found at 2.25 MV/cm for samples PR1 and P1, and decreased as higher electric fields were applied. The EL enhancement of samples PR2 and P2, with only two comparative points, raised when increasing the electric field and had a maximum ratio of 5.94 at 2MV/cm.



Figure (56) Integrated electroluminescence intensity vs injected current of the P1, P2, PR1 and "PR2 samples.



Figure (57) EL enhancement of the fabricated LEDs.

The current density vs. electric field of samples PR1, P1, PR2, and P2 are plotted in figures (58a) and (58b). Lower threshold voltage and higher current density injection was observed in the P1 sample with AuNPs than in the sample PR1 in forward bias. On the other hand, the P2 sample showed higher threshold voltage and higher current density from 2MV/cm than the reference sample PR2 in forward bias. However, the PR2 sample presented slightly higher current density at low electric fields (~0-2MV) than P2 sample. Additionally, the current density in reverse bias was very low up to ~-3MV/cm for samples with gold nanoparticles (P1 and P2), meanwhile it did not show any increment for the PR1 sample in all the measured range. The sample PR2, with the thin SiNx layer, presented increased current density in reverse bias from 0.5MV/cm; however, it was not detected radiative emission from this sample probably due to reduced carrier transport and inefficient radiative recombination when compared with forward bias. Therefore, the increase in carrier injection in the P1 and P2 samples (when positive polarization is applied) with respect to their references could be attributed to the presence of AuNPs which enhanced the inhomogeneous local electric field at the interface between silicon substrate and the dielectric film [60]. This higher carrier density injected to the bulk accounts for the improved electroluminescence intensity before observed.



Figure (58) Current density-Electric field plots of the fabricated electroluminescent devices PR1, P1 (a), and PR2, P2 (b).

With the aim to recognize the electric field regions of these curves, its log-log plots are shown in the inset of figures (58a) and (58b). The fitting at low electric fields of all the samples gave rise to a slope γ close to 2, indicating a space charge limited current mechanism in which the current is dominated by charge carriers injected from the electrodes.

To further understand the role of gold nanoparticles and the thin SiNx in the fabricated samples, the current-voltage plots for three different devices of each structure are shown in figure (59). A double asterisk denotes the samples PR1, P1, PR2, P2. It can be noticed a repetitive behavior in those devices with AuNPs in forward and reverse bias, which suggests that these particles could help to constraint and/or distribute carriers at the c-Si/dielectric interface. The latter behavior was not observed in samples without metal nanoparticles where different threshold voltages were observed. Additionally, the reference devices with the SiNx layer (c-Si/SiNx/SiQDs/ZnO:Al) showed slightly higher currents under application of low positive voltage (ranging from ~0-7 Volts) compared with those observed in the devices of the other structures.



Figure (59) Current-voltage plots for three different devices of each fabricated structure.

Since the thin SiNx layer (10±2 nm thickness) is nitrogen rich, its band gap is higher than that of the SiQDs layer as revealed Tauc plots (4.68 eV and 4.04 eV respectively). Thus, a higher electric field may be present in the SiNx layer than in the SiQDs film of the PR2 sample. From other point of view, the total capacitance of the PR2 layered structure might be considered as the combination of the capacitances of the silicon substrate (C_{Si}), the SiNx film (C_{SiNx}) and the SiQDs film (C_{SiQDs}) in series, where the C_{SiQDs} is the sum of the capacitances of silicon nanocrystals (C_{Si-nc}) and the dielectric where they are embedded (C_{diel}) [11]. The equivalent circuit at equilibrium (without applied voltage) is shown in figure (60).



Figure (60) Equivalent circuit without applied voltage for the PR2 sample.

When the device is in accumulation region under forward bias, $C_{Si} >> C_{SiNx}$ and C_{SiQDs} . Moreover, since the thickness of the SiNx film is lower than that of the SiQDs film $C_{SiNx} > C_{SiQDs}$. The latter is obtained from the capacitance in a parallel plate capacitor $C = \epsilon_0 \epsilon_r A/d$, where ϵ_0 and ϵ_r are the vacuum and relative permittivity, respectively, A is the surface area and d is the distance between the plates (a roughness estimation of the real part of the relative permittivity can be found from n= $(\epsilon_r)^{1/2}$). Then, $C_{SiNx} > C_{SiQDs}$ indicates that a higher charge density may be found in the c-Si/SiNx interface of the PR2 sample than in the c-Si/SiQDs interface of the PR1 reference sample without the SiNx layer, because the charge in the surface of the semiconductor for an ideal MIS capacitor is $Q_s = C_d V_d$ where Q_s = surface charge (coulombs), C_d =capacitance (Farads) and V_d =Volts (V).

For an ideal MIS capacitor the charge in the surface of the substrate should be compensated by the charge in the metal gate; however, for the real case of the PR2 sample non-idealities must be considered like different work functions of metal and semiconductor and interface states among others. As a result, the charge could not be compensated in the metal gate and carriers can be more easily injected from the c-Si/SiNx interface even at low electric fields to the bulk of the insulating. It has been reported that a local onset of the leakage current depends on the electric field strength [60]. This effect of increased current density injection to the insulating at low electric fields (~0-1.4 MV/cm) in the PR2 sample seemed to be well hindered by gold nanoparticles in the P2 sample. When increased the electric field the current density of the P2 sample with AuNPs was higher than that of PR2.

Therefore, because of the observed in the samples with noble metal nanoparticles, lower threshold voltage observed in the P1 sample with regard to the P2 sample could be due to the presence of silicon nanodots at the c-Si/SiQDs interface allowing direct tunneling between Si islands [79] and/or silicon dangling bonds conduction paths [76]. On the other hand, this effect is reduced in the P2 sample with the SiNx dielectric due to the very lower density of silicon nanodots and silicon dangling bonds at the c-Si/SiNx interface. In both cases, AuNPs may homogenize the electric field at the interface at the same time that improve the injected current.

The F-N, P-F and TAT conduction mechanisms were fitted to the current-voltage data of the PR1, P1, PR2 and P2 samples at higher electric fields (~1.5-3 MV/cm). P-F mechanism was the best fitting for samples P1, P2 and PR2 (see Appendix B). For the PR1 sample TAT mechanism fitted better its curve. This mechanism could be dominant in this sample since it is well known that silicon rich silicon nitride films give rise to a higher number of silicon dangling bonds which can form conductive paths when the number of dangling bonds is high enough [11, 76]. Therefore, silicon nanodots growing from the first atomic layers on the substrate in addition with dangling bonds may have an important role for the current conduction to the bulk as carriers could flow to silicon nanocrystals through Si dangling bonds or direct tunneling.

The injected current efficiency in quantum-well lasers is described as the fraction of the injected current that recombines, both radiatively and non-radiatively, in the quantum well active region of the laser. The injected current efficiency is different from the internal quantum efficiency (η_{rad}), as the internal efficiency is defined as the fraction of the injected current that recombines radiatively in the quantum well active region [80].

External quantum efficiency is the ratio of the number of photons emitted and the number of electrons passing through the LED. Explicitly, it is the product of the *internal quantum efficiency* (radiative efficiency), η_{rad} ; *injection efficiency*, η_{inj} ; and *optical efficiency* (light extraction efficiency), η_{opt} :

$\eta_{ext} = \eta_{inj} * \eta_{rad} * \eta_{opt}$

It is possible to compare the EL efficiency of the samples indirectly by dividing the absolute integrated EL intensity to the injected current [17]. The EL efficiency of samples P1, PR1, P2 and PR2 are shown in figure (61). Efficiency in PR1 and P1 samples decreased as current injection increased. This may indicate a reduction of the current efficiency transport and whose origin in high power nitride LEDs could be: 1) carrier leakage, 2) large Auger recombination at high carrier density and 3) junction heating [81]. For the PR2 sample, the EL efficiency was the lowest and constant under all injected currents. The P2 sample depicted the highest EL efficiency increasing up to a maximum after which it diminished gradually.



Figure (61) Integrated EL intensity/injected current vs injected current for the samples PR1, P1, PR2 and P2.

The energy band diagrams of the PR2 sample (with the thin SiNx layer) at equilibrium and in forward bias are shown in figures (62a) and (62b), respectively. The barrier height for electrons and holes are ~3 eV and 1.9 eV, respectively [17, 66]. Under low forward voltages (~0-10 V) the injection of holes could be dominant and assisted by dangling bonds in the matrix or direct tunneling towards silicon nanodots. Even though this sample exhibited higher currents under low voltages its threshold voltage was lower than the EL turn on voltage (>10 V) which suggest high carrier leakage and/or strong non-radiative recombination. With increasing voltages the enhanced injection of carriers from the ZnO:Al/SiQDs and c-Si/SiNx interfaces gave rise to a higher number of radiative processes as the electroluminescence spectra validated. However, because of the addition of the SiNx layer higher charge accumulation in the silicon surface can be abruptly injected under low voltages. This process taking place in the samples without it (P1, PR1). The gold nanoparticles added to the structure of the figure (62b) proved constraint the injected current and increase the radiative recombination; however, it is not clear if the augmented EL emission in the P2 sample is just an effect of the higher current injection from low voltages due to the SiNx layer.





Figure (62) Energy band diagrams of the PR2 sample (with the thin SiNx layer) at equilibrium (a) and under forward bias (b).

6.3 Second stage of fabrication of metal-insulating-semiconductor devices based on SiQDs

With the aim to investigate the electrical behavior of devices with 5 and 10 nm thick of gold thin films, the following structures were fabricated:

P3) c-Si/Au(5nm thickness)/SiNx/SiQDs/ZnO:Al

P4) c-Si/Au(10nm thickness)/SiNx/SiQDs/ZnO:Al

The cleaning of the substrates and parameters used to deposit the different types of layers were those indicated in section 6.2.1. Despite of the fact that the high and roughness of gold layers of 5 nm and 10 nm thicknesses were higher than those of 1 nm thickness, it was used a 10 nm thin layer of SiNx in these devices because it was observed in the previous section that this layer could promote carrier injection.

6.3.1 Optical and electrical characterization

White electroluminescent emission spectra were observed in these samples in forward bias (Fig. 63). EL intensity increased with increasing voltage. The peak position in both samples was slight blue-shifted at around 580 nm compared with that of P2 sample (1 nm thickness of gold) at ~600 nm. The EL turn on emission started at 14V and 12V in samples P3 and P4, respectively. Voltage steps of 2V in sample P3 (5 nm thickness) were required to get observe increased intensity of the emission spectrum. Meanwhile, for sample P4 (10 nm thickness) the EL intensity increased by applying voltage steps of 1V. At the same applied voltages of 14V and 16V, the EL intensity in the P4 sample was around three and two fold higher than in P3 sample, respectively.



Figure (63) EL spectra of the samples P3 (a) and P4 (b).

The comparison of integrated EL intensity vs injected current of the samples P3, P4 and the sample P2 studied in the previous chapter is depicted in figure (64a). A lineal behavior was seen for all samples indicating that the radiative emission is related to the carrier injection. The P2 sample (1 nm thickness) showed the highest positive slope followed by samples P4 (10 nm thickness) and P3 (5 nm thickness).

Current density against electric field curves of the samples P2, P3, and P4 showed lower threshold voltage for the sample P4 as well as higher current injection in forward and reverse bias than in samples P2 and P3. The highest current density observed in P4 sample might be an effect of its highest roughness at the c-Si/SiNx interface by the gold nanostructure when compared with those found at the interface of P2 and P3 samples. The latter because the interface topography induces a strong electric field located at the apex of protrusions [60, 82]. However, higher roughness in the P3 sample by means of gold nanoparticles did not improved the injected current when compared with that of P2 sample. This may be due to the effectiveness of the SiNx layer like a barrier promoting higher accumulated charge at the silicon surface. A change in color of the SiQDs film with a 10 nm thickness gold nanostructure was observed with respect to its reference, which indicated higher thickness in the sample with gold metal. This suggests that the metal could act as catalyst during the insulating film deposition. Then, the covered surface, morphology and size of 10 and 5 nm thicknesses gold nanostructures could influence deposition of the dielectric film in a chemical and physical level changing its insulating properties.

The conduction mechanism Pool-Frenkel fitted well the samples P3 and P4 in the same way it did in P2 sample (Appendix B). Finally, the EL efficiency of samples P2, P3 and P4 is compared in figure (64c). The P3 sample exhibited a higher EL efficiency than the P4 sample; however, for higher currents it started decreasing gradually. Conversely, the EL efficiency raised slowly in the P4 sample when the current was increasingly injected on the device indicating a reduced influence of the droop phenomenon at higher current density for this sample. Moreover, the efficiency for the P2 sample (1 nm gold thickness) was the highest getting a maximum peak after which it started decreasing. Regardless this drop at higher current density, the efficiency in the P2 sample remained superior compared with those of samples P3 and P4. The SEM image of the cross section of the P4 sample and an image obtained with an optical microscope of a device of this structure after forward bias are shown in figure (65).



Figure (64) (a) Integrated EL intensity vs injected current (b) Current density vs electric field and (c) Integrated EL intensity/injected current vs injected current plots of the samples P2, P3 and P4 with gold nanostructures.



Fig. (65) (a) SEM image of the cross section of the P4 sample and (b) image obtained with optical microscope of a device after forward bias.

6.4 Conclusions

In the first stage of fabrication of light emission devices the optical and electrical properties of four electroluminescent structures based in silicon nanoparticles were studied. Light emission of the four samples could be observed at room temperature in a medium dark room with the naked eye. Some conclusions can be summarized as follows:

- White electroluminescence could be observed in all the samples under forward bias. Samples with 2.9 nm diameter gold nanoparticles (P1, P2) showed higher current injection and lower EL turn on voltage than their corresponding references. EL enhancement of 1.74 and 5.94 was observed in the P1 and P2 sample, respectively, at the same electric field.
- The highest EL efficiency was seen in the P2 sample increasing up to a maximum after which started to diminish gradually. On the other hand, EL efficiency in sample PR2 was constant and lowest. Likewise, EL efficiency in samples PR1 and P1 drooped with increasing current injection. Some explanations for this phenomenon are carrier leakage, large Auger recombination and junction heating.
- In spite of higher band gap of the SiNx layer, it was found this could promote current injection to the bulk of SiQDs film probably due to higher accumulation charge at the surface of the silicon substrate. This effect might increase injection of hot carriers to the bulk of the insulating, which were constrain by the presence of gold nanoparticles in the PR2 sample as the current vs. voltage curves of different devices of the same structure showed.
- At low electric fields the conduction mechanism for all the samples (PR1, P1, PR2 and P2) was dominated by space charge. At high electric fields the Pool-Frenkel (P-F) mechanism was the best fitting for samples P1, P2 and PR2. For the PR1 sample the transport mechanism assisted by traps (TAT) fitted better its curve.
- As discussed in chapter three the origin of electroluminescence is mostly duo to exciton recombination in silicon quantum dots, although other kind of recombination centers as localized

defects in the matrix are involved as well. However, the performed electroluminescence measurements are not conclusive on the enhancement mechanism of PR2 sample, but the influence of the thin SiNx layer had an essential role when gold nanoparticles were close.

During the second fabrication stage were employed 5 nm and 10 nm gold thicknesses using the same configuration as in the P2 sample (c-Si/Au/SiNx/SiQDs/ZnO:Al). Thus, some of the conclusions are the following:

- Visible electroluminescence emission was observed in forward bias for the P3 and P4 samples. The peak position of these samples with 5 nm and 10 nm gold thicknesses (P3 and P4) was seen at around 580 nm. In both samples EL intensity increased with increasing voltages. The P4 sample had lower EL turn on voltage and also higher injected current. At the same applied voltages of 14V and 16V, the EL intensity in the P4 sample was around three and two fold higher than in P3 sample, respectively.
- The comparison of integrated EL intensity vs injected current of the samples P2, P3, and P4 showed a lineal behavior for all samples indicating that the radiative emission is related with carrier injection.
- Current density against electric field curves of the samples P2, P3, and P4 showed lower threshold voltage for the sample P4 as well as higher current injection in forward and reverse bias than in samples P2 and P3. The highest current density observed in P4 sample might be an effect of its highest roughness at the c-Si/SiNx interface by the gold nanostructure when compared with those found at the interface of P2 and P3 samples. The latter because the interface topography induces a strong electric field located at the apex of protrusions [60, 82]. However, higher roughness in the P3 sample by means of gold nanoparticles did not improved the injected current when compared with that of P2 sample. This may be due to the effectiveness of the SiNx layer like a barrier promoting higher accumulated charge at the silicon surface.
- The P3 sample exhibited a higher EL efficiency than the P4 sample; however, for higher currents it started decreasing gradually. Conversely, the EL efficiency raised slowly in the P4 sample when the current was increasingly injected on the device indicating a reduced influence of the droop phenomenon at higher current density for this sample. Moreover, the efficiency for the P2 sample (1 nm gold thickness) was the highest getting a maximum peak after which it started decreasing.

Bibliography

[1] D. A. Muller, T. Sorsch, S. Moccio, F. H. Baumann, K. Evans-Lutterodt & G. Timp, *Nature*, Vol. 399 (1999).

[2] William Gropp, Lecture 15: Moore's Law and Dennard Scaling, www.cs.illinois.edu.

[3] G.Q. Lo, K. W. Ang, T. Y. Liow, Q. Fang, J. Zhang, S. Y. Zhu, J. F. Song, Y. Z. Xiong, F. F. Ren,

M. B. Yu and D.-L. Kwong, ECS Transactions, 28 (1) 3-11 (2010).

[4] Robert Joseph Walters, Silicon Nanocrystals for Silicon Photonics, California Institute of Technology 2007 Doctoral thesis.

[5] Leonid Khriatchtchev, Silicon Nanophotonics, Pan Stanford Publishing 2009.

[6] L. T. Canham, Applied Physics Letters, 57 1046-1048 (1990).

[7] Tsuyoshi Oguro, Hideki Koyama, Tsuyoshi Ozaki, and Nobuyoshi Koshida, *Journal of Applied Physics*, 81, 1407 (1997).

[8] J. Fandiño, A. Ortiz, L. Rodríguez-Fernández, and J. C. Alonso, *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A* 22 570 (2004).

[9] A. Benami, G. Santana, A. Ortiz, A. Ponce, D. R. Aguilar-Hernández, J. Contreras Puentes, and J. C. Alonso, *Nanotechnology 18*, 155704 (2007).

[10] A. Benami, G. Santana, B. M. Monroy, A. Ortiz, J. C. Alonso, J. Fandiño, J. Aguilar-Hernández, and G. Contreras-Puentes, *Physica E 38*, 148 (2007).

[11] A. Morales-Sanchez, J. Barreto, C. Dominguez, M. Aceves and J. A. Luna-López, *Nanotechnology* 20 045201 (2009).

[12] M. Perálvarez, J. Barreto, Josep Carreras, A. Morales, D. Navarro-Urrios, Y. Lebour, C. Domínguez and B. Garrido, *Nanotechnology* 20 405201 (2009).

[13] J. Bornacelli, J. A. Reyes Esqueda, L. Rodriguez-Fernández, J. L. Ruvalcaba-Sil, F. J. Jaimes, and A. Oliver, *Journal of Nanotechnology*, 863184 (2014).

[14] J. Zhou, G. R. Chen, Y. Liu, J. Xu, T. Wang, N. Wan, Z. Y. Ma, W. Li, C. Song, and K. J. Chen, *Optics Express* 156 (2009).

[15] D. Li, Y-B Chen, Y. Ren, J. Zhu, Y-Y Zhao and M. Lu, Nanoscale Researc Letters, 7:200 (2012).

[16] J. S. Biteen, D. Pacifici, N. S. Lewis and H. A. Atwater, Nano Letters, 5 1768–1773 (2005).

[17] D. Li, F. Wang and D. Yang, Nanoscale, 5 3435-3440 (2013).

[18] Feng Wang, Dongsheng Li, Deren Yang and Duanlin Que, *Applied Physics Letters* 100, 031113 (2012).

[19] Silicon photonics. An introduction. Graham T. Reed, Andrew P. Knights, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd (17-20).

[20] Silicon photonics, Lorenzo Pavesi, David J. Lockwood, Springer (17-25).

[21] Introduction to Solid State Physics, Charles Kittel, Seventh Edition (18-20).

[22] A.K. Panchal, D.K. Rai, M. Mathew and C.S. Solanki, *NANO: Brief Reports and Reviews*, Vol. 4, 5 265–279 (2009).

[23] A. Rodriguez, J. Arenas, J.C. Alonso, Journal of Luminiscence, 132 2385-2389 (2012).

[24] Device Applications of Silicon Nanocrystals and Nanostructures, Nobuyoshi Koshida, Springer.

- [25] Silicon Nanocrystals, Lorenzo Pavesi and Rasit Turan, Ed.Wiley.
- [26] N. Zheludev, Nature Photonics, Commentary, Vol. 1, (2007).

[27] F. A. Harraza, , Sensors and Actuators B 202 897–912 (2014).

[28] M. Wang, A Anopchenko, A. Marconi, E. Moser, S. Prezioso, L. Pavesi, G. Pucker, P. Bellutti and L. Vanzetti, *Physica E*, 41 912-915 (2009).

- [29] D. Li, Y-B Chen, Y. Ren, J. Zhu, Y-Y Zhao and M. Lu, Nanoscale Research Letters, 7:200, (2012).
- [30] C-H Lu, S-E Wu, Y-L Lai, Y-L li, C-P Liu, Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 585 460-464 (2014).

[31] K. Okamoto, I. Niki, A. Shvartser, G. Maltezos, Y. Narukawa, T. Mukai, Y. Kawakami, and A. Scherer, *Physica Status Solidi*, 204 6 2103–2107 (2007).

[32] Chemical Vapor Deposition, Srinivasan Sivaram, Springer Science+Business Media, LLC (1-3).

[33] Stanley Wolf, Richard N. Tauber, Silicon processing for the VLSI Era, Vol. 1, Lattice Press (164, 171-172).

[34] J. Fandiño, A. Ortiz, L. Rodríguez-Fernández, and J. C. Alonso, *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A* 22, 570 (2004).

[35] Klaus Pagh Almtoft, Structural Characterization of Nanocrystalline Thin Films Grown by Magnetron Sputtering, University of Aarhus (2006) Doctoral Thesis [6-8].

[36] Viguie JC, Spitz J. Chemical Vapor Deposition at Low Temperatures, *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, 122: 585-8 (1975).

[37] Hoda Amani Hamedani, Investigation of deposition parameters in ultrasonic spray pyrolysis for fabrication of solid oxide fuel cell cathode, Georgia Institute of Technology, Master thesis (2008) [24-26].

[38] Radek Machán, Supported Phospholipid Bilayers and their Interactions with Proteins Studied by Ellipsometry, Atomic Force Microscopy and Confocal Fluorescence Microscopy, J. Heyrovský Institute of Physical Chemistry of ASCR, Thesis (2011).

[39] R.M.A. Azzam, N.M. Bashara, Ellipsometry and polarized light, 2nd Edition, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1987.

[40] John C. Vickerman, Ian S. Gilmore, Surface Analysis, 2nd. Edition, John Wiley & Sons (47-49, 511-513).

[41] Introduction to the Scanning Electron Microscope, Michael Dunlap & Dr. J. E. Adaskaveg, Facility for Advanced Instrumentation.

[42] P. F. Trwoga, A. J. Kenyon, and C. W. Pitt, *Journal of Applied Physics*, 83 (1998).

[43] L. Liu, C. S. Jayanthi, S. Y. Wu, J Appl. Phys., 90 4143 (2001).

[44] A. Benami, G. Santana, A. Ortiz, A. Ponce, D. R. Aguilar-Hernández, J. Contreras Puentes, and J. C. Alonso, *Nanotechnology 18*, 155704 (2007).

[45] A. Benami, G. Santana, B. M. Monroy, A. Ortiz, J. C. Alonso, J. Fandiño, J. Aguilar-Hernández, and G. Contreras-Puentes, *Physica E 38*, 148 (2007).

[46] A. Martínez, J. C. Alonso, L. E. Sansores, and R. Salcedo, J. Phys. Chem. C 114, 12427–12431 (2010).

[47] J. Robertson and M. J. Powell, Appl. Phys. Lett. 44 4 (1984).

[48] S. Jung, Y. Fujimura, T. Ito, and H. Shirai, Solar Materials & Solar Cells 74 421-427 (2002).

[49] Hajime Shirai, Thin Solids Films 457 90-96 (2004).

[50] F. Reizman and W. van Gelder, Solid-Satate Electronics, Vol. 10 7 625-632 (1967).

[51] L. Jiang, X. Zeng, and X. Zhang, Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 357 2187-2191 (2011).

[52] B. S. Sahu, F. Delachat, A. Slaoui, M. Carrada, G. Ferblantier, and D. Muller, *Nanoscale Research Letters* 6 178 (2011).

[53] G. Santana, B. M. Monroy, A. Ortiz, L. Huerta, and J. C. Alonso, *Applied Physics Letters* 88, 041916 (2006).

[54] G. Scardera, T. Puzzer, I. Perez-Wurfl, and G. Conibeer, *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 310 3680-3684 (2008).

[55] T. Grigaitis, A. Naujokaitis, S. Tumėnas, G. Juška, and K. Arlauskas, *Lithuanian Journal of Physics*, Vol. 55, No. 1, 35–43 (2015).

[56] F-C Chiu, Advances in Materials Science and Engineering, (2014).

[57] Physics of Semiconductor Devices, S. M. Sze, Kwok K. Ng, Wiley Interscience, 3er. Edition, (134-153).

[58] J. C. Alonso, F.A. Pulgarin, B. M. Monroy, A. Benami, M. Bizarro, A. Ortiz, *Thin solid Films*, 518 3891–3893 (2010).

[59] A. Morales-Sanchez, J. Barreto, C. Dominguez, M. Aceves and J. A. Luna-López, *Nanotechnology* 20 045201 (2009).

[60] N. Gaillard, L. Pinzelli, and M. Gros-Jean, Applied Physics Letters 80, 133506 (2006).

[61] Z. W. Pei, Y. R. Chang, and H. L. Hwang, Appl. Phys. Lett. 80 2839–2841 (2002).

[62] R. Huang, J. Song, X. Wang, Y. Q. Guo, C. Song, Z. H. Zheng, X. L. Wu, and P. K. Chu, *Optics Letters* 37, 4 692-694 (2012).

[63] A. Rodriguez-Gómez, A. García-Valenzuela, E. Haro-Poniatowski, and J. C. Alonso-Huitrón, J. Appl. Phys. 113, 233102 (2013).

[64] R. Huang, K. Chen, H. Dong, D. Wang, H. Ding, W. Li, J. Xu, Z. Ma, and L. Xu, *Applied Physics Letters* 91, 111104 (2007).

[65] R. Huang, D. Q. Wang, H. L. Ding, X. Wang, K. J. Chen, J. Xu, Y. Q. Guo, J. Song, and Z. Y. Ma, *Optics Express* 1144 (2010).

[66] S. A. Cabañas-Tay, L. Palacios-Huerta, J. A. Luna López, M. Aceves-Mijares, S. Alcantara-Iniesta, S. A. Pérez-Garcia, and A. Morales-Sánchez, *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, 30 (2015).

[67] T. Oguro, H. Koyama, T. Ozaki, and N. Koshida, J. Appl. Phys. 81 3 (1997).

[69] B-H Kim, C-H Cho, J-S Mun, M-K Kwon, T-Y Park, J. S. Kim, C. C. Byeon, J. Lee, and S-J Park, *Advanced Materials*, 20, 3100-3104 (2008).

[70] Xue Feng, Fang Liu, Yidong Huang, Optics Communications 283 2758-2761 (2010).

[71] S. Pillai, K. R. Catchpole, T. Trupke, G. Zhang, J. Zhao, and M. A. Green, *Applied Physics Letters* 88, 161102 (2006).

[72] C. Louis, O. Pluchery, Gold Nanoparticles for Physics, Chemistry and Biology, Imperial College Press, 1st Edition.

[73] K. Huang, N. Gao, C. Wang, X. Chen, J. Li, S. Li, X. Yang, and J. Kang, *Scientific Reports*, 4 4380. [74] X. Gu, T. Qiu, W. Zhang, P. K. Chu, *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 6 199 (2011).

[75] A. Rodríguez, J. Arenas, A. L. Pérez-Martínez, and J. C. Alonso, *Materials Letters*, 125 44-47 (2014).

[76] X. Jiang, Z. Ma, J. Xu, K. Chen, L. Xu, W. Li, X. Huang, and D. Feng, *Nature*, 5:15762 (2015).

[77] X. Wang, K-P Chen, M. Zhao, and D. D. Nolte1, Optics Express, 18, 24 24859 (2010).

[78] B. Streetman and S. K. Banerjee, Solid State Electronic Devices, 6th Edition, PHI Learning.

[79] D. J. DiMaria, J. R. kirtley, E. J. Pakulis, D. W. dong, T. S. kuan, F. L. Pesavento, T. N. Theis, and J. A. Cutro, *Journal of Applied Physics*, 56 2 (1984).

[80] N. Tansu, L. J. Mawst, Journal of Applied Physics, 97 054502 (2005).

[81] H. Zhao, G. Liu, J. Zhang, R. A. Arif, and N. Tansu, Journal of Display Technology, 94 (2013).

[82] M. C. V. Lopes, S. G. dos Santos, and C. M. Hasenack, J. Electrochem Soc. 143 1021 (1996).

Appendix A

| Process | Expression | Voltage and temperature dependence | |
|--------------------------|--|---|--|
| Tunneling | $J \propto E^2 \exp\left[-\frac{4\sqrt{2m^*}(q\phi_B)^{\frac{3}{2}}}{3qhE} ight]$ | $\propto V^2 exp^{-b/V}$ | |
| Thermionic emission | $J = A^{**}T^2 \exp\left[-\frac{q(\phi_B - \sqrt{qE/4\pi\varepsilon_i})}{kT}\right]$ | $\propto T^2 \exp\left[\frac{q}{kT}(a\sqrt{V}-\phi_B)\right]$ | |
| Frenkel-Pool emission | $J \propto E \exp\left[-\frac{q(\phi_B - \sqrt{qE/\pi\varepsilon_i})}{kT}\right]$ | $\propto V \exp\left[\frac{q}{kT}(2a\sqrt{V}-\phi_B)\right]$ | |
| Ohmic | $J \propto E \exp\left[-\frac{\Delta E_{ac}}{kT}\right]$ | $\propto V \exp\left[-\frac{c}{T}\right]$ | |
| Ionic conduction | $J \propto \frac{E}{T} \exp\left[-\frac{\Delta E_{ai}}{kT}\right]$ | $\propto V/T \exp\left[-\frac{d'}{T}\right]$ | |
| Space-charge- limited | $J = \frac{9\varepsilon_i \mu V^2}{8d^3}$ | $\propto V^2$ | |

Table (1A) Basic conduction processes in insulators.

A**=effective Richardson constant, φ_B barrier height, E=electric field in insulator, ε_i = insulator permittivity, m*=effective mass, d=insulator thickness, ΔE_{ac} =activation energy of electrons, ΔE_{ai} = activation energy of ions, V~Ed, a= $\sqrt{(q/4\pi\epsilon id)}$, b, c, and d' are constants [57].

Schematic energy band diagrams of some of the main transport mechanisms in metal-insulatingsemiconductor structure. Figures were obtained of [56].





Metal -oxide-semiconductor (MOS) capacitor

Band diagram for the ideal MOS structure using a p-type semiconductor at: (a) equilibrium; (b) negative voltage applied to the metal produces hole accumulation in the semiconductor; (c) positive voltage depletes holes from the semiconductor surface; (d) a larger positive voltage causes inversion [78].



Appendix B



Fitting of the current density-electric field characteristics in the high electric field region of the PR1, P1, PR2, P2, P3 and P4 samples.

AFM image in topographic mode of 2.9 nm diameter gold nanoparticles (Au-A) on silicon. Ra=roughness, Rz=height.




RSC Advances

PAPER



Clean E. 350 Apr. 2016; 5, 12035

CE CHEMISTRY

View Article Online

Photoluminescence enhancement from silicon quantum dots located in the vicinity of a monolayer of gold nanoparticles⁺

A. L. MuEvz-Rovert A. Radriguez-Gomez ⁴⁴ 3. Alteriar-Alatome ² and J. C. Marrias-Hultion⁴

In this case, we show that it is possible to saw, but a functional coupling between a fair function of comparations in a single of the matrix of DDV (non-theorem) will get the resonance of young any well as the period of possible of the face of the formation of the matrix of possible of the face of the f

coorded 30th Society of 2015
considers 2015 October 2015

Control (Algorian Cardina Anna (Algorian Cardina

ntroduction

Climent is not a sidely used on the processors in our momenttransfers influences due to its physical characteristics, abundance and its near we can be not an action. ¹⁴ Proceeds silican processor amplitudious and second conclusions and its inequality of a conductor its emission effectency is new low.²

Site rationals have been different that when so can be as the dimensional organise of net more than 10 cm indimentory at sign alignment of when the more more relation watered and the minimum of the conduction band occurs. This parameterian is known as quantum confinement effect $(QCR)^{n+1}$. The QCR $_{QC}$ satisfy in movies the silic moment fundameterian (FU) and electric minimum ref. (FE) efficiencies to receive the title in the soliton of y QCF allows the model being of the sublision energy.²⁰⁰⁶

By using the QCD some research groups have tried to monippise subset of the non-scale becauted in the entrobeston devices and ag from a colored galling to ight and ag diades (LEDs) for multiple purposes.¹⁴ " Unfortunately, shihongh the 7D emission efforts in the base on cover the to the QCD, 210 these are notypic enough to contribut the full range of shiften based devices that the modern society domands.

Some reserver or side rates of server, in one denote improvement of the integrated emission intensity from allocal enabling a rate on the (5.0) of a ten mass size of a mode end of with manostructured hobbs metal particles ^{24,25}. Therefore, the fabric design of end of sites are calculated with the set of sites of end of the site of the site of the set of the site of the set of the site of the si

In these works of a lished by Nicota et al. the field method elogy coulder summarised in date server fit fundamention of SF tens into a 515 superstry () superstays on the ling into a gen or hysinger ermosy tens to generate SIQEs and to empirate other.

151 AD 211- 5 2015 2011 02025

nduanati na danta yantana ini Mitanaan. Sanarinadad Selamati Japanasa 40. Dalimii 1927 (h. 500, 504, 514, 516, 31, 514, 31, 51, 51, 51, 51)

ni unada se Pri en l'Anexa dud Kanana (menanana Karing Pri Sérin Ingen ne 1933), encar di Bri Karing Boena a sargera jinana manana

[•] Yitti with Supplementary of maximity (0) with the ADM Of misrophyla abunationers a 2010 the a closed in Day Loss balances a complety, which are whith experimentary of a silical water is thereas in Fig. 1. A field behavior for more graps from the lapse in a field of the balance is fig. 1 for P(1, 10, 5) Sector 5. As

hope matic to the Analysis of the body 2014.

RSE Advanced

the control is a fair of the list may from the x list are sufficitestile implanted \$1,00% and (iv) denosition of a nanoporto signal hyper over the such edisor force of \$13, procise, When science for silver parciales protect for means of mutoflorography. Meanwhile, Forenti si veren y considers (francí franckie way la Biten 's in the right and man a chird stip in which the sample is in the experiences, including the second gradies of the distance here en une SiQDe an Etnes, ser menans o des times relaciones a Berla search sha eating process.

The results provided by both gaves are such regile, harmsteing sinned gat on two all i may effects cheerzer when name mut na schiron gartie is accheand i robie vieni y ch model initials non-report class. Rest, they provide experimental evolution of second on even threefold. Providence mentresigned to the FI- four charge SiQDs which are not near the Signal, one-court difficent degrees of FL papieling when S.QUs are placed right next to metal particles in an homogenous. minute. To vite those effects allow us to gaings o then elistances browers alleon and moral particles are ortified in order to present discribing and to achieve enhancements. However, transporter and matter and issues we derive in estillion. In such in the protocology this PL in bound and other in a signing functional commercial devices, which are: (a) fabrication total niques must be highly compatible with those used in mister electronic undustry, (3 in is essential to give a comprehensive description of particle theracteristics of both metal and stiples. and (c) it should be clarified the ensured relationship between FL enLaurement and the seconding disconce between SO(Cs) and mela, parights,

to this work, we have collared a mobilipyered exclusion (coupling silizon to zoid) which exhibut a swefold Fuspharespacet. For its fabrication, we have combined liemete-Plasmo Enganced Chemical Vapor Deposition (RPEGVD) and Summering terminiques into a customal which have a very strong more with these and in the sit relation interviolizing is dug low tem service provincing and four len without to their out experieffets a dioretish study of size and excide density of both sold and silicon nanoporticies; and it is also briefly discussed the role played by the surrounding medium in which, particles are embedded when the FL enhancement is achieved. Finally is the electropy a loved as tanknye along robotic wisof the separative distances here exit SiQUs and the minolayer of gold concentrates (Autoes) in order to combine to F dist (F to all

Experimental section

The AuMiston to a product using a Growington the Spation Gane with A. Larger (19,999976 in rity) a 0.6 mills largen non-sphere. Quality and since a network (100) high resistivity (20 c.3 cm, were reading a destrates. Without denotation is mark c histories were concern chemical with trid hereithylene and artizone. Sillern substrates were or aperlich Proteb son trop to removement acrossible?" Two three filling of simon more an with: di fenore retenina er or positor exacel er e kotas welle da poster.

9092 · #20149, 2002 S 30920 9293.

vez sociesnice Japar

dates in S ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 () of where with righty using in the terms . (EFFCVD) system, where it is set - with larger the interpreted precisiede 49.5 liest de la come a une est 300 de , maitre frectier est nows of the Word hereis read the reaction of a discription of where the issues with a person energy the flow many of the Arand SittsGly were 10, 75 and 5 scent respectively for all the receivity, time, Free accord NF₂ was add at the 600 accorder. purpuses of growing there exiling a silic error ride there is so e ig tim (CIXI) and 200 some for growing sommer solum cale enders as a such master simplification representation (0705). The thickness of energy layers was saried for all the Noricoted state they by as wolling the Jenes' as time

> 3. If a linear new used to measure this close (Th' of the The stating at non-call Zamana, Ph. 21 per meter e.g., give as e.g. a Fr. Netash (A. 1982, m.). Marad manager a (M.) rasso h nexts were control to a first toory cark mean at a releast compositions as again an issues a how way 250 AVT in the R in their The Collasser and reging at 335 and 3364 eV). The Ffester pre-score occorded with a Electomax spex spectrofluorometer using as agent, detentor an optical fiber normal to the sample emission. Unitable visible (UVvis) manufaston measurements were contention in the range from 200 to 11.0, non-using a couple aten B. Kin? no. Le node de UV vis spectroprosecultir. The stops also an else hat or of the ALNES and BIQDS store confirmed by high resolution electron microscopy (#331686) and bigh angle oncider doile field (HAAD-Friender, field emission gues (J2M 2010F) which operates at 200 bit poor the Soberrer beaus. with a theorem point to point resolution of 0.19 mm. The HITTEX: mages in planar reprofitnes studies were recorded with o DCD contentional treated with a digital analysis program, is Field Emission-Standing Election Schoologe (EDL7600) (As-SLSC) was used to observe shape and distribution of the Ar-MPs for different ertwine hines.

Results and discussion

the big internal lead on the preside existence of a captional separation distance between \$00Ds and ALMES for our system, we tailored and structure in three stages. Litst stage reports and discuss the methodology we used to fabricate the remitter iteds, Gs, ends, prest condition 60QDs have conser 16PROVE. In dia wage we also be form on analysis of our selected time. (13.11) and 10215, to be for 0-r enced in the first matchagened struct rector second stoge we used Southering raching as to Souricate the gold non-constitutes has adopted (A. Mes). Additional ofly the search stage weather as should be menticle characterization $\cos(\theta)$ to ACNES, $\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}$ particles zee particle shape and particle consity. Finally, in the drive stage we prefix and the orang provident medi (Oscind 4 NEST, nes vill lie this engineering as verying the severation discounts between the Timo and work a log the FF and ages from south or plot where re-

Pabrication and selection of the emission dold (SIOCs)

Quantum control note (QC) in succed custors can be identified. as strong more in a cowisik. Strong QC exists where the Bale ad us of end as increasing anget that the size of the coordinate using a Remute Passie Research. A can be Report Reputition is system (p.5.3) and "The latter rap as that the particular of

The just of the Resp. Sector of the Mary 2001

Westerkbolink RSC Advances

a in which the first will be many particles with the rule with the state of the fall below. The number of the state by because their band contegratil, become quast chron." Then, we much expect the mountain beats are VL efficiencies for these emitter fields conformed by clusters with stress below 5 mm. The effort you. The cosign of previous is on Faulty to a state of this if it sector you. The cosign of previous is on Faulty to a state of this if it sector is a cosign of previous is on Faulty to a state of the if it is containing SiQEs with state QUA to be.

On the other hand, and in order to avoid in a feasible entern the non-radiative recombinition from easily extracts in our films, passivation of silicon quantum data was carned out by means of a other i media mean on (Silig b), where is so that comparated combinished compliang bounds and therefore the non-radiative localized states."

The Lip, 1 contains the threelonal heavenue spectra of seven this. This is example, we exact in equations and k^{2} with the applier displaying one for 2.40 systems would force that the seven displaying one for 2.40 systems would force that, free rates. With the exception of sample 1, which has a film thickness of 375 mm, all other samples of the group have this messes ranging hereign 25 and 45 mm, the A things distinguished intensity accorded on such samples depends more by indication of 1.50 percents of us are basis the depends more by the same k = 1.50 percents of nonnet λ . (A field sample (S of) which the contained for more more M_{10} percent (VFL) is presented on the SigDs series $\lambda > 2^{5}$.

By maintaining the leading on the measuredy near the help estimate on fitting d but fielding, one states b is space a with fittinetant mean three (All with a_{2} can be applied by fitting estimate the MPL proficher appresates that fit in The mean mater expression in eqn. (1), is a tool that allows us to grow SIQPs in a controller, ward⁴.

The model has an action of 44%, to finite the SODS flux with a nomination peak herearch the solution at the ase, it



Fig.1. Therefore measure sector a strategeneric fit for a constraint (#2020) and each of the measure of the measure of the test of test

The isometic @ The Soys, Sector of Chem 9 - CHE



Fig. 2. Composition between entities operate from UMIS 200 scotts Anotex and CIEL w00 scotts Afoxy. Both from nove objuilithe same thild ness. The inclusived Pulmuansity North the SNUS avents 22 (integ i light from 0.15 lights

is instactant to take into consideration that blue shifts will satisfied Sign with the non-sequent of the sets into exity discrement. An appropriate essengie is seen in the constant spectrum contrable is from size. I, which has a foretunes beyon the knows that sample C, but size a times lower integrated intensity. Hence, when the affect rises up to of the count i is prescribe to grow of the with Sign very class to seen 3. The count is prescribe to grow of the encoder of a set of the count of the set $S_{22} \approx -$ could be encoder on a set of the set of the count of Sign $\alpha \rightarrow \beta$ (NeC).

The EQ. 2 shows the emission spectra from LEUA film (500 second schew) and DIEL film (600 second sflow). DIEL and PADS films have similar thicknesses. AS 5 and A2 4 cm respectively. However, 1.9.15 have still not sity 72 times higher three DIEL due to its high of 6 is Ada, times y DIEL film respects a most dentitie reprise thread of a contract stars around 9 secchi masteries for mindle reprine base to the Six structure 9 secchi masteries for mindle reprine base base for 99 therefore, in the set of science of the DIEL species 99 therefore, in the symptotic base of the DIEL species 99 the Six for 17 mess of signs operation of the second field, six methad. One HETEM magnetice, DIEL if on size to the set SEI (Fig. 1.), he given by

the firm incluses, it is worth to note that colorings in both EMPS and Districtions can be controlled by variations in the a first inclusion.

A HAADS in only ophenoise to blonn on EMIS from we rear a Kig 5. A million open theoretical transformer, provide series to observed, continuing a good Statisfield state. This issue gives that to the largest 14 integrated intensity within the range of 400–540 mm. A HACEM micrograph is shown in the intert (a). The close was no finality of the near value bases a way by a quality of states, constitutes illical whites. On the other hand, the low contrast between mitrix and Su(b) is extracted one effects is the base element in both components of the event in the low contrast between mitrix and Su(b) is extracted one effects is the base element in both components of the event in the low contrast particles the event of the Y0(b) is entered ago, most of the random of the show some can be going but there are also come particles with provide charges of the part of the shows are submodified submode states of the state of the part of the state of the clearing states of the state of the part of the state of the clearing states of the state of the part of the state of the clearing states of the state of the part of the state of the clearing states of the state of the part of the state of the clearing states of the state of the part of the states of the clearing states of the state of the part of the states of the clearing states of the part of the part of the states of the clearing states of the states of the part of the states of the clearing states of the states of the part of the states of the clearing states of the states of the part of the states of the clearing states of the states of the part of the states of the states of the states of the part of the states of the states of the states of the part of the states of the states

nester in state of a restriction of the state of the stat

400.124.000 0.82302 S283.1 92865

R90 Advances

zen smikuske Baber



High B., HAADETMIS 20 post fined from an BL 3 film Uniform outdoed do moute in though out the complete cost proced inserval of the sample shows sphallet, she best the SOBE and increte element man be eliment on a start start bet, new Discrete the Havegram of the special subset of the RSOS As superiors 3 the multiple control databases of Secol 10 the at this community.

size distribution of 1610 film. The 50-9 is 0.1 mm, while 559 is alone 6.00 \times 10²⁴ perfolds the could by using well to even a μ (2) one a value of 0.15 eV to Second we countated the quantum confidences constants to reading in a value of 114 maileV. which is in parshage-shared with those and instance provides the associated to effect as of side or note fields, agents, cisewager. 41.4

There is a PMPS, a constrained to the first inour structure, wone the design with two accompanys: (a) EMDS films have the highest possible she for a hum grown in ere-REPORTS system, and consist ready, the higgest EU integrated the sity (4) Since the solution field is surfacilitation of comde la grant da Saca signi 1510 e Francel admin "AFT, bye som deposited under proven in 1.915 The Thein ter pay hetsing-Plant whet has on the estimation while save

Design of the gold moundaver "AutoPot-

Namistrue und meder les als aw est net un praveirs d'in su mances in the "isible section of the electromagnetic spectrum. Due that the location of these resonances depends on the source of ogneelings size density and since of the particle,

\$2400 [P.C.200, DI 15 P +215 PH

slowever, inset of or Ay, 2 shows a histogram with the 9.00s - they are an excilipat resource for momentum the quality and reproducibility of the goldmanetarticles manolave; the ber this section are have used the recommendation much education exected a high cus, itwing av represidence measured et assury solution giff our confides

A previous work, does the nationalisms of nation group by spaties is where a net the characteristic approxime providerations that must be made in order to grow a spherical anarchysin' First, the milations up, stween the lastic line. at ny nanezis and the period of the y (Array) which certains the enonged for a determined substant and second the linear relationship between deposition time and particle average d'unione (Alter), which is eaux that fis, langer deposition through die Ligg in the A. A.

towever, temovale gold really is agglements ensity for is gob position of mass chose angebour-metric as a set in means procession dia fi avaida taona anni generasi su est reof spherical periodes. The location of the plasmools resonance in a nationation gold thin film is difficult to reproduce because there are always slight of reges in the listerion, even using betration deposition parameters, unose changes are attracted to an unite distable location of the electric field subrounding the particles, here we in avapping a line over the net well actives, particlely again. New efficies, for specific gold period eles and reptoductbury microses significantly, because the

this at any lower to broad should not be avoided.

ter and where the

RSC Advances

a period for a match many areas in the call parties to many here are as a line to the mane as at

Iff are line to analyse and a a mendete for particle characstrict real one regressions during an antic \mathbb{Z}_{2n} . A solution Θ . To prove optimization we see a provide with the lowest Au Θ . To prove any an an dual to all the other procession M of the energies way and dual to all the other procession M of the energies way to be easier to characterize the particles work for a model way to be easier to characterize the particles work for a model way to be easier to characterize the particles prove that the electron of our bound to be easier to be possible to conclusive that the higher the wave of \mathbb{R}_{2} is the particle the speciments for our particles.

By using Sputning termslope, we period out gots repeat these on overalling chieve values and guess using short join on these two conclusions on operating of the dispertition in assinging it on the theorem and on the networks of the endorse respectively. Each streamen was passed with the number of neuroparation, buch streamen was passed with the number of neuroparatic to Mechanism.

To determine the values of density and parameters decision, a service but it, with a demailed at the demail of a to be used with each other density of a local state of the density of the

The restribut statistical analysis to obtain an a and Au & was only flats for dependences 1 and 5. While is because for dependences 1 and 12 it and 5 have 1 gravitations from a statistic to developed and the second statistic of flats second statistics. If for approximation of particular averaging the excision of the fiber averaging the formation of the fiber average scheme in the statistic of the particular statistics are possible to approximation of the fiber average scheme in the statistic of the particular statistics are statistic to a significant statistic possible to a significant statistic pos

After statistical terr ysics straple statement 18 sec. At $e \propto 1^{-11}$ (in the sector of e^{-1} , e^{-

A DEDEZ mine grown silouing, the Notice Television of sompto 2 is shown in Tig. 4. It is mervice one complexes that particle durit return is unlifterin all over the sample and most of the particle base consilepterical shapes indicionally, inert(a) proteins information encodering to the odding space between hildes, we mervice in a rendom wavecast of these spaces, the set. It up fricts now supports to the television of these spaces, the set. It up fricts now supports to the television of these spaces, the set. It up fricts now supports to the television of these spaces, the set. It up fricts now supports to the television of these spaces, the set. It up fricts now supports by the control television of these particle spaces in the television of the septembers of these spaces in the television of the septembers of these spaces to uncertaint when the television of the septembers of the set of the television of the television of the section of the sector the base to the television of the section of the section of the television of the tensor of the section of the tablements of the television of the tensor of the television of the television of the television of the tensor of the sector the base tensor of the tensor of the tensor of the tablements is needed to the tensor of the tensor of the space of the tensor of the tensor of the tensor of the space of the tensor of the tensor of the tensor of the space of the tensor of the tensor of the tensor of the

Π. jace of . C = 18 apr. Science C = una / 282



(c) 4. HETTes eccomponents is address an apple 5,54, sPeak, 16-6, 55 or on existence of process 1, but the pre-scale constraints particle practications of an and the player the scale constraints as the statements 1, and earlier means according to the scale interval. A scale of the process and an effect of the the scale of the scale of a discourse a discrete relation of plat. First set as the scale of the scale of the process of the scale of plat. First set as scale of the scale of the scale of the scale of plat. First set as scale of the sca

As provide a metabolic, the representation by was monitored by the level of the abroad is recommendent of a class beauty spectrum of the state by the model of million on the T g S shows the Million field to state the sample of which is because at 540 - 3 and state of the sample of which is because at 540 - 3 and state of the sample of which is by taking interaction because to these theory is stated by and because of the second second so these theory is the subset of state in the kinetic field of the second by a single of the subset of state in the kinetic field of the set of the subset of



B) 5. An other was not the standard spectrum lies an algorithm path in the graduated as provide the standard control path and the base and a single field set as the path is set in and the submatrix elements with any tends to be a standard by subject as the standard tends to be a standard by subject as the standard set.

MACHINA INCLUSION ABOUT ABOUT 1 SZERZY

Rapp

R61 Advances

observing the spectrum of any subset, such densities (x,y) the setup is parameter $x_{\rm c}$

For the position 6 first light takes the minimum example of them sample 3. About 20% of the interpolations in sample 3 about 20% of the interpolations in sample 3 have collided, forming a larger and furgation particle. The incomes of particle merging premises an while predictions on Au G incomes which in the results in a sample of $R_{\rm ex}$ distant the results in a sample 3 have values of $R_{\rm ex}$ distant the resonance between and therefore its re-collabelities from one should be taken the resonance between and therefore its re-collabelities from one states from the R_{ex} to distant the resonance in the R_{ex} to distance its the with a larger that $R_{\rm ex}$ to distance with the resonance in the R_{ex} to distance its resonance in the R_{ex} to distance its resonance in the first matching and the R_{ex} to distance its resonance in the resonance is first the same should be a s

Engineering of the coupled alicon-gold structure

the sime foll's foll idealance sheaking, as which hisse of nosional categoing provident FMIS fills and the scenario. A NER memory theory of the variation of the FERF film this mass analysis them, in care to obtain an enhancement of basis luminazion of from the coupled system. All tested structures were fact that a failers (i) deposition of a gate mone age: (20.005) were a miner water, (2) deposition of a Dist, him over the NPS over a miner water, (2) deposition of a Dist, him over the NPS were a miner water, (2) deposition of a Dist, him over the NPS (1) deposition of a 100 N film over the provides do easiled Dist. Type, Deposition of the OD byper was at used by some of the models region the close byper water as the basis of the form the models of predimensions of the rand Dist, a size of the models of predimensions of the rand provides the form KMIS the value this how was formed for the formation basis form s.

In Fig. 6 are answed the absorption spectra of some layered, attractures on charts substrates [1] absorption spectrum of Disk layer ("from of, if"] theoretical spectrum of godd as option in exsubstrates by DEEL layer (10 nm], [10] absorption spectrum of your managements suffrances of EEL9 mm, (90 nm). As it is explored, 1000 layer is transmission of itse- 250 nm, since



Fig. 6. Assemblious points on C. Dominion Disultayer, 40:00 mmonDisultayon on Auxilia standard C. Amori SH Silayer, and J. Polika instructional standards when the matter that a standard standard or all sequences of the matter shifts of services of the figure shift is observed in the standard standard standard standards of the figure shift is observed in the standard standard standard standards of the figure shift is observed in the standard standard standard standards of the figure shift is observed in the standard standard standard standards of the figure standard standards of the figure standards of the standard standard standards of the figure standards of the standard standard standards of the standard standards of the standard standard standards of the standards of

02988 | NY. AD HOS 5 94274 1 97

vecconcleanine Paper

stellehes wordt silleren uitride inser fon digen of 1.5 wordt the reliant wordt die DEEF und date schemende trock distrijeten oly de position on the substance bits on a state the resonant tests of the local subtractivities grow allo from some the resonant tests of the local subtract bits and the SSS ma (2.5 eV). Elseway, is can be notified in the absorption spectrum of Aub/IS-ENDS substance the presence of the metal nanoparticle resonance peak very close to that at the huMPs/DEE assembly in spins of different thickness of the Firms Weith high to neganality of the sill commit? Is places of the DEE and KMPS byges and should asser in unight terms the example of the set of a regon metal ayer, therefore the above desembled metal asystem should use of the sill of the places of the set of the set of the spin metal ayer, therefore the above desembled metal asystem should use of the number of the mithin metal as of the mitager would a fact in a silling the mithin metal as of the mitager and the factor of the mithin metal as of the mitager and the factor of the mit

From Fig. / can be observed four elational configurations of the proposed structures many Disk layers at 0, 20, 60 and 90 seconds, which in receptoncied to thickness of 0, 5, 10 and 15 pm revised below for each configuration there was one as only as reference without with Ps deposited on the efficien substrate for contratiative processes, e.g. only stead (A) and (A) is the or-seteasily dose to done that he'ngs ware on the last of some success se uplo. PL spectra of the first contiguiation a second of DFL. layer did nots now change in the PE integrated intensity in some of the presence of Ar panaparones in one of the structures (Fig. 6). In cases we covering the intervent grown to seconds of DEEL before the Balla him deposition (Rev. 75). We noted an entranzement radio of 17% of the maximum PL beak and shall adobif, (M2 and as \$15 and from the coupled success compared with a reference. The third configuration (Fig. 27) using 60 s of 1910, layer, showed an integrated FL enhancement of the Way or all on embranded as the of the measihing to PR, new rest of 3 he True the sample with AuNI's depusition A sub- inter a sui 1 (499 nan 10 SUA nimi komparte, with the second configuration is also methods. Autoby on Fig. 7d, cars possible to observe a reduction of the FL intensity peak ratio to to 750 and practically no beakshift from the sample with AuNTs. This tendency of slight maximum Pulpeak encouncement of the coupled samples with regator of the four-free ones is near issent for 120 and 150 seconds. corrected by estimated to only of dependent 1000 lays, and our persons were active waiting over Pip. A.

as hows mentioned before, other researching groups have stroken humanseenee of structures metal EQUs as their sepaat minimaning to each They show an effective type 70. characterization relative to their ref bore at. This latter is not rust an effect to pringing closer of the rent matterial nanabarholes, but profeshing on office is "all ferror particles" analy distribution direction of the second discourse of the fingle real some convecuracy, it was define to define a maximum Allenia accurate for a fielded density prepend a region of separation of unice anang next han get des autistices henryseas. In the regeri nu due numperarca distrative achieva of the mentile menology, and R.QDs rapiative film on us to learn.ly clearly that there is a well specific separation distance between die ArkEs/EMIS to act-in mazie nurvlighe a diametrike er trasystem, it is week a mentioning that methodies, itso policities of the experiment has confirmed 10 nm DLE thickness in our structures in order conduces a as much light as ading.

is an about the one parent of the stry CS.

.



Fig.7 Hour differences hours on the propose of upLate using Cleb lowers on Clebus Sone SC seconds which corresponded to the breast of 0.5 IC and 15 nm responsed with Penesitian dimensions as the figure of the SL 5 dimeter Sole of the Schemer Sole of the second seco



 $F_{0,1}(\theta)$ besites a stability metabolic $P_{0,1}(\theta)$ and rates and inclusion of the stability stability of the stability of

We consider that there are two physical enforts that could take show in the physical enfort semicor of these inputs we connected [a] as this profile. Uptoff for a first on the field, (as PVPS(hy, r)) in the face way further. Passion for small region (1.379)

This journels O'T is found Exclusion Chambery 2008.

of the Aux-Ps, and (b) a change of the scourting mechanisms of the primory light (lower are not of excitotion) on the courted set can be

"It case, are inverted to each a common due to the SPR could he associable due to slowing the set a scient bandwidth of the SiQUs is wide eabryth to allow the corpling in a culturation. limited were as the one described by Kress of all?" Phile diffraction-limited combing (Built has reported that a photon or exciten dipole coming from semiconductor non-popystals with different sives, pay difference mergies) contour ple to the food elempic field a monoling the shield gift more particles. The q the integrated structure will not only cast photons but also suitate plasmon polatizons (SSPs' giving place to some little amonat of the poservet, inhancement. This type of coupling also explains in some extent the slight resolutio observed, item, the complex structures However, it is not possible to attribute the whole enhancement to the L9KP coupling, because just one s and SQEs recorded and a EMIS oper place sign an t de .) is located at tracter cas acistan refregenciaer 部中。

The other amount of the operators embaneously (and the bigger one) could be attributed to the speech APAPE beneath the EMBS layer in which EQUS are contained. In the high configuration the multilayer structure will enably the manner of an 0 of g and interfactors which provery light (To C1 and

ACCUAN, 2008 6 C2025 02020 02020

Рар-ч

PT Steance

325 and and this site. Bits the results for the reforming the set of the photon does by absorbed by SIODs layer.

to is increase a mass of out down instantial and experimental variable variable are modely to decoming and experiments of the observation of the observation of the observation processing of each one. However, if our entert via spatial condition on a size your another the variable setward without any decomposition of the observation of

Conclusions

In this paper we cannot a normal that for that form of a generalized complete structure which exhibited a FL intestated enhancement of 105%. Proof slages were carted out for its monoflex and it sign after ther folls, design of gold normaparticles and coupling between balas.

In the suggestion of the against concerning ender of the pieceway based on the the the measurements PL based between the definition of the sum of the sum of the time section as given of gold measurement of the pieceway of the time section of the way of the super-

In tole nanoparticles design state, we consider the convenience of signal converticle hermitist in present mass short and findes the bound and therefore, just out over of the second message and particles are player a angle for regarding position of the second ends.

In this stage we cause show a 17 nm layer at subject withdegen in the most interpret of the mean res. We have that have may be two combined physics, effects responsible of the cohereneous a (v) the 1990 different in the coheren ling with 16 a comprete the scattering mechanizate of the physics again.

Our regular showing feasibility to manufacture shows based structures with writerness' hominary are by using thy and the temporature technology such as these used in interesterionic industry.

Acknowledgements

A hard free world if is those twicely the technical solutions in differencely and UV Vielbie spectroscopy from 5. M. Earth Leiner d. V. A. Conserts A. Lenvers they provide the pay- Grant Vierbies. Realing text for 1002 and p^2 - return for each of the Statistic Realing text for 1002 and p^2 - return for each of the Network Realing text for 1002 and p^2 - return for each of the Endeved Realing text for 1002 and p^2 - return for each of the Statistic Realing text for the series of the the text of the point for we Many after Realing the text of the projection and the point for we Many after Realistic text of the text of the point for the Many after Realistic text of the projection and the point for the Many after Realistic text of the projection of the text of the vertex in appendix of the form the Maximum form of the State of a state biology (NeNAC/T Mession) form of the HarD, so and arise biology (SeNAC/T Mession) form by the HarD, so and arise biology (SeNAC/T Mession) form by the HarD, so and projection of the text was provided supportion by the project PALID UNAV 10.1 at MAC.

References

 D. Omisma fr. Burnetos Cali Story Mater. Sal C. 29, 2019, 72, 37-40.

52030 1 AFC A & 23.6 6 93023 93031

- Kingan, J. Maris and S. Sasi fit. Access, 2006, 176 (1052-1003).
- 1 M Michield, 2004016, 1949, 249, 229-210.
- 4 D. J. Louise and L. Ewest, States Periods, Springer Letting a defloring Definition defining, 2004, ed. 8.
- 5.13 Das and A. Samanta, Sign & Sone Obers. Sign., 2017, 17, 3063 ab.C.
- 6 P-W. Kitt, D-D. Char, R.-. Remark S.-J. Fats, Jpp? Pres. 752, 2005, 00, 1231 A.
- 7 R.C. Kim, N.-M. Bark, L.-H. Lum, G. Y. Kring, Y.-W. Ok, T. W. Soing and C. J. Suri, Appl. Phys. Lett. 1994, 151 (1994).
- B.Y. C. Deng, Z. J. and Jonal V. L. J. Gassie (2010), 125, 145 146.
- 9.4. Intern, K. Anley, Y. Isobara, K. Is, Kanashi, J. Fashol, M. Zhill, B. Fazho, S. Bening, and F. Ethole, Actual Juning 4 (1), 23, 0 3-0 4.
- JO ser Redefighter, J. Arwards and J. C. Alenser, F. Exceller, 2014, 1824, 1988 (2030)
- W. Dur, A. Zeng, A. Wen, & Knong, T. Mennin, W. David, Zhukawa, Matha, 2018, 44, 1618–1626.
- 12 IC Symposite Decigi Garda (2015, 158, 11-15)
- 18 E. M. Morroy, Z. Santano, A. Benami, A. Cetta, J. C. Horse, J. Landina, J. Crite-Denderffa, J. Agnila-Metraholer, G. Cameras-Merroy, A. Lover-9-Direct and A. Oliver, J. Neurosci Marchinica, Am. 9, 1, 2004, 2009.
- 14 K. Kemari Dommali, C. Pitet Kuya, J. Rai, F. Mukasi, K. K. Fushini, L. Vijaya Probasil and Physics states, *f. Sppi-Phys.*, 2018, 112, 125318
- [15] J. Siggen, D. Kopagos glen, D. Instances on "Active to Systhe Decomposition Physics Physics 1979, 86, 1481.
- [16] Y. Q. Wang, Y. Z. Wang, L. Cao and Z. K. Cao, Appl. Phys. 697, 1707, 81, 7174.
- J. R. Watters, J. Baliman, A. Dolman, H. Assanci and M. de Dirich, Phys. Rev. Phys. Rev. B Condens. Proceedings, Math., 2016, 27, 345.
- 13 M. Estes et al. Middle: Phys. Rev. Rev. Soc. Meth. Math. Phys., 1997, 31, 14631-14649.
- 19. F. Kumaniw, T. Wassi, a weilt For ship increase (J. Millstein, A. Ship, Y. A. Legenshares and D. Levenis, *Main Solid Veloci,* Artistics, 9, 106 (198).
- 20 A. G. Nassesbouchs, S. Grigoropoulos sur. D. Fatacummou, Appl. 1998, Lett., 1996, 69, 2287–2267.
- *1 1. Secsi L. 101 Nogra, J. Klevaniani C. Iranski C.B. F. Franci, Nation, 2000, 308, 440–144.
- 12 W. L.Ny, K. A. L. Cherger, R. M. Dwillison, & Dobin. In Shear and E. B. Hemoweper, Natary, 2011, 110, 142–194.
- 23 R. S. Che, K. M. Perk, T. Y. Xim, X. H. Kim, C. Y. Sane and J. I. Shim, Phys. Rev. J. 107, 36, 121909.
- 34 J. C. Alonso, E. A. Palgarin, R. M. Montoy, A. Echami, M. Disarros et al. Datis, *View Solid Views*, 2010, 718, USP-3896.
- 25.6 I. Ochebritshen, M. J. & de Rood, J. S. Kirken, I. S. Maxmeriano S. Kamma y Juzza, 3005, 114, 137-114.
- [6] J. F. K. men, D. Par, Rei, N. F. Lee, S and T. A. Assauer, Manual Arth., 3005, 5, 1263–1775.
- ¹⁹ J. S. Kielen, N. S. Fewer, R. A. Alerten, R. Mertens et al. A. Folman, slippi 19(9), 187, 2001, 68, 101119.

This panel 5 Bittle Toys, Society of Charley 30.8